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FormFactor, the FormFactor logo and its producttesdnology names, including ATRE, DC-Boost, MatiMicroSpring, RapidSoak,
SmartMatrix, SMART Matrix 100, TouchMatrix, OneTduycTakumi, TRE, TrueScale and TrueScale Lite, Mfcobe, the MicroProbe logo,
QiLin, Mx-FinePitch, Vx-MP, Vx-RF and Apollo areaemarks or registered trademarks of FormFactor jrthe United States and other
countries. All other trademarks, trade names arisemmarks appearing in this Annual Report on F&B¥K are the property of their respective
owners.

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we rééeFormFactor, Inc. and its consolidated subsiessas "FormFactor," "we," "us,"
and "our". Our fiscal years end on the last Satuiddecember. Our last three fiscal years endeDerember 28, 2013 , December 29, 2012
and December 31, 2011 .




NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements within the meaning of the Se@siExchange Act of 1934 and
the Securities Act of 1933, which are subject $sgiand uncertainties. The forward-looking stateém@rtiude statements concerning, among
other things, our business strategy (includingcipdited trends and developments in, and managepteerd for, our business and the marke
which we operate), financial results, operatingiltss revenues, gross margin, operating expensedygts, projected costs and capital
expenditures, research and development prograes, &ad marketing initiatives and competition. dme cases, you can identify these
statements by forward-looking words, such as "mawpjght,” "will," "could," "should," "expect," "pla," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate,"
"predict," "intend" and "continue," the negativepbural of these words and other comparable tertogyo The forward-looking statements are
based on information available to us as of thadiliate of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and @urent expectations about future events,
which are inherently subject to change and invoisies and uncertainties. You should not place undliance on these forward-looking
statements. We have no obligation to update arlyesfe statements. Actual events or results magrdifaterially from those expressed or
implied by these statements due to various factecjding but not limited to the matters discusbetbw, in the section entitled "Item 1A:
Risk Factors", and elsewhere in this Annual ReporEorm 10-K.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the padtae likely to continue to fluctuate. As a reswie believe you should not rely on
period-to-period comparisons of our financial résals indicators of our future performance. Somta®important factors that could cause out
revenues, operating results and outlook to fluetfiam period-to-period include:

e customer demand for and adoption of our prod
» market and competitive conditions in our industhng semiconductor industry and the economy as de;

e our ability to improve operating efficiency tohaeve operating cash flow break even in the ctitbesiness environment and to
better position our company for long-term, profieagrowth;

» our ability to realize the benefits of certain dedd tax attribute

» the timing and success of new technologies andyetadtroductions by our competitors and by

e our ability to work efficiently with our customeos their qualification of our new technologies gmdducts

» our ability to deliver reliable, costffective products that meet our customers' tegstigirements in a timely mann

e our ability to transition to new product arclaitgres and to bring new products into volume pr¢idnoon time and at acceptable
yields and cost

» our ability to implement measures for enablifficeencies and supporting growth in our desigrplagations, manufacturing and
other operational activities;

e our ability to continue to integrate successfalhd efficiently the operations of Astria Semicoatbr Holdings, Inc., including its
major subsidiary, Micro-Probe Incorporated (togetiéicroProbe");

» the reduction, rescheduling or cancellation of csd® our customet

e our ability to collect accounts receivables owechy customer

* our product and customer sales mix and geograpsatas mix

e areduction in the price or the profitability ofrquroducts

» the timely availability or the cost of componentslanaterials utilized in our produc

e our ability to efficiently optimize manufactugrcapacity and production yields as necessary & metomer demand and ramp
production volume at our manufacturing facilities;

e our ability to protect our intellectual propedgainst third parties and continue our investnrent¢search and development and
design activities;




» any disruption in the operation of our manufactgtiacilities
» the timing of and return on our investments in agske and developme
* macroeconomic events that impact global buyingeinggal and the semiconductor industry in partic@ac

» seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycle:

The impact of one or more of these factors mighseaour operating results to vary widely. If oureeues, operating results or outlook
fall below the expectations of market analystsnwestors, the market price of our common stockatdekline substantially. You should
carefully consider the numerous risks and uncdrtsmlescribed above and in such sections.

PART |
Item 1: Business

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and suppedigion, high performance advanced semiconducademprobe card products and
solutions. We are the largest probe card manufactand semiconductor manufacturers use our wafdrepcards in the semiconductor
manufacturing process to perform sort and teshersemiconductor die, or chips, on a semicondweader. During wafer sort and test, a we
probe card is mounted on a prober and electricalfjnected to a semiconductor tester. The waferegpeabd is used as an interface to connect
electrically with and test individual chips on afera Using our wafer probe cards to test at thagstof the manufacturing process, our
customers can reduce their cost of test by idéntifdefective chips prior to incurring the time arwbts of packaging defective chips. We worl
closely with our customers on product design, ah @aafer probe card is a custom product that isiipeo the chip and wafer designs of the
customer.

We were incorporated in 1993 and we introducedficstrwafer probe card based on our MicroSpring@iiaonnect technology in 1995.
Historically, sales for wafer probe cards for tegtDynamic Random Access Memory, or DRAM, devicagehmade up the majority of our
revenues. In October 2012, we completed the a¢muisdif Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., incing its subsidiary Micro-Probe
Incorporated (together "MicroProbe"). The majonfyMicroProbe's revenue is made up of sales of mafebe cards for testing System-on-
Chip, or SoC devices.

Our business is generally subject to the cycligalftthe semiconductor industry. In fiscal 2008thgh 2012, our financial performance
was negatively impacted not only by semiconductdustry specific events, but also by global maaronomic issues and by product transi
and other business execution challenges. In f2@@8, our revenue declined 55% from our fiscal 2@¥&nue level, as the global economic
crisis was accompanied by a collapse in demandeiriconductor chips in general, and for DRAM chippatrticular. In fiscal 2009, we were
late in our development and introduction of a cotitipe next-generation wafer probe card for memaeyices and our revenue declined 36%
from our fiscal 2008 revenue level. These dramraienue drops were accompanied by gross margitealgak resulting in operating losses in
both fiscal 2008 and 2009. In fiscal 2010, our raeincreased by 39% over fiscal 2009, but wasghgrdtampened by the unanticipated
length of the evaluation and qualification of ouat¥ix architecturédsdased wafer probe cards at one of our customeishwiegatively impacte
demand and revenues from our DRAM and Flash menvafgr probe cards. We also realized an operatisgilofiscal 2010, during which ¢
revenues for certain products were also impactgfsgiantly by the pricing practices and activitiefsa competitor.

In fiscal 2011, total sales for the global semiagetdr market were relatively unchanged compare&2Di®. The moderate growth in St
and NAND Flash devices was offset by substantidlicéons in DRAM and NOR Flash devices. The DRAM &0OR weakening was severe
in the second half of 2011 due to the impact ofiléhd flooding on personal computer output andrsglprice erosion for DRAM
semiconductor devices. In fiscal 2012, demand f@RADI devices experienced a continued weakeningijquéatly in the second half of the
year, due to lower personal computer demand atidgalemiconductor prices. Our sales declined 18%stal 2011 compared to fiscal 20:
and declined 6% in fiscal 2012 compared to fis€dl12 excluding the impact of the MicroProbe acdigisi Our sales increased 30% in fiscal
2013 compared to fiscal 2012 primarily due to thierbprobe acquisition. We incurred operating losedscal 2013, 2012 and 2011.

We acquired MicroProbe in fiscal 2012 to betterradd the changing semiconductor device demandrdbiyehe computing industry
moving from a personal computer focus to a moreila@omputing focus. SoC devices include micropssoes, graphic processors, mobile
radio frequency or RF, and analog and mixed-signaducts - important drivers of today's sophisgdammulti-functional consumer mobile
devices. The acquisition of MicroProbe enablesous\verage the combination of two advanced wafeb@rcard manufacturers and expand ou
SoC product portfolio to diversify our business.




We can now assist semiconductor manufacturersmging new generations of SoC devices to markeefamd more economically.

Since our acquisition of MicroProbe, we have beerking as a single worldwide organization to conebiur capabilities in
technologies. The acquisition created the largesigocard supplier in the semiconductor industgm@ined we believe we have the broadest
portfolio of products and the largest customeriserand support organization in the industry.

Products

Our products are based on our proprietary techimedpgcluding our MicroSpring interconnect tectowl, our matrix product
architecture and our design tools. Our MicroSpiimgrconnect technology, which includes resiligmirsg-like contact elements, enables us to
produce wafer probe cards for applications thatiregeliability, speed, precision and signal imtsg Manufactured through precision micro-
machining and scalable semiconductor-like waferialhion processes, our MicroSpring contacts arimgp that optimize the relative amounts
of force on, and across, a bond pad during theptesess and maintain their shape and position @vange of compression. These
characteristics allow us to achieve reliable, eleak contact on either clean or oxidized surfageduding bond pads on a wafer. Our wafer
probe cards can make hundreds of thousands ofdouats with minimal maintenance for many device mgilons. Our MicroSpring contacts
include geometrically precise tip structures. Thgsstructures enable precise contact with smatidopad sizes and pitches. Our technology
allows for the design of specific spring and contgzgeometries that deliver precise and predietetectrical contact for a customer's
particular application.

Our wafer probe cards are custom designed for astomers' unique wafer designs. For high paraffelisemory test applications, our
products must accommodate tens of thousands oftsine@us contacts between our MicroSpring contautisthe chip bond pads on the wafer.
Our current technology, including our proprietadvanced tester resource enhancement, or ATRE tkxxhyy@®nables probe cards for certain
applications to be populated with over 75,000 cotsteaOur technology addresses fundamental wafechedienges, including the planarity of
the array, the force needed to make contact andeteé to touch all bond pads with equal accuraay h&ve developed wafer probe cards that
use array sizes ranging from 23 mm by 23 mm upryasizes suitable for contacting all die on a 80@ wafer simultaneously.

We have invested and intend to continue to invessicerable resources in our wafer probe card desigls and processes. These tools
and processes enable automated routing and tnagth ladjustment within our complex multi-layer ped circuit boards and greatly enhance
our ability to rapidly design and lay out compleainped circuit board structures. Our proprietargida tools also enable us to design wafer
probe cards particularly suited for testing tod#ywe voltage, high power chips, which require simepower supply performance and are usec
to provide a very low inductance, low resistan@etical path between the power source and thewider test.

Some of our customers test certain chips overgeleange of operating temperatures, as opposezhthucting wafer test at one
predetermined temperature. We select our wafergocabd materials after careful consideration ofpibintial range of test operating
temperatures and design our wafer probe cardsotode for a precise match with the thermal expamstwaracteristics of the wafer under test.
As a result, our customers can use the same FotorReafer probe card for both low and high tempametesting without a loss of
performance. In addition, for test situations fdrieh a customer requires positional accuracy aeaific temperature, we have designed wafe
probe cards optimized for testing at such tempegatu

We are continually improving our proprietary teclugies and design capabilities to respond to ostaruers' increasing requirement:
test smaller, faster and more complex semicondwtgeices. Our Matrix product architecture enabdss of these leading devices with
increasing parallelism. For example, our Matrixdgarots can test up to 1,100 devices on a NAND Riesdfler, 3,100 devices on a NOR Flash
wafer and will be able to test up to 1,450 devimes DRAM wafer. We continue to invest in reseant development activities around our
interconnect technologies, including our microalettechanical systems, or MEMS technology, as owrd8pring contacts need to scale in
size with the continuing evolution of semicondustor

With the acquisition of MicroProbe, we deliver atewf advanced vertical or flip chip (area arrpyducts including vertical MEMS,
Cobra-style vertical and Spring-pin vertical praiaeds, and cantilever probe cards. Our verticallpets are primarily used to probe SoC chips
with advanced packages in grid-array layout. Exa®pff such advanced packages include Wafer-Levakaging (WLP), flipehip and coppe
pillar packaging technologies. These technologaestdiverse wafer test requirements. To addrese ttest requirements, we offer a wide
range of propriety probe designs and metallurgycd® individually optimized for the customers'ifie test requirements and applications.
Our cantilever products are primarily used to prpbepheral-layout pads on wire-bonded SoC chips.
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Our products help our customers to increase watthroughputs and achieve optimal test yieldoligh on-going investments in our
technology, we scale our products to meet custdritse technical roadmap requirements for peréorae and geometry shrinks. Our high-
precision vertical MEMS probe technology enablesrthcessary pitch shrinks to achieve sub-80nmagraly layouts.

Customers

Our customers include semiconductor chip manufacsun the DRAM, Flash and SoC markets. Our custemse our wafer probe
cards to test DRAM chips, including LPDDR2, LPDDRPDDR4, DDR, DDR2, DDR3, DDR4, SDRAM, PSRAM, andaphic DRAM,;
NOR, PCM and NAND flash memory chips; and SoC desjéncluding serial data devices, chipsets, microgssors, microcontrollers, grap
processors, mobile RF, analog and mixed-signalcgsvi

Three customers accounted for 45.9% of our revemuiescal 2013 , three customers accounted fot%@bof our revenues in fiscal 2012
and three customers accounted for 47.2% of ounreain fiscal 2011 , as follows:

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Intel 17.1% * 00 * 00
SK hynix 16.5 29.4 16.Z
Micron (1) 117 13.2 19.7
Samsung * 12.£ 11.2
Total 45.9% 55.1% 47.2%

* Less than 10% of revenu

(1) Includes Elpida Memory Inc. and its consolidiseibsidiary Rexchip Electronics Corporation. ItyR2013, Micron Technology,
Inc. completed its acquisition of Elpida Memory¢In

The percentages above reflect customers and thesotidated subsidiaries as of December 28, 2@t®r period consolidated
subsidiaries have been updated to reflect the muctestomer compositions.

Information concerning revenue by geographic regiod by country based upon ship to location appgadsr "ltem 7: Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations - Revenues - Revenues byr@gloig Region" and Note 15 -
Operating Segments and Geographic Informationef\thtes to our Consolidated Financial Statemertig;iware included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Backlog

Our backlog was $25.0 million at December 28, 26d®pared to $27.0 million at December 29, 20¥2 manufacture our wafer prc
cards based on order backlog and customer comnign®acklog includes only orders with written authations and shipment dates within
12 months. Backlog also includes revenue for eagstiroduct service agreements to be earned witleiméxt 12 months. Customers may dela
delivery of products or cancel orders prior to siémt, subject to possible cancellation penaltieg @ possible changes in delivery schedules
and cancellations of orders, our backlog on antiqaar date is not necessarily indicative of attades for any succeeding period. Delays in
delivery schedules and/or a reduction in backlagnduany particular period could have a materialeade effect on our business and results o
operations.

Manufacturing

Our wafer probe cards are custom products thatesggyd and manufacture to order for our customeigue wafer designs and wafer
test strategies. Our proprietary manufacturing @sses can generally be divided into a front-endge®, which, depending upon the specific
product, may include wire bonding, photolithograpphating and metallurgical processes, dry andtedeteposition, pick and place assembly
and complex interconnection system design, anctk-bad process, which includes assembly and tést chitical steps in our manufacturing
process are performed in a Class 100 clean roommogmvent.

We depend upon suppliers for some critical comptsnehour manufacturing processes, including cecasubstrates and complex
printed circuit boards, and for materials usedunmanufacturing processes. We also rely on suggpiceprovide certain contacts and
interconnects incorporated into our products. Sofrteese components and materials are suppliedsiygée vendor, and some are subject to
certain minimum order quantities. Generally, wg @ purchase orders rather than long-term corstraith our suppliers, which subjects us to
risks, including price increases, manufacturingacéty issues and component shortages. We continerealuate alternative sources of supply
for these components and materials.






Our primary manufacturing facilities are located.imermore, San Jose and Carlsbad, California,édh@&tates. We also perform certain
probe card manufacturing operations in our facititpsuzhou, China and Yokohama, Japan.

We maintain repair and service capabilities in birere, San Jose, and Carlsbad, California, UnitateS; Austin, Texas, United States;
Dresden, Germany; Gyeonggi-do, South Korea; Yokah@ity and Hiroshima, Japan; Suzhou, China; Hsingaiwan; and Singapore.

Research, Development and Engineering

The semiconductor industry is subject to rapid nedbgical change and new product introductionsemtthncements. We believe that
our continued commitment to research and developarhour timely introduction of new and enhancedewrprobe test solutions and
technologies related to our products are integrahdintaining our competitive position. We contiriaallocate significant resources to these
efforts and to use automation and information tetdgy to provide additional efficiencies in our easch and development activities.

Research and development expenses were $42.1mfdlidiscal 2013 , $40.1 million for fiscal 2018c&$43.5 million for fiscal 2011 .
Sales and Marketing

We sell our products utilizing a sales model thapbkasizes the customer's total cost of ownershipraktes to the costs of test. With
this sales model, we strive to demonstrate howctests can be reduced by simulating the custorest$loor environment, including testers
and probers, utilizing our products and comparivgdverall cost of test to that of conventional aodhpetitive wafer probe cards.

We sell our products worldwide primarily througle@mbination of a global direct sales force, indejeen sales representatives and
distributors.

Our sales and marketing staff, located in the Wn8&ates, China, Germany, Italy, Japan, SingaSweth Korea, and Taiwan, work
closely with customers to understand their busiegssnticipate trends and define products thatprilVide significant technical and economic
advantages to our customers.

We utilize a highly skilled team of field applicati engineers that support our customers as thegrae our products into their
manufacturing processes. Through these custonaiomhips, we develop a close understanding dbmeyr and product requirements,
thereby aligning our products with our customerstipction ramps.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local fareign governmental laws and regulations regatmthe protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharfpollutants into the air and water, the manag@rnand disposal of hazardous substance
and wastes, the clean-up of contaminated sitestenchaintenance of a safe workplace. We believevthacomply in all material respects with
the environmental laws and regulations that applys, including those of the California Departmefnt oxic Substances Control, the Bay A
Air Quality Management District, the City of Livenre Water Resources Division, County of Santa (epartment of Environmental Hea
County of San Diego Hazardous Materials Divisiod &mcino Water District, and the California Divisiof Occupational Safety and Health.
We did not receive any notices of violations of ieowmental laws and regulations in fiscal 201312@r 2011 . No provision has been made
for loss from environmental remediation liabiliti@ssociated with our facilities because we belteag it is not probable that a liability has b
incurred as of December 28, 2013 .

We believe we are in compliance in all materiapezds with the environmental laws and regulatidwas &pply to us. In the future, we
may receive environmental violation notices, amalfresolution of the violations could harm our Gti®ns and adversely impact our operating
results and cash flows. New laws and regulatiomgraled enforcement practices around existing laisegulations, discovery of previously
unknown contamination at our or others' sites erithposition of new cleanup requirements could hksen our operations.

We are also subject to new SEC rules that will meqdiligence, disclosure and reporting on whettetain minerals and metals, known
as conflict minerals, used in our products origegnfadm the Democratic Republic of Congo and adj@rgountries. We have implemented a
program to comply with these new rules, which cadgersely affect the sourcing, availability anitipg of minerals we use in our products.
We will not only incur costs in relation to our cptiance with disclosure requirements, but may édse difficulties in satisfying customers
who require that all of our products are certifeedconflict mineral free.






Competition

The highly competitive wafer probe card market caegs many domestic and foreign companies, andhistsrically been fragmented
with many local suppliers servicing individual custers. Our current and potential competitors irvtéer probe card market include
Advantest Corporation, AMST Co., Ltd., BucklingBe&ulutions, Cascade Microtech, Inc., Feinmetall Glini§orea Instrument Co., Ltd.,
Japan Electronic Materials Corporation, SV Prohe,,IMicronics Japan Co., Ltd., Microfriend Incquibrain Engineering, Technoprobe,

TSE Co., Ltd., Wentworth Laboratories, Inc., andlWeéchnology Co., Ltd, among others. In additiorthe ability to address wafer probe carc
performance issues, the primary competitive fadtothe industry in which we compete include pradmyeality and reliability, price, total cost
of ownership, lead times, service, field applicaticupport and timeliness of delivery.

Some of our competitors are also suppliers of diyyees of test equipment or other semiconductoipegent and may have greater
financial and other resources than we do. We expetiour competitors will enhance their currenfexg@robe products and that they may
introduce new products that will be competitivehwdtur wafer probe cards. In addition, it is possitiiat new competitors, including test
equipment manufacturers, may offer new technoloiiasreduce the value of our wafer probe cards.

Additionally, semiconductor manufacturers may inmpdmt chip designs that include built-in self-testBIST, capabilities or similar
functions or methodologies that increase test tjinput and eliminate some or all of our current cetitipe advantages. Our ability to compete
favorably may also be adversely affected by (1agein qualification of our new products, (2) loslwme orders that do not meet our present
minimum volume requirements, (3) very short cyaieetrequirements, (4) long-standing relationshigsveen our competitors and certain
semiconductor manufacturers and (5) semiconducémufiacturer test strategies that include low peréorce semiconductor testers and less
complex wafer probe cards.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability tdilcoe to innovate and invest in research and dewedmt to meet the semiconductor
testing requirements of our customers, to mairdaih protect our proprietary technology and to cahdur business without infringing on the
proprietary rights of others. We rely on a combimabf patents, trade secrets, trademarks andaainal restrictions on disclosure to protect
our intellectual property rights.

As of December 28, 2013 , we had 668 issued patefiehich 446 are United States patents and 222aaeign patents. The expiration
dates of these patents range from 2013 to 2@ issued patents cover many of the featuresiointerconnect technology, as well as son
our inventions related to wafer probe cards aniihigswafer-level packaging and test, sockets asgémblies and chips. In addition, as of
December 28, 2013 , we had 266 patent applicafiending worldwide, including 48 United States agagtiions, 212 foreign national or
regional stage applications and 6 Patent Cooperatieaty applications. We cannot provide any assugrdhat our current patent applications,
or any future patent applications that we may filél, result in a patent being issued with the szop the claims we seek, or at all, or whether
any patents that we may obtain will not be chalézhgr invalidated. Even if additional patents asaed, our patents might not provide
sufficiently broad coverage to protect our prognigtrights or to avoid a third party claim agaiose or more of our products or technologies.

We have both registered and unregistered trademadtading FormFactor, ATRE, DC-Boost, Matrix, MdSpring, RapidSoak,
SmartMatrix, SmartMatrix 100, TouchMatrix, OneToudlakumi, TRE, TrueScale, TrueScale Lite, the Fantér logo, MicroProbe, the
MicroProbe logo, QiLin, Mx-FinePitch, Vx-MP, Vx-R&nd Apollo.

We routinely require our employees, customers, engpand potential business partners to enterdatdidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements before we disclose to them any sensitipeoprietary information regarding our produt¢éghnology or business plans. We req
our employees to assign to us proprietary inforamtinventions and other intellectual property teesate, modify or improve.

Legal protections afford only limited protectiorr faur proprietary rights. We also may not be susiegsn our efforts to enforce our
proprietary rights. To date, for example, we hagerbunsuccessful in our efforts to enforce cedéiour patent rights and obtain injunctive
relief for violation of those rights in South Koresnd through the U.S. International Trade Commaissdr ITC. Notwithstanding our efforts to
protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized partigay attempt to copy aspects of our products obtain and use information that we regard
as proprietary. From time to time, we have becomara of situations where others are or may beriginig on our proprietary rights. We
evaluate these situations as they arise and eléaké actions against these companies as we dgmopaiate. In response to our actions, and
on occasion without any action on our part, proogegihave been filed in the U.S. Patent and Trade@#éice and patent offices in other
countries, challenging the validity of certain afr @atents. Others might independently developlaimer competing technologies or methods,
design around our patents, or attempt to manufaetnd sell infringing products in countries that do




not strongly enforce intellectual property rightsaddition, leading companies in the semiconduictdustry have extensive patent portfolios
and other intellectual property with respect to memductor technology. In the future, we might iieeeclaims that we are infringing
intellectual property rights of others or that patents or other intellectual property rights anealid. We have received in the past, and may
receive in the future, communications from thirdtigs inquiring about our interest in licensingteér of their intellectual property or more
generally identifying intellectual property that ynlae of interest to us.

We have invested significant time and resourcesiintechnology. As a part of our ongoing effortptotect the intellectual property,
have filed actions to enforce our intellectual pdyp rights against infringing third parties andynpairsue such actions in the future.

For a description of the material patent-relatastpedings in which we are involved, see "ltem 3jdld’roceedings".

Employees

As of December 28, 2013 , we had 961 regular fuletemployees, including 210 in research and deveémt, 116 in sales and
marketing, 75 in general and administrative funtdicand 560 in operations. By region, 685 of ouplegees were in North America, 75 in
Singapore, 78 in China, 34 in Japan, 47 in Soutte&035 in Taiwan, and 7 in Europe. No employeesarrently covered by a collective
bargaining agreement. We believe that our relatwitts our employees are good.

Available Information

We maintain a website http://www.formfactor.comWe make available free of charge on our website®mnual Reports on Form 10-
K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reportd=orm 8-K and amendments to those reports fitddroished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonahbbticable after we electronically file such metlewith, or furnish it to, the United State
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Tleeaefe to our website does not constitute incotjporéy reference of the information
contained at the site.

The public may also read and copy any materiakswiedile with the SEC at the SEC's Public RefeeeRoom at 100 F Street N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the Public ReferencerRby calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet websitedbntains reports and other information regariisgers, such as FormFactor, that file
electronically with the SEC. The SEC's Internet sitebis located atttp://www.sec.gov

Directors and Executive Officers

Directors. The names of the members of our board of directheir ages as of December 28, 2013 and theiemioccupations are set
forth below.

Name of Director Age Current Occupation

Edward Rogas, Jr. 73 Director of Vitesse Semiconductor Corporation angnéni
Technologies Pvt Ltd

G. Carl Everett, Jr.(1) 63 Venture Partner at Accel LLP

Lothar Maier 58 Chief Executive Officer and Director of Linear Tecthogy
Corporation

Michael D. Slessor 44 President and Director of FormFactor, Inc.

Michael W. Zellner 58 Director of FormFactor, Inc., Vice President andeth
Financial Officer of Cyan Inc.

Richard DelLateur 55 Director of FormFactor, Inc.

Thomas St. Dennis 60 Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman of
FormFactor, Inc.

(1) Mr. Everett has stated his intention to not seektan as a director at our 2014 Annual Meetin&tickholder:

G. Carl Everett, Jrhas served as a Director since June 2001, as @im@mn from December 2010 to October 2013, as eadL
Independent Director since October 2013, and seasanlir interim Chief Executive Officer from May1ZDto September 2010, as well as our
Executive Chairman from September 2010 to Decer2d#0. Mr. Everett founded GCE Ventures, a ventdrgsgment firm, in April 2001.

Mr. Everett has served as a venture partner atlAd¢d® a venture capital firm, since 2002. From Feyy 1998 to April 2001, Mr. Everett
served as Senior Vice President, Personal Systemg@®@f Dell, Inc. During 1997, Mr. Everett was apersonal sabbatical. From 1978 to
December 1996, Mr. Everett held several managepusitions with Intel Corporation, including Senlice President and General Manage
the Microprocessor






Products Group, and Senior Vice President and GéNanager of the Desktop Products Group. Mr. Bvergrently serves on the board of
directors of three privately held companies. Mregeit holds a B.A. in business administration amth@norary Doctorate of Laws from New
Mexico State University.

Lothar Maierhas served as a Director since November 2006. Mieivhas served as the Chief Executive Officerantember of the
board of directors of Linear Technology Corporatidiasdaqg: LLTC), a supplier of high performancelagantegrated circuits since January
2005. Prior to that, Mr. Maier served as Linearhredogy's Chief Operating Officer from April 1999 December 2004. Before joining Linear
Technology, Mr. Maier held various management jpmsitat Cypress Semiconductor Corporation, a pesvid high-performance, mixed-
signal, programmable solutions, from 1983 to 1988st recently as Senior Vice President and Exeeice President of Worldwide
Operations. Mr. Maier holds a B.S. in chemical eegring from the University of California at Ber&g!

Thomas St. Dennlsas served as our Chief Executive Officer and adar since September 2010, when he joined our aognpnd as
our Executive Chairman of the Board of Directoreesi October 23, 2013. Mr. St. Dennis previouslylharious positions at Applied
Materials, Inc. from 1992 to 1999 and again frord2@ 2009. His most recent role at Applied Matsrinc. was Senior Vice President and
General Manager of the Silicon Systems Group. lde abrked at Novellus Systems, Inc. as ExecutiveeAresident of Sales and Marketing
from 2003 to 2005. From 1999 to 2003 Mr. St. Denvas President and CEO of Wind River Systems,Mrc.St. Dennis holds a B.S. in
Physics and a M.S. in Physics, both from UCLA.

Mike Slessorhas served as President and a Director since Qc&68. Prior to this, Mr. Slessor served as tha@e/ice President ar
General Manager, MicroProbe Product Group from B&t@012 to October 2013. Before joining FormFadterwas President and Chief
Executive Officer of MicroProbe from July 2008 thgh the October 2012 closing of FormFactor's adtiprisof MicroProbe. Prior to joining
MicroProbe, he held various management, producketiang, and applications-engineering positionshim $emiconductor industry, most
notably with KLA-Tencor, where he led marketing and applicationstfercompany's fastest growing division. Mr. Slessceived his Ph.D.
Aeronautics and Physics from the California Institof Technology and his B.A.Sc. in Engineering $ity from the University of British
Columbia.

Edward Rogas, Jrhas served as a Director since October 2010. BlgaR currently serves as a Director on the boaxttesse
Semiconductor Corporation. Mr. Rogas served asecRir of Vignani Technologies Pvt Ltd until Febip@014 and Photon Dynamics, Inc.,
from May 2006 to October 2008. Mr. Rogas held manaant positions at Teradyne, Inc. for over 30 ydacduding serving as Senior Vice
President from 2000 through 2005. Mr. Rogas hotdsia.A. degree from Harvard Business School aBdS from the United States Naval
Academy.

Michael W. Zellnerhas served as a Director since April 2011. Mr.z&llis currently Vice President and Chief FinanGéficer of
Cyan, Inc. (NYSE: CYNI), a position he has heldcsitMarch 2013. He was Vice President, Finance dref Einancial Officer of PMCSierra
Inc. (Nasdaq: PMCS) from March 2007 to November2@®rior to joining PMC-Sierra, Mr. Zellner was S&rVice President of Finance and
Administration and Chief Financial Officer at WiRidver Systems, Inc., a device software solutiomwidier to the electronics industry. Mr.
Zellner attended the Stanford Executive Prograthettanford Graduate School of Business as wélileaMBA and BBA accounting progre
at Florida Atlantic University.

Richard DeLateuhas served as a Director since May 2011. Mr. Delragerved as Chief Financial Officer of FormFactoc, from
May 2010 to May 2011. Mr. DeLateur is a 20-yeaevan of Intel's finance team, where he held varpmsstions, including the role of Vice
President and Group Controller of Worldwide Teclggland Manufacturing. Mr. DeLateur more recendlgved as Chief Financial Officer at
the private companies Fluidigm Corporation and Tro@orporation. Mr. DeLateur had also served asradior at Numonyx Corp., a leading
manufacturer of Flash memory, which is now pamidron Technology, Inc. Mr. DeLateur holds a B.A.Economics from the University of
California, Davis and was awarded his Chartereairal Analyst (CFA) certification in 1999.

Executive OfficersOur executive officers, their ages and their posgiwith our company as of December 28, 2013 arfogh below.

Name Age Position

Thomas St. Dennis 60 Chief Executive Officer

Michael M. Ludwig 52 Chief Financial Officer

Michael D. Slessor 44 President

Stuart L. Merkadeau 52 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segretar

Michael M. Ludwidhas served as our Chief Financial Officer since @¥1. Mr. Ludwig has also served as our Vice Eerdi Financ
from December 2009 to May 2011, was a consultanutaccompany from February 2009 to December
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2009, and served as our Vice President and Com@uartroller from April 2001 to April 2007. Mr. Lwdg has also held senior level finance
and accounting positions at Force 10 Networks, bndivision of Dell Inc., that builds and secunégh performance networks, and at divisions
of Tyco Electronics and Beckman Coulter. Mr. Ludwiglds a B.S. in accounting from California StatdyRechnic University, Pomona.

Stuart L. Merkadeahas served as one of our Senior Vice Presidents €hctober 2003 and as our General Counsel anét&scsince
October 2002. Mr. Merkadeau previously served @&sajrour Vice Presidents from October 2002 to Saptr 2003, and as our Vice Presiden
of Intellectual Property from July 2000 to Octo2€02. From 1990 to July 2000, Mr. Merkadeau practiaw as an associate and then a
partner with Graham & James LLP, where he speeidlim licensing and strategic counseling in intglial property matters. Mr. Merkadeau is
admitted to practice in California and registeregtactice before the U.S. Patent and Trademarik@®fir. Merkadeau holds a B.S. in
industrial engineering from Northwestern Universatyd a J.D. from the University of California atsLAngeles.

ltem 1A: Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this AnndRéport on Form 10-K, you should carefully consither risk factors discussed in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K in evaluating FormFaetod our business. If any of the identified riskgially occur, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be mallgradversely affected. The trading price of oamenon stock could decline and you may
lose all or part of your investment in our commawck. The risks and uncertainties described inAmisual Report on Form 10-K are not the
only ones we face. Additional risks that we curiyedb not know about or that we currently beliewde immaterial may also impair our
business operations.

We have incurred significant costs related to owcaisition of Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Incincluding its subsidiary MicroProbe,
Inc., and the acquisition may not be successt

On October 16, 2012, we completed our acquisitioAstria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., including ihajor subsidiary Micro-Probe
Incorporated, which is our most substantial actjoisito date (the "MicroProbe Acquisition™). Seetdl@ to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Repoform 10K for a more complete description of the MicroPr&tjuisition. MicroProb
transitioned from being a standalone privately-togighoration to a wholly-owned subsidiary of a peilsbmpany. This combination entailed
many changes, including the integration of Micrdiraits personnel and its systems with those afFaictor. These transition activities were
complex and we incurred significant costs relatethe MicroProbe Acquisition, and the commercial &inancial success of the MicroProbe
Acquisition is subject to many risks as set forghol:

 We may fail to realize synergies that we anticigdtem the combination of the two compan
 We may fail to retain key MicroProbe executives antployees, which could reduce the likelihood afcass of the acquisitic

» The combination of the two companies may noitvéelto our customers the benefits that we havieigated, including a broader
range of products, improved product service angstmnd enhanced R&D programs, and our customaysreduce their aggregate
spending on MicroProbe and/or FormFactor products;

* We may assume unforeseen legal, regulatory, ictelé property or other liabilitie

*  We will have less cash available for other purppsesuding other acquisitions of technologies asinesse

If any of these factors impairs our ability to igtate our operations with those of MicroProbe'seasfully or on a timely basis, we may
not be able to realize the anticipated synergiesiness opportunities and growth prospects frombdoimg the businesses. In addition, we may
be required to spend additional time or money oegration that otherwise would be spent on the ldgweent and expansion of our business.

In addition, the market price of our common stockyrdecline if the integration of the businesseBa@imFactor and MicroProbe fails to
achieve financial benefits to the extent anticigdig financial analysts or investors, or the effefathe business combination on the financial
results of the combined company is otherwise nosistent with the expectations of financial anaystinvestors.

We may make additional acquisitions and investmenthich could put a strain on our resources, causenership dilution to our
stockholders and adversely affect our financial tdts.
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Integrating newly acquired businesses, productsaimologies into our company could put a straimenresources, could be expensive
and time consuming, may cause delays in produtatgland might not be successful. Future acqoisitiand investments could divert
management's attention from other business conesthexpose our business to unforeseen liabilitiesks associated with entering new
markets. In addition, we might lose key employe&denintegrating new organizations. We might noshecessful in integrating any acquired
businesses, products or technologies, and mighacioeve anticipated revenues and cost benefitestments that we make may not result in .
return consistent with our projections upon whiagbtsinvestments are made, or may require additionaktment that we did not originally
anticipate. In addition, future acquisitions corggult in customer dissatisfaction, performancél@ms with an acquired company, potentially
dilutive issuances of equity securities or the inence of debt, contingent liabilities, possiblgairment charges related to goodwill or other
intangible assets or other unanticipated eventroumstances, any of which could harm our business

If goodwill or other intangible assets that we recbin connection with the MicroProbe Acquisition lseme impaired, we could be requir
to take significant charges against earnings.

In connection with the accounting for the MicroPeokcquisition, we have recorded a significant amiaimgoodwill and other
intangible assets. Under U.S. generally accepteduwsting principles, or GAAP, we must assess,adtlannually and potentially more
frequently, whether the value of goodwill and othmetefinite-lived intangible assets have been imgghiFinite-lived intangible assets will be
assessed for impairment in the event of an impaitrimglicator. Any reduction or impairment of thdwea of goodwill or other intangible assets
will result in a charge against earnings, whichldaenaterially adversely affect our results of opieras and stockholders' equity in future
periods.

Our delay in qualifying our next generation produgtat certain of our customers could result in highéevelopment costs and loss of market
share at those customers, which could negativelpauat our business and financial result

We may suffer from delays in qualifying our ngdneration products at our customers. In fiscall20& engaged with certain custom
on a next-generation, or evolution, of our SmartMairoduct which enables greater parallelism, alsg with a SoC customer on a next-
generation vertical probe technology. In the fipgarter of our fiscal 2013, we announced that vepended development activities specific to
our next generation Matrix platform and would cditkte our technologies and development to extBedccaipabilities of the current Matrix
platform. If this consolidation does not extend tlapabilities of our products as anticipated, wg toae sales and our financial results will be
negatively impacted. In 2013, we also scaled bacletforts on our next-generation vertical probehtelogy. In 2013, we increased our
activities and spending on the development of a N&MD Flash wafer probe card architecture and fengagements with two customers to
deliver products based on the new architectuneelfio not successfully develop and deliver producévaluation probe cards for these two
customers, and if these or other customers doumlifg the product and purchase the product for NDANash wafer test, it could negatively
impact our revenues and margins and harm our basine

Periodic global economic and semiconductor industtgwnturns could continue to negatively affect ohusiness, results of operations, ai
financial condition.

The recent and historical global economic and senauactor industry downturns negatively affected aodld continue to negatively
affect our business, results of operations andhiire condition. We may experience continued dedim demand for our probe cards resulting
from our customers continuing to conserve cashutyng production, postponing the implementationiaafling cycles and delaying the ramp
of new technology nodes in response to slow derfancbnsumer and other products incorporating desvtested with our wafer probe cards.
We may experience continued pricing pressure diaiceof our products, which may reduce our grossgima. A protracted downturn could
cause additional customers to file for bankruptetgction as occurred in 2009 with our customemnSipn and Qimonda, and in 2012 with
our customer Elpida, resulting in our loss of raxerin the past environment, customers were seaktended payment terms or delaying
payment for our products past their original duteslawhich could impact their payment historiesittésy in our deferral of revenue and which
could increase our potential bad debt exposure.

We may also experience the insolvency of key sepglieading to delays in the development and shiyprof our products, increased
expense and loss of revenue. In addition, we mpgrgance increased impairment charges due to @scimthe fair values of marketable debt
securities, or charges based upon underutilizatiaur factory.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenuestta small number of customers, and we could congnie experience significant declines
in our revenues if any major customer cancels, reds, delays a purchase of, or does not place aqmtejd order for our products, or does
not pay us, or delays or extends payment for ounghucts past their original due dates.

A relatively small number of customers have accedfibr a significant portion of our revenues in gayticular period. Threeustomers
represented 46% of total revenues in fiscal 2GhBe customers represented 55% of total revemuiescal
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2012 and three customers represented 47% of eatahues in fiscal 2011 . In fiscal 2013 , 2012 2081 , our ten largest customers accounte
for 75% , 80% and 82% of our revenues, respectiwly anticipate that sales of our products to atiredly small number of customers will
continue to account for a significant portion of oevenues. Consolidation in the semiconductor sihigumay increase this concentration. As a
result of the global economic and semiconductoustiy downturns, we have experienced significactides in our revenues. In the future,
cancellation, reduction or deferral of even a smathber of purchases of our products could sigamifily reduce our revenues in any particular
period. Cancellations, reductions or deferrals doesult from a delay in the recovery of the seméeector industry, a weaker than anticipated
recovery, another downturn in the semiconductounstiy, or from manufacturing delays, quality ofabllity issues with our products, or from
interruptions to our customers' operations duérég hatural disasters or other events. Furtherpfigeause our probe cards are custom pro
designed for our customers' unique wafer designscancellations, reductions or delays can reauignificant, non-recoverable costs. In
some situations, our customers might be able toetar reduce orders without a significant penalty.

Our customers could also fail to pay all or paraofinvoice for our products. If a customer failpay us or delays payment for our
products, we may be unable to recognize revenudijrancial condition and liquidity could be advelsimpacted and we may incur additio
charges for bad-debt reserve to the extent cevfadnir customers continue to face financial diffi@s during this downturn. It is also possible
that if we make the decision to initiate legal predings against customers to seek payment of adtstareceivables, it will negatively impact
a customer relationship and result in lost revemudise future. As happened with our customer PreMechnologies, customers with financial
difficulties may be forced to materially reducediscontinue operations, file for bankruptcy or etredief, or may be acquired by one of our
other customers, any of which would further redogecustomer base and/or result in the loss ofmess.

The markets in which we participate are competitiaad if we do not compete effectively, our opengtresults could be harmed.

We are experiencing increased competition in thiem@robe card market and we expect competitiantensify in the future. Increased
competition has resulted in, and in the futurékisly to result in, price reductions, reduced gnoesgins or loss of market share. Competitors
might introduce new competitive products for thmeamarkets that our products currently serve. Thesducts may have better performance,
lower prices and/or broader acceptance than owlusts. Competitive products may not have bettefopmiance, lower prices and/or broader
acceptance than our products, but may be able ¢b sherter delivery times required by customersrasdlt in the loss of revenue for us. In
addition, for products such as wafer probe camlsiconductor manufacturers typically qualify mdnart one source to avoid dependence on
single source of supply. As a result, our customersld likely purchase products from our compesit@urrent and potential competitors
include Advantest Corporation, AMST Co., Ltd., BlisgBeam Solutions, Cascade Microtech, Inc., Fetath&mbH, Korea
Instrument Co., Ltd., Japan Electronic Materialspg@oation, SV Probe, Inc., Micronics Japan Co., Wicrofriend Inc., Soulbrain
Engineering, Technoprobe, TSE Co., Ltd., Wentwbaehoratories, Inc., and Will Technology Co., Ltdh@ng others.

Many of our current and potential competitors hgkeater name recognition, larger customer basee egtablished customer
relationships or greater financial, technical, nfanturing, marketing and other resources than weAd@ result, they might be able to responc
more quickly to new or emerging technologies arahges in customer requirements, devote greatenn@soto the development, promotion,
sale and support of their products, and reducegtic increase market share. Some of our competiteo supply other types of test equipmn
Those competitors that offer both advanced wafeb@icards and needle probe cards might have steaigging relationships with our existing
customers or with potential customers. It is pdssibat one or more of our competitors may be &blacrease their sales to with mutual
customers, resulting in a loss of revenue sharadott is further possible that existing or newngeetitors, including test equipment
manufacturers, may offer new technologies thateedhe value of our wafer probe cards.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourampetitors might gain access to our technology, efhtould adversely affect our ability
compete successfully in our markets and harm oueogting results.

If we choose not to protect our proprietary righitgail in our efforts to protect our proprietaights, our competitors might gain access
to our technology. Unauthorized parties might afteta copy aspects of our products or to obtainus®linformation that we regard as
proprietary. Others might independently developilsinor competing technologies or methods or designund our patents. In addition, the
laws of many foreign countries in which we or oustbmers do business do not protect our intellégitogerty rights to the same extent as the
laws of the United States. To date, we have nat Baecessful in our efforts to enforce our propmgtrights and obtain injunctive relief for
violation of those rights in South Korea and in thated States. As a result, our proprietary rigiasld be compromised, our competitors
might offer products similar to ours and we migbt be able to compete successfully. We also caasmire that:

» our means of protecting our proprietary rights Ww#él adequat
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» patents will be issued from our pending or futyspleations

e our existing or future patents will be sufficién scope or strength to provide any meaningfotgetion or commercial advantage to
us;

» our patents or other intellectual property will het invalidated, circumvented or successfully @med in the United States or fore
countries; or

» others will not misappropriate our proprietagglinologies or independently develop similar tetdies, duplicate our products or
design around any of our patents or other intellegbroperty, or attempt to manufacture and séfinging products in countries that
do not strongly enforce intellectual property right

We have spent in the past, and may be requiregetadsin the future, significant resources to marated protect our intellectual
property rights. We presently believe it is liké¢hat several of our competitors are using methaglefoor have implemented structures into
certain of their products that are covered by anmare of our intellectual property rights.

In certain cases, our competitors have initiateex@mination proceedings in the USPTO and invaligdibceedings in foreign patent
offices against certain of our patents. Any litigat whether or not resolved in our favor, and vkeetnitiated by us or by a third party, could
result in significant and possibly material expettsas and divert the efforts of our managementtanlnical personnel. In addition, while
patents are territorial and a ruling on a certaeiy patent does not necessarily impact the vglimlitenforceability of a corresponding or rele
patent in a different country, an adverse rulingrie country might negatively impact our abilityetaforce the corresponding or related patent
in other countries. Certain of our customer corigrgontain provisions that require us to defend@nddemnify our customers for third party
intellectual property infringement claims, whichulg increase the cost to us of an adverse rulirggigh a claim. An adverse determination
could also negatively impact our ability to liceresatain of our technologies and methods to otteard,result in our competitors being allowed
to sell products with, or add to their productstiees and benefits contained in our productsethyereducing our competitive advantages ove
these competing products.

If we do not innovate and keep pace with technolmdidevelopments in the semiconductor industry, guoducts might not be competitiy
and our revenues and operating results could suffer

We must continue to innovate and to invest in neteand development to improve our competitive fomsiand to meet the testing
requirements of our customers. Our future growibedes, in significant part, upon our ability to waffectively with and anticipate the test
needs of our customers and to develop and supparpnoducts and product enhancements to meet tleesks on a timely and cost-effective
basis. Our customers' testing needs are becoming challenging as the semiconductor industry coesrto experience rapid technological
change driven by the demand for complex circuiéé #e shrinking in size, are increasing in speebfanctionality and also becoming less
expensive to produce. Examples of trends drivingated for technological research and developmeiidecsemiconductor manufacturers'
transition to 2x nanometer DRAM technology nodashkland SoC fabrication process nodes, transiidigher gigabit density memory and
lower-power multi-core processors, and rapid adoptif advanced IC packaging types, such as wefatpackaging, Flipchip, Cu Pillar, and
Through-Silicon-Via (TSV) technologies. Our custamexpect that they will be able to integrate oafex probe cards into any manufacturing
process as soon as it is deployed. Therefore, & these expectations and remain competitive, wa pantinually design, develop and
introduce on a timely basis new products and prodobancements with improved features.

We may also work collaboratively with one or mdned parties in the development of new technologies improvements to our
existing technologies. It is possible that thed&@borations may be delayed, or even ultimatelywpronsuccessful, by matters outside of our
control, such as the financial condition of thedtparty. It is possible that our internal devel@mhefforts and engagements with third parties
regarding the development of manufacturing equifrhaming similar functionality may have a lengthgveélopment and ramp up time and
negatively impact our ability to complete new prouand realize revenue from those products.

Successful product design, development and inttimtuon a timely basis require that we:

» design innovative and performaneehancing product architectures, technologies eatiifes that differentiate our products from tl
of our competitors;

e in some cases engage with third parties who paviicular expertise in order to complete one oreraspects of the design and
manufacturing process;

» qualify with the customer(s) the new product, oeaisting product incorporating new technolc
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» transition our products to new manufacturing tedbgies

« identify emerging technological trends in our tangearkets

* maintain effective marketing strateg

» respond effectively to technological changes odpob announcements by others;

« adjust to changing market conditions quickly aondteffectively

Not only do we need the technical expertise to @nm@nt the changes necessary to keep our techmlogrieent, but we must also rely
heavily on the judgment of our management to gudie future market trends. If we are unable to l§ipeedict industry changes or industry
trends, or if we are unable to modify our produstslesign, manufacture and deliver new producta ttimely basis, or if a third party with
which we engage does not timely deliver a compooeservice for one of our product modificationsnew products, we might lose customers
or market share. In addition, we might not be @able=cover our research and development expendjtugich could harm our operating
results.

Changes in customers' test strategies, equipmert processes could cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for wafer probe cards depends in laageupon the number of semiconductor designs, dlte pf technology and
architecture transitions in chip designs and oVeexhiconductor unit volume. The time it takesdstta wafer depends upon the number of
devices being tested, the complexity of these @syithe test software program and the test equipitseif. As test programs become
increasingly effective and test throughput increaiee number of wafer probe cards required toategven volume of devices declines.
Therefore, advances in the test process could ecauselose sales. Further, many semiconductor faaturers are implementing chip designs
featuring BIST capabilities or similar "design testability”, or DFT, functions or methodologiesitiincrease test throughput and reduce the
cost of test. These efforts include strategiegtiuce the technical requirements on test equiproei,improve data about device performanc
early in the manufacturing process, or to testdidce later in the manufacturing process for dqualssurance purposes. In some cases, BIST
or DFT can create opportunities for our technolsgie other cases BIST or DFT can reduce requirésrfen wafer level test and reduce our
opportunities. Although we seek to work with oustmmers to show ways that our technologies carppkea together with BIST and DFT
approaches to create opportunities to further redoe cost of test, the overall impact of BIST &Il technologies, as they exist today and a:
they may be developed in the future, could slowntigration to wafer level testing and adverselgefffour revenues.

Similar results could occur if new chip designsiarplemented which we are unable to test efficiertl if semiconductor
manufacturers reduce generally the amount or degfreafer test they perform. We incur significaesearch and development expenses in
conjunction with the introduction of new producthitectures and platforms. Often, we time our prbditroductions to the introduction of
new test equipment platforms or to enable a matwfacs test roadmap when it elects to retain igdest platforms but requires certain test
throughput. Because our customers require bottetpgspment and wafer probe cards, any delay ouplism in the introduction of new test
equipment platforms would negatively affect ourvgtio.

Changes in customers' product roadmaps and the fimes associated with those roadmaps could negdyis@pact our product developme
effort and new product introductions, which could iturn, cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for wafer probe cards depends in laageupon the demand for semiconductor devices andwstomers' product
roadmaps. For example, the DRAM market continudoetanpacted negatively in fiscal 2013 as secutanges in the personal computer
markets significantly lowered demand for commod#gAM. The trend is forecasted by some of our custianand by some industry analysts
to continue into 2014, which has resulted in cartaistomers planning lower investment in DRAM tasd lower spending on DRAM probe
cards for commodity DRAM application. As a consatpes we may make changes to our operational or Bétivities to reduce the breadth of
our investments in certain of our products. Fomeple, in the first quarter of fiscal 2013, we annced that we suspended development
activities specific to our next generation Matrlatform and will consolidate our technologies amdelopment to extend the capabilities of the
current Matrix platform. These changes were implaea in light of the lower demand for commodity DRAIf this consolidation is not
successful, or does not extend the capabilitiegioproducts as anticipated, we may lose sale®antinancial results will be negatively
impacted.

We have recorded significant restructuring, invemyowrite-offs and asset impairment charges in thagh and may do so again in the future,
which could have a material negative impact on duusiness.

We recorded material restructuring charges reltedir global workforce reductions and impairmemrges related to our long-lived
assets in fiscal 2013 , fiscal 2012 , and fiscdl120In January 2014, we implemented an organizatio
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restructuring and cost reduction plan to improveefticiency and effectiveness while better positity the company for profitability. As we
continue to align our operations with our businesgiirements, we may implement additional costc&dn actions, which would require us to
take additional, potentially material, restructgritharges related to employee terminations, assgbshl or exit costs. We may also be reqt

to write off additional inventory if our product ibaiplans or usage of inventory experience furteelines, and such additional writéfs could
constitute material charges. In addition, significadverse changes in market conditions could requs to take additional material impairment
charges related to our long-lived assets. Our lorggh assets, including intangible assets, are tiraar over their respective estimated useful
lives using the straight-line and accelerated ndthemd are reviewed for impairment annually, ormwéwer events or changes in circumstance
indicate that their carrying amount may not be vecable. The valuation of our long-lived assetsinexs assumptions and estimates of many
critical factors, including revenue and market gifovoperating cash flows, market multiples, andalimt rates. Other adverse changes in
market conditions, particularly if such changesehthe effect of changing one of the critical asstiomg or estimates we use in our assessmel
of the recoverability of our long-lived assets abrésult in a change to the estimation of fair eahat could result in future impairment
charges. We may also incur charges for factory wiilieation depending upon the demand for our picis and factory capacity. Any such
additional material charges, whether related torweturing, asset impairment or factory underutilian may have a material negative impac
our operating results and related financial stateéme

Our recent restructuring plans may not have propgdligned our cost structure with our business neeghd overall semiconductor industry
requirements and even though completed may advgraéflect our business, financial condition, or opating results.

In each of fiscal 2009 through 2013 and into 2@t& conducted reductions in our work force as patbmpany-wide organizational
restructurings or cost reduction plans. These plaare intended to help focus our resources moagegfically towards business needs and
industry requirements. We expect to realize cognga from these restructuring actions. Our busipéisancial condition and operating results
could be materially adversely affected if we expece unanticipated inefficiencies as a result ofrestructuring activities, unanticipated or
product delivery or quality issues resulting in aimed customer relationships caused by reduceccbeat] or delay in ramping the
manufacture of our products or delay in our devalept, introduction and qualification of our new guets and technologies. We cannot
ensure we will not undertake additional workforeductions, that any of our restructuring effortff e successful, or that we will be able to
realize the cost savings and other anticipatedftiefieom our previous or future restructuring pdarny of these issues could render our
restructuring plan ineffective, which could haveaterial adverse effect on our business, finarzabition, or operating results.

If we do not continue to take steps to optimize Hiricture of our operations to position our compwfor long-term, profitable growth, we
might not succeed.

The timing, length and severity of the cyclical ddurns in the semiconductor industry are diffidolpredict. This cyclicality affects ol
ability to accurately predict our future operatimegults and plan our business, and could also mtipaivalue of our tangible and intangible
assets. We implemented global cost reduction prarach fiscal year from 2009 through 2013 , inudam 2014, and are continuing to pursue
measures to improve our operating efficiency. Suelasures have included workforce reductions, tipbeimentation of a shared service cel
the consolidation of manufacturing capacity, thetdization of support functions to regional ardbgl shared service centers and the
combining of the technical and manufacturing teaoress multiple product lines. If we do not conéiria implement measures for optimizing
our financial model for prevailing market conditirour competitiveness could be seriously harmedability to invest in our business for
future growth may be negatively impacted and oungany might not succeed. If we do not successéitlycture our operations by, for
example, strengthening our local application andise capabilities to improve customer responsigsnehanging our manufacturing structure
for shorter cycle time and improved product delveapabilities, and realigning our research anceligament efforts, and continue to motivate
and retain our key employees, we may experiencéreeed deterioration in our business and our compaight not succeed. In addition, as
business environment improves, if we are unabj@adactively and effectively manage our operatiom¥/ar realign our controls, systems and
infrastructure to changing business conditionsnvag not be in a position to boost our personnehufacturing capacity, service capabilities
and productivity, and support growth in responsimtoeasing customer demand for our products, wivctld, in turn, have a negative impact
on our operating results. Adverse general econeomditions may also impair the recovery of our bass.

Our pricing for our products could result in certai customers deciding to not purchase our produestdich could negatively impact our
business and financial results.

We believe that our pricing guidelines are consistéth normal industry cost learning curves, berttain customers may in the future
react negatively to our pricing and elect to natchase our products, to purchase fewer of our ptsdas compared to those of our competi
or to phase out the purchase of our products, iclwtase our business, financial condition and afpeg results could be materially and
adversely impacted.
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Changes in our tax rates, inability to realize odeferred tax assets or exposure to additional tembilities could adversely affect our
operating results.

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitateS and various foreign jurisdictions, and oundstic and international tax
liabilities are subject to the allocation of expen different jurisdictions. The amount of incotages we pay are subject to audits in various
jurisdictions and a material assessment by a govgtax authority could adversely affect our opeigtesults. Our effective tax rate could
adversely affected by changes in the mix of eamingountries with different statutory tax ratecbanges in tax laws. Realization of our
deferred tax assets, which are predominantly inJthiéed States, is dependent on our ability to geeesufficient future taxable income. In
2010, we determined that we would not be ableatize some portion of our deferred tax assetserfukture, so we recorded a valuation
allowance against the deferred tax assets thatedsn additional income tax expense. This valratillowance does not limit our ability to
utilize our federal and state deferred tax assetéfset future U.S. profits. The valuation allowarremains in effect as of December 28, 2013

Environmental and other disasters, such as floodjrearthquakes, volcanic eruptions or leakage froraatear reactors, or a combinatio
thereof, may negatively impact our business.

Our business is vulnerable to the direct and irdirapact of environmental and other disastersh siscthe March 2011 earthquake off
the coast of Japan and the resulting tsunami asabtdir at certain nuclear power plants in Japaninstance, while our design operations in
Tokyo, Japan, and our repair facilities in Yokohadepan and Hiroshima, Japan were all not damagéebMarch 2011 disasters in Japan, it
is possible that our operations could be impaatdtie future by the consequences of those eversisndar future events. The facilities of
certain of our suppliers, including suppliers of caramics, our printed circuit boards and certdiour mechanical parts, are located in Japan
While our suppliers did not report any significalaimage to their facilities and they resumed opematconsistent with the power usage
guidelines in their respective areas, the suppainshfor certain of our suppliers were negativetpacted. Additionally, the 2012 flooding in
Thailand negatively impacted the operations of sehdisk drive manufacturers, which created a stymrtof disk drives available for
incorporation into personal computers. This diskelshortage resulted in a slowing of the manufactd personal computers and for the
DRAM incorporated into personal computers. It isgible that future acts of terrorism, environmeptadnts or natural disasters, such as
earthquakes and aftershocks, and infrastructunetgwgising out of such occurrences and disastetsd negatively impact our suppliers’
ability to supply components to us on a timely basiny such delays in supplying or delivering comgats to us could, and any catastrophic
loss suffered by our key suppliers would likelysrdpt our operations, delay production and shipmantl adversely affect our revenues and
business. Similarly, any catastrophic loss at aalif@nia facilities, such as from an earthquakeuid materially and adversely affect our
business.

Cyclicality in the semiconductor industry may adgety impact our sales in the future, and as a resué have experienced and may
continue to experience reduced revenues and opearatesults.

The semiconductor industry has historically beetlicgl and is characterized by wide fluctuationpinduct supply and demand. From
time to time, this industry has experienced sigaifit downturns, often in connection with, or inieipation of, maturing product and
technology cycles, excess inventories and declingsneral economic conditions. The global econamit semiconductor downturns have
caused and may continue to cause our operatinggeésulecline dramatically from one period to trext. Our business depends heavily upon
the development and manufacture of new semicondijdtee rate at which semiconductor manufacturersentransitions to smaller nanometet
technology nodes and implement tooling cyclesytilame of production by semiconductor manufactuaerd the overall financial strength of
our customers, which, in turn, depend upon theetiirand anticipated market demand for semicondsietod products, such as personal
computers and cell phones, that use semicondu@argg industry downturns, semiconductor manufeasigenerally sharply curtail their
spending, including their equipment spending, agférdtheir adoption of emerging technologies amstionically have lowered their spending
disproportionately more than the decline in theirenues. This is particularly true when therepeiat during an industry cycle in which the
semiconductor manufacturers' costs related to sevdicctor devices approach or exceed the salesqiribe devices. As a result, we would
experience reduced revenues due to the decreagethddor our wafer probe cards by our semiconduntmnufacturer customers.
Accordingly, if we are unable to adjust our levelsnanufacturing and human resources or manageastis and deliveries from suppliers in
response to lower spending by semiconductor mathuras, our gross margin may decline and cause esperience further operating losses.

If we are unable to efficiently manufacture our esting probe card products and our new probe caradgucts, our business may |
materially adversely affected.

We must continuously improve our manufacturing psses in an effort to increase yields and prodeidopnance, lower our costs and
reduce the time required for us to design, manufaaind deliver our products in volume. If we canboth our existing products and our new
products may not be commercially successful, ouemaes may be adversely affected, our customeimeships and our reputation may be
harmed and our business may be materially advesasflgted. To
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improve our manufacturing processes, we have iedyand may incur in the future, substantial cwsts effort to optimize capacity and
yields, implement new manufacturing technologiesthuds and processes, purchase new equipmentdepexesting equipment and tre
technical personnel. We have experienced, and xy@grience in the future, manufacturing delays ahéinefficiencies in connection with
implementation of these improvements and customalifications of new processes, which have causedcauld cause in the future, our
operating results to decline.

We have also experienced, and may experience ifuthee, difficulties in manufacturing our complproducts in volume on time and
acceptable yields and cost and installation isgui®e field due to complexity of customer desigquirements, including integration of wafer
probe cards with varying customer test cell enviments and testing of semiconductor devices oveda temperature range. For example, we
experienced challenges transitioning our Harmoushitecture-based products from a lower-volume, regjiing-assisted process to a high-
volume manufacturing process. These problems eabutmissed opportunities with customers. Whileraraped commercial volume
manufacturing of our Matrix architecture produdta aignificantly greater rate than our Harmonyhaexture products, design and
manufacturing delays related to our Matrix architee products resulted in qualification at certaiistomers taking longer than we anticipated
Once a new product or technology is qualified, & are unable to timely and efficiently expand oanuofacturing capacity and ramp volume
production to meet customer demand, our operaéaglts will be negatively impacted. Delayed quedifion caused and could continue to
cause lost sales opportunities. This increasesunerability to our competitors and the likelihotdt our customers will seek solutions from
other suppliers or to develop solutions themselfetemand for our products decreases, we coul@ lkeaxeess manufacturing capacity. The
fixed costs associated with excess manufacturipgaity could cause our operating results to declinge are unable to achieve further
manufacturing efficiencies and cost reductionstigalarly if we are experiencing pricing pressuireshe marketplace, our operating results
could suffer.

Consolidation in the industry and within the semicductor test equipment market could adversely affédre market for our products and
negatively impact our ability to compete, which ddicause a decline in our revenues.

Consolidation in the semiconductor industry, pafidy among manufacturers of DRAM devices, sucMason Technology, Inc.'s
2013 acquisition of Elpida Memory, Inc., would redwur customer base and could adversely affechtrket for our products, which could
cause a decline in our revenues. The global ecandawnturn caused significant disruption within geniconductor industry. The
semiconductor industry now has a smaller custorase han in past years. The loss of additionabousts could further concentrate, and
could adversely affect, the market for our produ€snsolidation may lead to lost or delayed sakxiiced demand for our wafer probe cards,
loss of market share and increased pricing pressaitionally, certain customers may not wantely entirely or substantially on a single
wafer probe card supplier and, as a result, sustomers could reduce their purchases of our waitdyepcards.

There has also been a recent move toward consolidaithin the semiconductor test equipment market.example, in 2010, after
Verigy announced intent to combine with LTX Credena tester company, Advantest Corporation, magieeessful unsolicited bid to acquire
Verigy. In 2013, Applied Materials, Inc. and Tokktectron Ltd., a semiconductor equipment manufaettirat, among other products,
manufactures semiconductor test probers announbediaess combination that would merge two of kined largest chip equipment
companies in the world. This consolidation trendldaehange our interactions and relationships ws@imiconductor tester and prober
companies and negatively impact our revenue anchtipg results.

We depend upon the sale of our wafer probe cardssigbstantially all of our revenues, and the majbriof our wafer probe cards are utiliz:
by semiconductor manufacturers for testing SoC aDBAM devices. If we continue to experience a dowmtin demand for our SoC and
DRAM products, our revenues could decline furthe

We have historically derived substantially all off sevenues from the sale of our wafer probe ctrdsanufacturers of DRAM, flash
memory devices, and microprocessor, chipset aret &@C devices. Subsequent to the acquisition ofd#®irobe in October 2012, our
revenues for fiscal 2013 have substantially beeiveld from the sale of our wafer probe cards to afiacturers of SoC and DRAM devices.

For fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011 , sales to manuifaxt of SoC devices accounted for 50% , 26% aftl, I'éspectively, of our revenu
Sales to manufacturers of DRAM devices accounted®%6 , 57% and 68% , respectively, and sales toufaaturers of flash memory devices
accounted for 10% , 17% and 15% , respectively aWitieipate that sales of our wafer probe cardsnepresent a substantial majority of our
revenues for the foreseeable future. Our succgsndes in large part upon the continued acceptaheerg@roducts within these markets and
our ability to continue to develop and introducevrproducts that meet our customers' requirementstanely basis for these markets. In
particular, to continue to grow our business, wed#® gain additional market share with manufactuoé Flash memory and SoC devices. To
the extent that we are unable to realize cost teghgcand manufacturing efficiencies in the prodwcbf our wafer probe cards, or if we are
able to timely deliver our products, our revenues lusiness operations could be adversely impactdaur ability to grow could suffer. In 1
NAND Flash market, we are continuing the developnoémur new NAND Flash product. In the secc
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half of 2013 and into 2014, we increased our aiwion the development of a new NAND Flash wafebp card architecture and have
engagements with two customers to deliver prodo@$ed on the new architecture. If we do not subaigsslevelop and deliver production
evaluation probe cards for these two customersijfahdse or other customers do not qualify thedpit and purchase the product for NAND
Flash wafer test, it could negatively impact owereues and margins and harm our business. As atigaaeration wafer probe cards are usec
in greater volume in commercial production, it gspible that we will identify certain areas of teidal performance that require improvement,
and if we are unable to continually, efficientlydain a timely manner improve our products, we caultfer reduced demand for our products
and our operating results could be harmed.

If chip manufacturers fail to make architecturefd@or technology transitions as we anticipatef anficipated or announced transitions
are delayed, it could adversely impact our revemunesoperating results. In addition, we might r@tble to sustain or increase our revenues
from sales of our wafer probe cards, particuldryoinditions in the semiconductor market do notriowe or if the market enters another
downturn. Any decrease in revenues from sales ofvaier probe cards could harm our business.

If our relationships with our customers and compags that manufacture semiconductor test equipmentederate, our product developme
activities could be harmed.

The success of our product development effortsmpapon our ability to anticipate market trendd &ncollaborate closely with our
customers and with companies that manufacture sewbictor test equipment. Our relationships witlséheustomers and companies provide
us with access to valuable information regardingumacturing and process technology trends in th@@mductor industry, which enables us
to better plan our product development activitidsese relationships also provide us with opportesito understand the performance and
functionality requirements of our customers, whitiprove our ability to customize our products ttifitheir needs. Our relationships with
test equipment companies are important to us bedassequipment companies can design the use efafar probe cards into their
equipment and provide us with the insight into tipeoduct plans. This cooperation allows us toroffafer probe cards for use with the test
equipment companies' products when they are intedito the market as opposed to several monthem kater, which would negatively
impact our revenues.

Our relationships with our customers and test agaeift companies could deteriorate if they:
* become concerned about our ability to protect tiné@lectual propert
» become concerned with our ability to deliver qyafitoducts on a timely bas
» develop their own solutions to address the neetkfiing improvemer
» implement chip designs that include enhanceli-bbugself-test capabilitie:
e regard us as a competi
» introduce their own wafer probe card prod
» establish relationships with others in our indy;

e acquire or invest in a competitive wafer probedcmanufacturer or enter into a business ventitreaxcompetitive wafer probe card
manufacturer; or

e attempt to restrict our ability to enter into réatships with their competitol

Many of our customers and the test equipment corapave work with are large companies. The conserpgeaf deterioration in our
relationship with any of these companies couldxaerbated due to the significant influence thesepmanies can exert in our markets. If our
current relationships with our customers and tgatmment companies deteriorate, or if we are untbtievelop similar collaborative
relationships with important customers and tesimgant companies in the future, our long-term abtld produce commercially successful
products could be impaired.

Because we generally do not have a sufficient bagkbf unfilled orders to meet our quarterly reventergets, revenues in any quarter a
substantially dependent upon customer orders reediand fulfilled in that quarter.

Our revenues are difficult to forecast because @reerplly do not have sufficient backlog of unfillediers to meet our quarterly revenue
targets at the beginning of a quarter. Ratherpatantial percentage of our revenues in any qudeeend upon customer orders for our wafer
probe cards that we receive and fulfill in that jeia Because our expense levels are based impanir expectations as to future revenues an
to a large extent are fixed in the short term, wghtnbe unable to adjust
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spending in time to compensate for any unexpedtedfall in revenues. Accordingly, any significasitortfall of revenues in relation to our
expectations could hurt our operating results.

We manufacture substantially all our products at ofacilities in Livermore, San Jose, and Carlsba@alifornia, and any disruption in the
operations of these facilities or our customer's m&acturing facilities could adversely impact ourusiness and operating results.

Certain of our manufacturing processes and ounousts' processes require sophisticated and exgeegiipment and specially
designed facilities, including semiconductor cleaoms. We manufacture the majority of our waferbgreards at our facilities located in
Livermore, San Jose, and Carlsbad, California. disyuption in our manufacturing, whether due totaarination in our manufacturing
process, technical or labor difficulties, destrootor damage from fire or earthquake, infrastriefailures such as power or water shortage or
any other reason, could interrupt our operatiangaiir critical systems, disrupt communications vathr customers and suppliers, and cause L
to write off inventory, thereby potentially resalg in the loss of revenues. In addition, if thevjpyas energy crises in California that resulted in
disruptions in power supply and increases in ytiibsts were to recur, we might experience powterinptions and shortages, which could
disrupt our manufacturing operations. This couldjsct us to loss of revenues as well as signiflgdrigher costs of energy. Further, current
and potential customers might not purchase ourymtsdf they perceive our lack of a fully opera@balternate manufacturing facility to be a
risk to their continuing source of supply. Similgrhny of these events, such as contamination,doeer or water shortage and labor strike
could interrupt our customer's operations theredemqtially resulting in the loss of revenues to company.

If we are unable to continue to reduce the timdakes for us to design and produce a wafer probedgaur growth could be impede:

Our customers continuously seek to reduce the ititages them to introduce new products to markeé cyclicality of the
semiconductor industry, coupled with changing desisefor semiconductor devices, requires our custsnebe flexible and highly adaptable
to changes in the volume and mix of products thegtrproduce. Each of those changes requires a esigrdand each new design requires a
new wafer probe card. For some existing semicomudulgtvices, the manufacturers' volume and mix oflpct requirements are such that we
are unable to design, manufacture and ship prodoctseet manufacturers' relatively short cycle ti@guirements. We have lost sales in the
past where we were unable to meet a customer'gedqielivery schedule for wafer probe cards fpadicular design. If we are unable to
reduce the time it takes for us to design, manufacand ship our products in response to the nefenlsr customers, our competitive position
could be harmed and we could lose sales. If weiaable to grow design and manufacturing capacithénevent demand increases, our ability
to respond to customer requirements could be afgeig and our revenues could be negatively impacted.

We obtain some of the components and materials we i our products from a sole source or a limitgtbup of suppliers, and the partial «
complete loss of one of these suppliers could causeluction delays and a substantial loss of revesu

We obtain some of the components and materialsinsaalr products, such as printed circuit boareagsies, plating materials and
ceramic substrates, from a sole source or a lingtedp of suppliers. Alternative sources are notenly available for sole source components
and materials. Because we rely on purchase ordtrsrrthan long-term contracts with the majoritypof suppliers, we cannot predict with
certainty our ability to obtain components and matg in the longer term. A sole or limited soustgplier could increase prices, which could
lead to a decline in our gross margin. Our depecel@ipon sole or limited source suppliers exposde ssveral other risks, including inability
to obtain an adequate supply of materials, lateeiébs and poor component quality.

In addition, the ability of any of these suppligvgimely provide us with sufficient quality matels would be adversely affected if they
are forced to reduce or discontinue operationstaldi@ancial difficulties. Disruption or terminaticof the supply of components or materials
could delay shipments of our products, damage ostomer relationships and reduce our revenueseXample, if we were unable to obtain an
adequate supply of a component or material, we tiighe to use a substitute component or matertatiwcould require us to make changes
in our manufacturing process and could also reqisr® re-qualify impacted product at certain costrs. From time to time, we have
experienced difficulties in receiving shipmentsnfrone or more of our suppliers, especially duriagqus of high demand for our products. If
we cannot obtain an adequate supply of the compgsen materials we require, or do not receive threantimely manner, we might be
required to identify new suppliers.

We might not be able to identify new suppliers dimeely basis or at all. We, as well as our custaneould also need to qualify any
new suppliers. The lead-time required to identifd gualify new suppliers could affect our abilibyttmely ship our products and cause our
operating results to suffer. Further, a sole oitéohsource supplier could require us to enter mtn-cancelable purchase commitments,
minimum volume purchases or pay in advance to ensur source of supply. In an

20




industry downturn or in an environment in whichgtb is not at a level we projected or anticipatsmmmitments of this type could result in
charges for excess inventory of parts.

Further, if a customer's needs for a particulabpreard design and purchase orders for those prolls are spread out over several
months as opposed to being placed at one timesimgée purchase order, it may cause us to purahasEssive materials or components in ligh
of minimum purchase requirements or to be unabteadbze volume discounts for materials or compdséecause of the lack of visibility into
the customer's overall purchase plan. These pugdkases would require us to incur a greater dogvads sold than we might otherwise
realize. These issues are also magnified in ths&tions in which the supplied material or comparnis a custom component for a unique
customer probe card design. Additionally, if we an@ble to predict our component and materials :ia@edurately, or if our supply is disrupt
we might miss market opportunities by not beingeablmeet the demand for our products.

Wafer probe cards that do not meet specificatiomghat contain defects could damage our reputatiatecrease market acceptance of our
technology, cause us to lose customers and revenaed result in liability to us.

The complexity and ongoing development of our wafebe card manufacturing process, combined witre@ses in wafer probe card
production volumes, have in the past and coulthénftiture lead to design or manufacturing probleras.example, we have experienced the
presence of contaminants in our plating baths, lvhave caused a decrease in our manufacturingsyaeltlave resulted in unanticipated stres:
related failures when our wafer probe cards aregoesed in the manufacturing test environment. €brgamination problem caused a yield
decline that, in turn, resulted in our inabilitytbmely ship products to our customers. Manufao@idesign errors such as the mis-wiring of a
wafer probe card or the incorrect placement of prodntact elements have caused us to repeat mamirigadesign steps. In addition to these
examples, problems might result from a number cfoiss, including design defects, materials faildadure of components manufactured by
our suppliers to meet our specifications, contationan the manufacturing environment, impuritiaghe materials used, and unknown
sensitivities to process conditions such as tentperand humidity, and equipment failures. As alltesur products have in the past containec
and might in the future contain undetected erromedects. Any errors or defects could:

» cause lower than anticipated yields and lengthdimedg schedule:
e cause delays in product shipme

» cause delays in new product introductit

» cause us to incur warranty expen

» resultin increased costs and diversion of devetgmesource

e cause us to incur increased charges due to unusabletory

e require design modifications;

» decrease market acceptance or customer satisfadtiothese product

The occurrence of any one or more of these eventlsl @adversely affect our operating results.

In addition, if any of our products fails to mepesifications when installed in the customer's éestironment, or has reliability, quality
or compatibility problems, our reputation coulddamaged significantly and customers might be rehtdb buy our products, which could
result in a decline in revenues, an increase idygrbreturns or warranty costs and the loss ofiegisustomers or the failure to attract new
customers. For example, in mid-2013, we experieeethin supply chain and manufacturing challeribasimpacted critical deliveries for a
key DRAM customer in Japan in the third quartere§ddelays and manufacturing challenges not orgadted in-quarter short-term revenue,
but also resulted in our loss of future orders @aaplired us to implement programs to re-establisBalves as a key supplier to the customer
and resulted in increased warranty costs. Thesgeguences negatively impacted our operating results

Our customers use our products with test equipmedtsoftware in their manufacturing facilities. Quoducts must be compatible with
the customers' equipment and software to form tgrated system. While we have designed our t@sthilities and standards to replicate the
actual test environment of our customers and coaliy work to improve our capabilities, it is pdsisi that our wafer probe card will perform
differently in the customers' actual test environtself our wafer probe card does not function prbpwithin a customer's specific test
environment, we could be required to provide figiglication engineers to locate the problem, wicih take time and resources. If the
problem relates to our wafer probe cards, we ntiglte to invest significant capital, manufacturiagacity and other resources to correct it.
Our current or
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potential customers also might seek to recover fusrany losses resulting from defects or failunesur products. Liability claims could
require us to spend significant time and moneytigaltion or to pay significant damages.

If our ability to forecast demand for our products the predictability of our manufacturing yieldsederiorates, we could incur highe
inventory losses than we currently experience.

Each semiconductor chip design requires a custofaryaobe card. Because our products are degpgeific, demand for our product:
difficult to forecast. Due to our customers' shaelivery time requirements, we often design anapre materials and, at times, produce our
products in anticipation of demand for our produatber than in response to an order. Our manufagtyields, particularly for new DRAM
and Flash memory wafer probe cards, have histtyibakn unpredictable and consequently, we gerygoediduce more components for probe
cards, or actual probe cards, than forecasted dinifame do not obtain orders as we anticipatef we produce excess inventory to
compensate for unpredictable manufacturing yieldscould have excess or obsolete inventory foregifip customer design that we would
be able to sell to any other customer, which wdildkely result in inventory write-offs or materiaharges for scrap.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal and disclosure controls, we may not be ablatzurately report our financial results ¢
prevent fraud, which may adversely affect our busss and reputation. In addition, current and potéaitstockholders could lose confident
in our financial reporting, which may adversely inggt the trading price of our securities.

Effective internal and disclosure controls are seaey for us to provide reliable financial repottsprevent fraud and to operate
successfully as a public company. If we cannot jsl@veliable financial reports or prevent fraudr business and reputation may be harmed.
We regularly review and assess our internal canwoer financial reporting and our disclosure colstand procedures. As part of that process
we may discover material weaknesses or signifidafitiencies in our internal controls as definedemstandards adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, tlegjuire remediation. A material weakness is a @&firy, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal controls over financigporting, such that there is a reasonable poggibilat a material misstatement of the compa
annual or interim financial statements will notgrevented or detected on a timely basis. A sigaificleficiency is a deficiency or combinat
of deficiencies, in internal controls over finarigigporting that is less severe than a materiakwess, yet important enough to merit attention
by those responsible for the oversight of the camg[safinancial reporting. As a result of weaknedbas may be identified in our internal
controls, we may also identify certain deficiendiesome of our disclosure controls and procedtiraswe believe require remediation. If we
discover weaknesses, we will make efforts to improur internal and disclosure controls. Howevestdhis no assurance that we will be
successful. If we fail to maintain effective coréror timely affect any necessary improvement ofioternal and disclosure controls, we may
not have accurate information to make managemesidas, our operating results could be harmedemay fail to meet our reporting
obligations, which could affect our ability to remdisted with the NASDAQ Global Market. Ineffecévnternal and disclosure controls could
also cause stockholders to lose confidence ineported financial information and our ability to mage our business, which would likely have
a negative effect on the trading price of our siiest

We might be subject to claims of infringement ohet parties' proprietary rights which could harm ebusiness.

In the future, as we have in the past, we mightikecclaims that we are infringing intellectual peoty rights of others or inquiries abc
our interest in a license, or assertions that vealrzelicense, to the intellectual property. Theisenductor industry is characterized by
uncertain and conflicting intellectual propertyiola and vigorous protection and pursuit of theghts. The resolution of any claims of this
nature, with or without merit, could be time consogn result in costly litigation or cause produbimnent delays. In the event of an adverse
ruling or settlement, we might be required to palystantial damages, cease the use or sale ofgirfgmproducts, spend significant resources t
develop non-infringing technology, discontinue tise of certain technology and/or enter into liceagg@ements. License agreements, if
required, might not be available on terms accepttbls. The loss of access to any of our intellgiroperty or the ability to use any of our
technology could harm our business. Finally, cartdiour customer contracts contain provisions thqtiire us to defend and /or indemnify
customers for third party intellectual propertyrinffement claims, which would increase the coststof an adverse ruling or settlement.

We may not be able to recruit or retain qualifie@sonnel, which could harm our business.

We believe our ability to manage successfully armvgour business and to develop new products deppémthrge part, on our ability to
recruit and retain qualified employees, particyidighly skilled technical, sales, management, lemdstaff personnel. Competition for
qualified resources is intense and other compana@shave greater resources available to providstantial inducements to lure key persor
away from us or to offer more competitive compeiosgpackages to individuals we are trying to hidditionally, we have implemented
global cost reduction plans in which we have redumgr workforce, which could make it challengingétain key people and recruit new
talent, as needed. While we are implementing progra
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to attract employees, and we may grant additiogaitg compensation to certain employees outsideuofannual equity grant program for
retention purposes, or implement retention bonagnams for certain employees, there can be noasseithat we will be able to successfully
recruit and retain the qualified personnel we regjui

As part of our sales process, we could incur subbsia sales and engineering expenses that do naulein revenues, which would harm ot
operating results.

Our customers generally expend significant effextaluating and qualifying our products prior togatey an order. The time that our
customers require to evaluate and qualify our wpfebe cards is typically between three and 12 hwahd sometimes longer. While our
customers are evaluating our products, we mightrisabstantial sales, marketing, and research emelagbment expenses. For example, we
typically expend significant resources educatingmospective customers regarding the uses anditseokour wafer probe cards and
developing wafer probe cards customized to therpiaiecustomer's needs, for which we might notdimbursed. Although we commit
substantial resources to our sales efforts, we rmgher receive any revenues from a customer. ¥a@mple, many semiconductor chip designs
never reach production, including designs for whighmay have expended design effort and expensaldition, prospective customers might
decide not to use our wafer probe cards. The leofgtime that it takes for the evaluation procesd for us to make a sale depends upon man
factors including:

» the efforts of our sales force and our distribatied independent sales representat
» the complexity of the customer's fabrication prees

« the internal technical capabilities of the custg

» the customer's budgetary constraints;

« the customer's ability to devote resources to taduation proces

In addition, product purchases are frequently sulifedelays; as a result, our sales cycles areedigtable. If we incur substantial sales
and engineering expenses without generating reweioue operating results could be harmed.

Our failure to comply with environmental laws anaggulations could subject us to significant fines @fiabilities, and new laws and
regulations or changes in regulatory interpretatiaor enforcement could make compliance more diffitaind costly.

We are subject to various U.S. Federal, state @eal,|land foreign governmental laws and regulatrefeting to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the dischafpollutants into the air and water, the manag@nand disposal of hazardous substance
and wastes, the cleanup of contaminated sitestenohaintenance of a safe workplace. We could iaghstantial costs, including cleanup
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personalrinjas a result of violations of or liabilities
under environmental laws and regulations or nongd@nce with the environmental permits requiredut facilities.

These laws, regulations and permits also couldirediue installation of costly pollution control@gment or operational changes to
limit pollution emissions or decrease the likelidaaf accidental releases of hazardous substantasdition, changing laws and regulations,
new laws and regulations, stricter enforcementadtimg laws and regulations, the discovery of prasly unknown contamination at our or
others' sites or the imposition of new cleanup iregoients could require us to curtail our operatioastrict our future expansion, subject us to
liability and cause us to incur future costs thaild harm our operations, thereby adversely impgatur operating results and cash flow.

Because we conduct most of our business internadilty) we are subject to operational, economic, fir@al and political risks abroad

Sales of our products to customers outside Nortledga have accounted for a significant part ofrewenues. Our international sales a:
a percentage of our revenues were 73% , 85% andi@5fiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectivelydifidnally, certain of our South Korean
customers purchase through their North Americasisiidries. In the future, we expect internatioraés, particularly in Japan, South Korea
and Taiwan, to continue to account for a signiftqaercentage of our revenues. Accordingly, we heéllsubject to risks and challenges that we
would not otherwise face if we conducted our bussreolely in North America.

These risks and challenges include:

e compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws aedulations
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legal uncertainties regarding taxes, tariffs, gspéxport controls, export licenses and other ttedeers
political and economic instability or foreign caofk that involve or affect the countries of oustmers
difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dodger accounts receivable payment cy:

difficulties in staffing and managing personneftdbutors and representativ

reduced protection for intellectual property rigltsome countrie

currency exchange rate fluctuations, which coutdatfthe value of our assets denominated in loeakacy, as well as the price of «
products relative to locally produced products;

seasonal fluctuations in purchasing patterns ieratbuntries; ar

fluctuations in freight rates and transportatiosraptions

Any of these factors could harm our existing inggional operations, impair our ability to continegoanding into international markets

or materially adversely affect our operating resultdditionally, we are required to comply withéayn import and export requirements,
customs and value added tax standards. Our fadureet these requirements and standards couldivedgampact our business operations.
As an example in the third quarter of 2011, we irexzkinquiries from a foreign jurisdiction tax aatity regarding certain indirect tax matters.
We cooperated with these inquiries, which relatedur prior shipping process for new product qiggiions and for products for certain of
repair center activities, and resolved the matée.regularly address our tax compliance and makm@sions to the appropriate jurisdictior
appropriate. In the future, if our tax practices questioned by authorities or found to be irregutas possible that we could incur material
expenses or charges, which would negatively impactinancial condition.

The trading price of our common stock has been aadikely to continue to be volatile, and you mighot be able to sell your shares at or
above the price that you paid for them.

The trading prices of the securities of technologspanies have been highly volatile, and from DduEm30, 2013 through March 6,

2014 , our stock price (NASDAQ Global Market clgsee) has ranged from $6.01 a share to $7.19 @ slhe trading price of our common
stock is likely to continue to be subject to witlecfuations. Factors affecting the trading price@of common stock include:

variations in our operating resu
our forecasts and financial guidance for futurequs;

announcements of technological innovations, pesducts or product enhancements, new product easpat semiconductor
customers or significant agreements by us or bycompetitors;

reports regarding our ability to bring new produote volume production efficientl
the gain or loss of significant orders or custon

changes in the estimates of our operating resulthanges in recommendations by any securitigysts that elect to follow our
common stock;

rulings on litigations and proceedings relatingntellectual property mattel

seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycle:

market and competitive conditions in our industhg entire semiconductor industry and the econosrg \&hole
recruitment or departure of key personnel;

announcements of mergers and acquisition tréiesacand the ability to successfully integrate ltisiness activities of the
acquired/merged company.

In addition, if the market for technology stocksloe stock market in general experiences losswasitor confidence, the trading price of

our common stock could decline for reasons unrélet@ur business, operating results or finana@aldition. The trading price of our common
stock also might decline in reaction to events #ifct other companies in our industry even ikthevents do not directly affect us.
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Provisions of our certificate of incorporation andylaws or Delaware law might discourage, delay oeyent a change of control of oL
company or changes in our management and, therefatepress the trading price of our common stock.

Delaware corporate law and our certificate of ipowation and bylaws contain provisions that coustaurage, delay or prevent a
change in control of our company or changes innsamagement that the stockholders of our companydeayn advantageous. These
provisions:

» establish a classified board of directors so tloatai members of our board are elected at one;
» provide that directors may only be removed "forseiuand only with the approval of 66.7% of our ktomders
*  require supemajority voting to amend some provisions in outtifieate of incorporation and bylav

» authorize the issuance of "blank check" preféstck that our board could issue to increasatimeber of outstanding shares and to
discourage a takeover attempt;

« limit the ability of our stockholders to call spatmeetings of stockholde
» prohibit stockholder action by written consent, gfhrequires all stockholder actions to be takemmaeeting of our stockholde
» provide that the board of directors is expresshharized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

» establish advance notice requirements for notioins for election to our board or for proposingttees that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware Generajp®mtion Law may discourage, delay or preventangk in control of our company.
In addition, each of our named executive officerd eertain other officers of the company have ewxténto change of control severance
agreements, which were approved by our Compens@tiommittee, which could increase the costs assatiaith a change of control and th
potentially deter such a transaction.

New regulations related to conflict minerals mayrée us to incur additional expenses, may make oupgly chain more complex and me
result in damage to our relationships with custonser

In August 2012, as mandated by the Dodd-Frank Bta#let Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2€1® SEC adopted new
disclosure regulations for public companies thahuf@cture products that contain certain mineratstarir derivatives, namely tin, tantalum,
tungsten or gold, known as conflict minerals, #gb minerals are necessary to the functionalifyr@duction of the company’s products. These
regulations require such issuers to report annudiigther or not such minerals originate from thenDeratic Republic of Congo and adjoining
countries and in some cases to perform extensigalidigence on their supply chains for such mireréhe implementation of these new
requirements could adversely affect the sourcingilability and pricing of conflict minerals used the manufacture of semiconductor
equipment, including our products. In addition, may incur additional costs to comply with the distire requirements, including costs rel.
to determining the source of any of the relevantarals used in our products. Since our supply cisatomplex, the due diligence procedures
that we implement may not enable us to ascert&mtlygins for these minerals or determine thatdlramerals are DRC conflict-free. We may
also face difficulties in satisfying customers whay require that our products be certified as DR&flt-free, which could harm our
relationships with these customers and lead tesdb revenue. These new requirements also cowuklthe effect of limiting the pool of
suppliers from which we source these mineralsvamanay be unable to obtain conflict-free mineralsanpetitive prices, which could
increase our costs and adversely affect our maturfag operations and our profitability.

In October 2012, the National Association of Mawrtfigers and the U.S. Chamber of Commerce filedtitigre for review in the U.¢
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia irsponse to a piece of Doditank regulation that requires public companiedisclose wheth:
their products have been manufactured with thealicominerals in countries where the sale of thasnerals fuel humanitarian violence.
outcome of this suit is uncertain and may impaet #doption of these new requirements. In Januafyd,2the SEG conflicts minera
disclosure rules became effective, requiring corigzsato make their first conflict minerals disclossiron or before May 31, 2014 for the 2
calendar year. We are currently evaluating thelalisce requirements in order to comply with theseldsures, if any, within the prescrit
time frame.

ltem 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2:  Properties

Our corporate headquarters, which includes salaggating, administration, manufacturing, enginegrend research and development
facilities, is located in Livermore, California, ied States. Our corporate headquarters comprisampus of four buildings totaling
approximately 169,000 square feet. We presenthel¢laose four buildings. We also own one buildirfigolv was a part of our older
manufacturing facility and which is being utilizéat storage. In addition, we lease office, repai aervice, manufacturing and/or research an
development space both inside and outside of thietlStates. The leases expire at various timesigir 2021. We believe that our existing
and planned facilities are suitable for our curmseds.

Information concerning our properties as of Decan®8e 2013 is set forth below:

Square

Location Principal Use Footage = Ownership
Livermore, Corporate headquarters, sales, marketing, fingomoduct 168,63t Leased
California, United  design, manufacturing, service and repair, distitiow
States research and development
Livermore, Storage 13,53  Owned
California, United
States
San Jose, California Sales, marketing, finance, product design, manuifn, 39,89 Leased
United States service and repair, distribution, research and logveent
Carlsbad, California, Product design, finance, manufacturing, servicerapdir, 25,63: Leased
United States distribution, research and development
Austin, Texas, Unite Service and repair 2,02t  Leased
States
Southbury,
Connecticut, United
States Sales office 14:  Leased
Singapore Sales, finance, product design, service, and §etldice. 26,80¢ Leased
Suzhou, China Sales, marketing, finance, manufactuproduct design, 9,70C Leased

service and repair, distribution, research and ldgweent
Shanghai, China  Sales office 41¢ Leased
Jubei City, Hsinchu, Sales office, finance, product design, field senand repair 9,30¢ Leased
Taiwan center
Yokohama City, Sales office, finance, marketing, product desigsearch 8,747 Leased
Japan and development, field service, and repair center,

manufacturing and distribution.
Hiroshima, Japan Repair center 1,61t Leased
Gyeonggi-do, South Sales office, finance, product design, field sexyend repai  15,31( Leased
Korea center
Gyeonggi-do, South 1,00 Leased
Korea Sales office, field service, and repair eent
Dresden, Germany Sales office 2,90¢ Leased
Milan, Italy Sales office 21t Leased

Item 3: Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject to legal pedirgs and claims in the ordinary course of busin&s of the filing of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, we were not involved in anytenal legal proceedings, other than the proceedsgmmarized below. In the future we
may become a party to additional legal proceedingsmay require us to spend significant resoulicetjding proceedings designed to protec
our intellectual property rights.

We believe that the factual allegations and cirdamses underlying the legal proceedings descrileémibthat have been filed against
are without merit. We also believe that our compdogs not have a material monetary damages expiostirese legal proceedings that would
individually or in the aggregate have a materialeade effect on our financial condition, liquidity results of operations; however, legal
proceedings can be costly and it is possible wkimdglr significant, and



26




possibly material, attorneys' fees, which may motbvered by our insurance policies. These legalgadings may also divert our
management's time and attention away from busimgssations, which could prove to be disruptive tio lousiness operations. In addition, an
unfavorable outcome or settlement of these proogsdparticularly if it is not covered by or exceeuir insurance coverage, could individu
or in the aggregate adversely impact our finarmaldition, liquidity or results of operations.

Other Litigation

In August 2013, a former employee (“Plaintiff’)dd a class action lawsuit against the CompanyarStiperior Court of California,
alleging violations of California’s wage and hoawts and unfair business practices on behalf of élfnrasd all other similarly situated current
and former employees at the Company'’s Livermorditias from August 21, 2009 to the present. In ety 2014, the Court granted the
Company’s motion to strike Plaintiff’s first amentleomplaint, clarifying the scope of the putatiV@ss. Procedurally, the case is in the early
stages of litigation and therefore the Companynihle to predict the likelihood or extent of potehiiability at this time. The Company denies
the allegations and could incur material attornégss in defending the lawsuit.

Patent Litigation

We amicably resolved the various patent litigatitmes Company was involved in in prior years. ADetcember 28, 2013 certain third
party initiated challenges to one or more of ouept remained pending in the U.S. Patent and TradeOffice and in the Taiwan Patent
Office.

No provision has been made for intellectual propestated litigation because we believe that ita$ probable that a liability had been
incurred as of December 28, 2013 . We have incuanetcould incur in the future material attorndges in prosecuting and defending actions
related to intellectual property.

Item 4: Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il
ltem 5: Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Sktwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global kdrunder the symbol "FORM". The following tablésstorth the range of high
and low closing sales prices per share as reportaétle Nasdaq Global Market for the periods indidat

Fiscal 2013 High Low

First Quarter $ 5.1t % 4.5¢
Second Quarter 6.9¢€ 4.3¢
Third Quarter 7.6€ 6.0C
Fourth Quarter $ 6.8¢ $ 5.0C
Fiscal 2012 High Low

First Quarter $ 57t % 4.8t
Second Quarter 6.65 5.1¢€
Third Quarter 6.8¢ 5.0t
Fourth Quarter $ 56t % 3.7¢

The closing sales price of our common stock orNASDAQ Global Market was $6.98 per share on MarcB(®.4 . As of March 6,
2014 , there were 234 registered holders of reobodir common stock.

Repurchase of Common Stock

On October 20, 2010, our board of directors auttearithe repurchase up to $50.0 million of outstamdiommon stock which expired
October 19, 2011. On October 12, 2011, our Boafdiadctors authorized the extension of our repuselfarogram through October 19, 2012.
Under the extension, we were authorized to repseei@ to a total of $40.5 million of outstandingmoon stock during the program period.
The terms and conditions of the extended repurchaxgam remained the same as those in the origmogkam approved in fiscal 2010. All
our repurchases were made under the authorizedchegse program. During fiscal 2011, we repurchasedretired 2,332,740 shares of
common stock for $16.4 million. We did not repurshany shares of common stock under the programgiiiscal 2012.

Repurchased shares are retired upon the settlexhtrg related trade transactions. Our policy ezldb repurchases of our common
stock is to charge the excess of cost over paevaladditional paid-in capital. All repurchasegevmade in compliance with Rule 10b-18
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as agtkrithe repurchase program ended effective Octtthe2012 and was not extended.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock. We currently expect to retain edlimble funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and developmientiobusiness. Accordingly, we do not anticipageldring or paying cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future.

Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph shows the total stockholdeuretof an investment of $100 in cash on DecembeRB@8 through December 28,
2013, for (1) our common stock, (2) the S&P 508etnand (3) the RDG Semiconductor Composite Indéxalues assume reinvestment of
the full amount of all dividends. No cash divideiindse been declared on shares of our common skta&kholder returns over the indicated
period are based on historical data and are netssacily indicative of future stockholder returns.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"
Among FormFactor, Inc., the S&P 500 Index, andthe RDG Semiconductor Composite Index

12131106 1203109 12131110 121317111 12131112 12128113

—f— FommFactor, Inc. —-A—- 58P 500 ---gr--- RDG Semiconductor Composite

*2100 invested on 12/31/03 in stock orindex, including reinvestment of dividends.
Indexes calculated on month-end basis.

Cumulative Total Return
December 31, December 31, December 31, December31l, December31l, December 31,

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
FormFactor, Inc. $ 100.0C $ 149.1: $ 60.8: $ 34.6¢6 $ 31.2: % 42.0¢
S&P 500 100.0( 126.4¢ 145.5; 148.5¢ 172.3% 228.1¢
RDG Semiconductor
Composite 100.0( 159.67 182.2¢ 176.0( 178.5: 236.9¢
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Iltem 6: Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial datderived from our consolidated financial statetaemhis data should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statemseand the related notes, and "ltem 7: ManagemPBrgtussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" containedvetteze in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1)

(@)

(3)
(4)

()

(6)

(7)

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
Fiscal 2012 (1)(2) 2011 (1)(2) 2010 (1)(2) 2009 (1)(2)
2013 (1)(2)(4. 5)(7) (5)(6) (3)(4)(6) (5)(6)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 231,537 $178,53" $169,32! $188,56! $135,33!
Gross profit (loss) 42,28¢ 25,33: 20,95¢ (2,272) 81¢
Net loss (57,689 (35,546 (65,98) (188,28() (155,65
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (106 $ (070 $ (@13) $ (379 $ (3.1%

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secui$ 151,09: $165,78¢ $296,69. $347,23! $449,23!

Working capital 173,88: 194,12! 308,38( 370,76°  482,60°
Total assets 340,70t 395,68: 383,07: 466,05 655,96
Capital leases, net of current portion — 34C — — —
Total stockholders' equity 294,08t 339,25¢ 346,65: 411,20: 577,78:
Number of employees 961 1,021 70¢ 72¢ 80¢

Fiscal 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 neeinclude restructuring charges, net of $4.7onill $2.9 million, $0.5
million, $15.9 million and $8.8 million, respectiyerelating to our global restructuring and rearigation actions. See
Note t—Restructuring Charges of the Notes to the Conatdidi Financial Statements.

Fiscal 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 nee®iclude impairment charges of $0.8 million.4%@illion, $0.5 million,
$56.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively. Seetdl 7—Impairment of Long-lived Assets of the Ndi@she Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Fiscal 2010 gross loss includes an out-ofgekadjustment related to cost of revenues thattessin $2.9 million of
additional expense offset by an income tax bewéff0.5 million.

Fiscal 2013 net loss includes $0.3 milliomiktitable to loss on sale of a subsidiary. Fis€dl®net loss includes a $3.5
million gain resulting from the release of the lldjp previously recorded as a secured borrowing ttuthe dismissal of our
complaint against a customer.

Fiscal 2012 includes a $25.5 million tax bénfedm the release of deferred tax asset valualtmwances due to deferred tax
liabilities established on the acquired identif@bitangible assets from our acquisition of Miciahy. Additionally, fiscal
2011 includes a $2.5 million tax benefit from tléease of the deferred tax asset valuation allowvémca non-U.S.
jurisdiction. We recorded a deferred tax assetatan allowance of $57.7 million in fiscal 2009 ags the U.S. excess ti
benefits, including prior years, based on our aseest of the realizability of our U.S. deferred #ssets. This charge resul
in an income tax provision, rather than an incoaxebtenefit, for fiscal 2009.

Fiscal 2011 and 2010 include a $0.3 milliod &i.1 million net benefit, respectively, from @mltions on amounts previously
reserved as bad debts. Fiscal 2009's selling, geaed administrative expenses includes a proviiobad debts of $5.0
million.

Fiscal 2012 includes the following as a resftilhe MicroProbe Acquisition: $19.8 million inwenue, $5.4 million in the
amortization of intangibles expense, $2.6 milliefease of pre-existing backlog, $0.2 million chaiaestep-up depreciation
on the fair value of fixed assets, resulting ir6addmillion net loss. As part of the MicroProbe Aiggition, a patent lawsuit
was settled with a benefit of $3.3 million.
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Item 7: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relate@s included elsewhere in this Annual Report om¥b0-K. In addition to historical
consolidated financial information, the followingsdussion and analysis contains forward-lookingestgents that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions as described under the "Note RagpFbrward-Looking Statements" that appears eaiiliethis Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Our actual results could differ materially fratmose anticipated by these forwrlooking statements as a result of many factoduiting
those discussed under "ltem 1A: Risk Factors" deelvehere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and suppedigion, high performance advanced semiconducademprobe card products and
solutions. We are the largest probe card manufactand semiconductor manufacturers use our wabdrepcards to perform wafer sort and
on semiconductor die, or chips, prior to wafer siagon. We work closely with our customers on proddesign, as each wafer probe card is :
custom product that is specific to the chip andewvdgsigns of the customer. During wafer sort astl & wafer probe card is mounted on a
prober and electrically connected to a semiconduegier. The wafer probe card is used as an agero connect electrically with and test
individual chips on a wafer. Our wafer probe caadsused by our customers in the front end of éineiconductor manufacturing process, as
are our image sensor, parametric or in-line prayds: We operate in a single industry segment awd Herived substantially all of our
revenues from the sale of wafer probe cards ingatjm our proprietary technology, including ourd#iSpring interconnect technology and
our ATRE test technology.

During fiscal 2013 , we saw revenues increase $&8I®n from $178.5 million in 2012 to $231.5 midh in 2013. Revenue growth wi
driven by the SoC product market which was up $&81Bon when compared with 2012 , driven by thepimat of a full year of sales from our
MicroProbe acquisition. DRAM revenues were dowrB$8illion versus 2012 due to weaker personal coempdemand and certain supply
chain and manufacturing execution issues we expagiin connection with wafer probe cards for eadagustomer. Flash revenues were d
$6.1 million due to lower unit volume in the flastemory markets.

During fiscal 2013 , we continued the activitiegifned in 2010 to restructure our operations oify our overall structure and better
align our operations with the current businessmmment, streamline our manufacturing structureraddice both manufacturing cost and
cycle times. As part of this simplification, we texbd our workforce by 48 full-time employees, or 5éturing fiscal 2013 , as compared to
fiscal 2012 . In January 2014, we implemented gawizational restructuring and cost reduction ptaimprove our efficiency and
effectiveness while better positioning the compmyprofitability. As part of this plan, we elimited 51 full-time employees or approximately
5% as compared to the end of fiscal 2013. In asiditive reduced our temporary workforce by 9 pos#io

In the latter part of the third fiscal quarter @13, we began to experience a significant decrieasgstomer orders for our products
caused primarily by supply chain and manufactueregcution challenges that resulted in lost ordeoma Japan customer and by a fire at a
major customer's China facility that impacted probal orders. This decrease in customer orderscalsizd-over into the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2013. As a consequence, this decline resuttdower than forecasted manufacturing utilizatamd coupled with lower margins on a
specific high-volume DRAM design, increased waryaand service expenses and excess inventory charggatively affected our gross
margin for the third quarter of fiscal 2013.

We incurred net losses of $57.7 million and $35ilion in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 , respectizelThe increase in net loss is
primarily attributable to a one-time $25.5 millitax benefit from the release of valuation allowanee our deferred tax assets (DTAS) in
connection with our MicroProbe Acquisition in theufth quarter of fiscal 2012. Deferred tax liaksit (DTLS) were established on the acqu
identifiable intangible assets. These DTLs excedldedcquired DTAs by $25.5 million. The excess BEllowed us to realize a tax benefit
releasing the valuation allowances associated euittDTAs. Accordingly, the valuation allowancesaportion of our DTAs were released
resulted in a one-time income tax benefit of $26illion in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. Inmoection with the MicroProbe Acquisition,
we also agreed to settle patent infringement, uefanpetition, trade secret misappropriation arehbh of confidence claims against Astria
Semiconductor Holding, Inc., its subsidiary MicrosPBe Incorporated and a former FormFactor employke.settlement in favor of
FormFactor resulted in a one-time benefit of $3iian in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012.

The increase in net loss for fiscal 2013 is als@battable to higher intangible amortization cogtsegration expenses and a loss on the
sale of a MicroProbe subsidiary in Reno, Nevada&s€texpenses relating to the MicroProbe Acquisttiteded $18.4 million and $12.1 milli
for fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively, whiacludes amortization of the fixed
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asset fair value step-up. Excluding these non-remMicroProbe Acquisition related benefits andtsp our gross margins and operating
margins improved as a result of our ongoing initeg to reduce manufacturing overhead costs, I@r@duction material costs and reduce
operating expenses.

The net loss for fiscal 2013 includes the entisedl year's operational activity of MicroProbe, efhivas acquired in October 2012. In
addition, the net loss includes restructuring caarf $4.7 million , impairment charges of $0.8lianil , loss on the sale of a subsidiary of $0.3
million and $1.3 million in acquisition and integin costs.

The net loss for fiscal 2012 includes MicroProberaging activity from the acquisition date on O@ohk6, 2012 to fiscal 2012 year-end
of $19.8 million in revenue and $6.4 million of dess, which includes $8.2 million of intangible artization and other expenses. In addition,
the net loss includes restructuring charges of §8ligon, impairment charges of $0.4 million, an8.@ million in acquisition and integration
costs, offset by a benefit of $25.5 million fronetfelease of the U.S jurisdiction deferred tax agakeation allowance resulting from the
deferred tax liability recorded in connection witie $77.6 million of intangible assets acquirethie business combination. The net loss also
included a gain of $3.3 million from our litigatiGettlement.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable secuaitié restricted cash totaled $151.5 million adedember 28, 2013 , as compared to
$166.1 million at December 29, 2012 . The decr@asar cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesuaind restricted cash was primarily
due to the use of cash for operating activitie3dn3. We believe that we will be able to satisfy working capital requirements for at least the
next twelve months with the liquidity provided byrcexisting cash, cash equivalents and market&alergies. If we are unsuccessful in
increasing our revenues, improving our operatirfigiehcy, reducing our cash outlays or increasingavailable cash through financing, our
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiedexiine in future fiscal years.

We believe the following information is importaotunderstanding our business, our financial statésres well as the remainder of this
discussion and analysis of our financial conditimad results of operations:

Fiscal YearFiscal years ended December 28, 2013 and Decerib2022 had 52 weeks each and fiscal year endeeniisar 31,
2011 had 53 weeks. Our fiscal year ends on theSkistrday in December.

MicroProbe AcquisitionOn October 16, 2012, pursuant to an Agreement &rdd® Merger and Reorganization dated as of August
31, 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of FormFacterged with and into Astria Semiconductor Holdim.| including its subsidiary, Micro-
Probe Incorporated (together “MicroProbe”), withdtiProbe continuing as the surviving corporatiod as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
FormFactor.

MicroProbe was a semiconductor equipment compaatydisigns, develops, manufactures, sells andcesriigh performance, cust
designed advanced SoC wafer probe cards and araligst equipment used in the semiconductor imgusticroProbe was a global company
with operations in the U.S. and Asia, including 1@&hiSouth Korea, Singapore and Taiwan. The aciuisif MicroProbe enabled us to
leverage the combination of two advanced wafer @icdrd manufacturers and expand our SoC produtfbpoito meaningfully diversify our
business.

RevenuesNe derive substantially all of our revenues fromdurct sales of wafer probe cards. Revenues froncuatomers are subject
to fluctuations due to factors including, but natited to, design cycles, technology adoption ratespetitive pressure to reduce prices,
cyclicality of the different end markets into whiolir customers' products are sold and market donditn the semiconductor industry.
Historically, increases in revenues have resultechfincreased demand for our existing productsirttieduction of new, more complex
products and the penetration of new markets. Wea&xpat revenues from the sale of wafer probescailil continue to account for
substantially all of our revenues for the foreséeélture.

Cost of Revenue€.ost of revenues consists primarily of manufactyrimaterials, payroll, shipping and handling costanufacturing-
related overhead and amortization of certain intdagssets. Our manufacturing operations rely upbmited number of suppliers to provide
key components and materials for our products, soiménich are a sole-source. We order materialssagblies based on backlog and
forecasted customer orders. Tooling and setup celsted to changing manufacturing lots at our §eppare also included in the cost of
revenues. We expense all warranty costs and ingeptovisions as cost of revenues.

We design, manufacture and sell custom advanceerpabbe cards into the semiconductor test mawkath is subject to significant
variability and demand fluctuations. Our wafer pratards are complex products that are custom pecifi chip design of a customer and
must be delivered on relatively short lead-times@spared to our overall manufacturing processodtsadvanced wafer probe cards are
manufactured in low volumes and must be deliveredetatively short leadimes, it is not uncommon for us to acquire productnaterials an
start certain production activities based on edth@roduction yields and forecasted demand poiar in excess of actual demand for our
wafer probe cards.
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We record an adjustment to our inventory valuat@mrestimated obsolete and non-sellable inventdréessed on assumptions about future
demand, past usage, changes to manufacturing pexcaad overall market conditions.

Research and DevelopmeResearch and development expenses include expetstes to product development, engineering and
material costs. Research and development cosexpansed as incurred. We plan to continue to innesisearch and development activitie
improve and enhance existing product technologiesta develop new technologies for current and pevducts and for new applications.

Selling, General and AdministrativBelling, general and administrative expenses irckipenses related to sales, marketing, and
administrative personnel, internal and outsidessadpresentatives' commissions, market researcharsiilting, and other sales, marketing,
administrative activities, amortization of certaitangible assets, and provision for doubtful actsuThese expenses also include costs for
protecting and enforcing our intellectual propeights and regulatory compliance costs.

Restructuring Chargefestructuring charges include costs related to eyegl termination benefits, cost of lolged assets abandor
or impaired, as well as contract termination costs.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assefssset impairment charges include charges assoaidtedhe writedown of assets that have no fut
expected benefit or assets for which circumstairg#isate that the carrying amount of these assagsmot be recoverable, as well as
adjustments to the carrying amount of our assdisfbesale.

Use of Estimated.he preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with generally accepted accountanigciples in th
United States of America (“GAAP”) requires manageite make estimates and assumptions that affeaethorted amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assetd kabilities at the date of the financial statetseand the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual reszéuld differ from those estimates. Estimates of@nge as new information is obtained.
believe that the estimates, assumptions and judignim@rolved in revenue recognition, fair value odinketable securities, allowance for
doubtful accounts, reserves for product warrardyyation of obsolete and slow moving inventory ggssicquired and liabilities assumed in
business combinations, legal contingencies, rdalinaof goodwill, the assessment of recoverabibf long-lived assets, valuation and
recognition of stock-based compensation, provi§ionncome taxes and related deferred tax asselsation and tax liabilities and accruals for
other liabilities have the greatest potential intgacour consolidated financial statements. Actaallts could differ from those estimates.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based upon mgatiolated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAIR. dreparation of these financial statements requsrto make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftassd liabilities at the date of the financiakstents and the reported amounts of net
revenue and expenses in the reporting period. Gaouating policies are fundamental to understandingfinancial condition and results of
operations reported in our financial statementsratated disclosures. We have identified the folfmpaccounting policies as being critical
because they require our management to make darticdifficult, subjective and/or complex judgmerebout the effect of matters that are
inherently uncertain. We evaluate our estimatesasmsdmptions on an ongoing basis and we basedbt@s®tes and assumptions on current
facts, historical experiences and various otheofacand assumptions that are believed to be raatmuander the circumstances. Actual result:
may differ materially and adversely from our estiesa Our management has discussed the developseattion, application and disclosure
these critical accounting policies with the Auddr@mittee of our Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue when persuasive evidenae afrangement exists, title and risk of loss ressferred to
the customer, the selling price is fixed or deterabie and collection of the related receivable&sonably assured. In instances where final
acceptance of the deliverable is specified by tietamer, revenue is deferred until all acceptaniteria have been met. Revenues from the
licensing of our design and manufacturing techngleghich have not been material to date, are reizedrover the term of the license
agreement or when the significant contractual eiiams have been fulfilled.

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pxer the fair value of identifiable assets aceisind liabilities assumed.
We have determined that we operate in one repersgdgment consisting of two operating segmenttingléo our FormFactor and MicroPro
product groups. We further have determined thatifermpurposes of our goodwill impairment analysie,have two reporting units relating to
our FormFactor and MicroProbe product groups anitiware
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both associated with the design, development, naatwfe, sale and support of precision, high peréorte advanced semiconductor wafer
probe cards.

In September 2011, the FASB amended its guidansenplify testing goodwill for impairment, allowingn entity to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is reseey to perform a two-step quantitative goodwilpairment test. If an entity determines as a
result of the qualitative assessment that it iseritely than not that the fair value of a repagtumit is less than its carrying amount, then the
guantitative impairment test is required. Otherwisefurther testing is required.

The performance of the quantitative impairment iregblves a two-step process. The first step ofitingairment test involves comparing
the fair values of the applicable reporting unitéhwtheir aggregate carrying values, including geitldWe generally determine the fair values
of our reporting units using a combination of thedme approach (that includes the use of the digedwash flow method) and the market
approach (guideline company approach) valuatiorhatetlogies. If the carrying amount of a reportimit @xceeds the fair value of that
reporting unit, we perform the second step of thengitative impairment test to determine the amadiimtpairment loss. The second step of
the goodwill impairment test involves comparing implied fair value of the affected reporting unifoodwill with the carrying value of that
goodwill. We acquired MicroProbe and performediavalue assessment as of the acquisition dateb@ctl6, 2012, resulting in our current
goodwill balance.

As we entered the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 fased increasing operational and financial chgkes) including manufacturing
overcapacity and weak operating performance whidhd a deterioration in market conditions. Assule during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2013, in conjunction with our annual goodwill impaent test, we performed the first step of the step goodwill impairment test relating to
our two reporting units to ascertain if the cargyiralues of the net assets exceeded fair valuesréults of the first step of the impairment
indicated that the goodwill of the FormFactor anigfdProbe reporting units were not impaired, asetstimated fair values in excess of
carrying values were approximately $32 million &4d. million, respectively, or 16% and 39%, over ¢therying value of the reporting units,
respectively. As a result, we did not record angaimment to our goodwill as of December 28, 2018 €valuation of goodwill and intangible
assets for impairment requires the exercise offgignt judgment. In the event of future changebuisiness conditions, we will be required to
reassess and update our forecasts and estimategdature impairment analyses. If the resultshaise analyses are lower than current
estimates, a material impairment charge may resuftat time. See note 9 to Notes to Consolidatedri€ial StatementsGoodwill and
Intangible Asset, for further details.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:We test long-lived assets or asset groups suphoperty, plant and equipment and intangibles for
recoverability when events or changes in circuntstarindicate that their carrying amounts may naeleverable. Circumstances that could
trigger a review include, but are not limited tmgrsficant decreases in the market price of thetssgnificant adverse changes in the busines:
climate or legal factors; accumulation of costsidigantly in excess of the amount originally exfeetfor the acquisition or construction of the
asset; current period cash flow or operating lossesbined with a history of losses or a forecastasftinuing losses associated with the use o
the asset; and current expectation that the asbenhovre likely than not be sold or disposed ofrsfigantly before the end of its estimated us
life.

Recoverability is assessed based on the carryirmyats of the asset or asset group and the sune afrttiscounted cash flows expected
to result from the use and the eventual dispostii@fsset. An impairment loss is recognized whercarrying amount is not recoverable and
exceeds fair value.

Significant judgments and assumptions are requiréide forecast of future operating results usetthépreparation of the estimated
future cash flows, including profit margins, lorgy+n forecasts of the amounts and timing of ovenaltket growth and our percentage of that
market, groupings of assets, discount rates angriat growth rates. In addition, significant estiesmand assumptions are required in the
determination of the fair value of our intangibksets and tangible long-lived assets, includingaoement cost, economic obsolescence, and
the value that could be realized in an orderlyitigtion. Changes in these estimates could haveterimaadverse effect on the assessment of
our long-lived assets, thereby requiring us toevdidown the assets.

As we entered the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 fased increasing operational and financial chaken including manufacturing
overcapacity and weak operating performance whidhid a deterioration in market conditions. Assule during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2013, we reviewed the recoverability of our longell asset groups and we concluded that our busiveesable to fully recover the carrying
amounts of our assets.

Business AcquisitionsOur consolidated financial statements include fherations of an acquired business after the coroplef the
Microprobe Acquisition in October 2012. We accofantacquired businesses using the acquisition ntetfi@ccounting. The acquisition
method of accounting for acquired businesses reguamong other things, that assets acquired alitities assumed be recognized at their
estimated fair values as of the acquisition datd,that the fair value of acquired intangible as#®tluding in-process research and
development, or IPR&D, be recorded on the balaheets Also, transaction
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costs are expensed as incurred. Any excess oltlvhase price over the assigned fair values ofii@ssets acquired is recorded as goodwill

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securitie€ash and cash equivalents consist of depositéiramtial instruments which are
readily convertible into cash and have originalumiéies of 90 days or less at the time of acquisitiMarketable securities consist primarily of
highly liquid investments with maturities of greatlhan 90 days when purchased. We generally cjassif marketable securities at the date of
acquisition as available-farale. These securities are reported at fair valtiethe related unrealized gains and losses induiéAccumulatec
other comprehensive income (loss)", a componestawkholder's equity, net of tax. Any unrealizesskes which are considered to be other-
than-temporary impairments are recorded in "Otheoine, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Qipeisa Realized gains (losses) on the
sale of marketable securities are determined ubkmgpecific-identification method and recordetfGther income, net" in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. We measure our cashagois and marketable securities at fair value.

All of our available-for-sale investments are sgbje a periodic impairment review. We record argkdo earnings when a decline in
fair value is significantly below cost basis andged to be other-than-temporary, or have othecatdrs of impairments. If the fair value of an
available-for-sale investment is less than its dined cost basis, an other-themporary impairment is triggered in circumstaneésre (1) w
intend to sell the instrument, (2) it is more liké&han not that we will be required to sell thetinment before recovery of its amortized cost
basis, or (3) a credit loss exists where we derpect to recover the entire amortized cost bddiseoinstrument. If we intend to sell or it is
more likely than not that we will be required tdl siee available-forsale investment before recovery of its amortizest basis, we recognize
other-than-temporary impairment charge equal teetiigre difference between the investment's anextoost basis and its fair value.

Restructuring Charges: Restructuring charges include costs related tol@yee termination benefits, long-lived assets imgohor
abandoned, and contract termination costs. Therdetation of when we accrue for employee termimabenefits and which standard applies
depends on whether the termination benefits areigegd under a one-time benefit arrangement or uadam-going benefit arrangement. For
restructuring charges recorded as an on-going hemedingement, a liability for post-employment b8ts is recorded when payment is
probable, the amount is reasonably estimable, lmdhligation relates to rights that have vestegcoumulated. For restructuring charges
recorded as a one-time benefit arrangement, weyné® a liability for employee termination benefitken a plan of termination, approved by
management and establishing the terms of the hemedingement, has been communicated to employbediming of the recognition of one-
time employee termination benefits is dependentithe period of time the employees are requiraénder service after communication. If
employees are not required to render service iardadreceive the termination benefits or if empley will not be retained to render service
beyond the minimum legal notification period, allay for the termination benefits is recognizedtae communication date. In instances
where employees will be retained to render se@end the minimum legal notification period, thebllity for employee termination benefits
is measured initially at the communication datesblasn the fair value of the liability as of thertémation date and is recognized ratably over
the future service period. We continually evaltatadequacy of the remaining liabilities under mstructuring initiatives.

We record charges related to long-lived assete tahfandoned when the assets cease to be usedvi&hease using a building or other
asset with remaining non-cancelable lease paynecentinuing beyond our use period, we record alltgtfor remaining payments under lease
arrangements, as well as for contract terminatasts; that will continue to be incurred under atmt for its remaining term without
economic benefit to us at the cease-use date. @ieesignificance of, and the timing of the exemutdf such activities, this process is comple
and involves periodic reassessments of estimates miathe time the original decisions were madguding evaluating real estate market
conditions for expected vacancy periods and sugeleants. Although we believe that these estinwtesrately reflect the costs of our
restructuring plans, actual results may differréhg requiring us to record additional provisiomgsaeverse a portion of such provisions.

Warranty Obligations: We offer warranties on certain products and réeoliability for the estimated future costs asates with
warranty claims at the time revenue is recogniZée. warranty liability is based upon historical exipnce and our estimate of the level of
future costs. While we engage in extensive produatity programs and processes, our warranty diigas affected by product failure rates,
material usage and service delivery costs incurr@trrecting a product failure. We continuouslynitor product returns for warranty and
maintain a reserve for the related expenses basadaur historical experience and any specificialgntified field failures. As we sell new
products to our customers, we must exercise coraitiejudgment in estimating the expected failates. This estimating process is based or
historical experience of similar products, as waslivarious other assumptions that we believe te&®onable under the circumstances.

Inventory Valuation: We state our inventories at the lower of cosinapally standard cost which approximates actaat on a first ir
first out basis) or market value. We continuallgess the value of our inventory and will periodicalrite down its value for estimated excess
inventory and product obsolescence based upon asisun® about forecasted future sales, past usadenarket conditions. On a quarterly
basis, we review inventory quantities on hand amdrer under non-cancelable purchase commitmermsmparison to our past usage and
estimated forecast of product demand for the ne&xbs
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twelve months to determine what inventory quargijtitany, may not be sellable. Based on this aislyve write down the affected inventory
value for estimated excess and obsolescence ch#ge® point of loss recognition, a new, lowestbasis for that inventory is established,
and subsequent changes in facts and circumstanasst desult in the restoration or increase in tieatly established cost basis. Market
conditions are subject to change, and demand foprmmualucts can fluctuate significantly. Actual cangption of inventories could differ from
forecasted demand and this difference could hawatarial impact on our gross profit and inventoajeinces based on additional provisions
excess or obsolete inventories or a benefit froerstile of inventories previously written down.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: A majority of our trade receivables are deriveahf sales to large multinational semiconductor
manufacturers throughout the world. In order to iwsrpotential credit losses, we perform ongoingdir evaluations of our customers'
financial condition. An allowance for doubtful acets is maintained for probable credit losses bagea our assessment of the expected
collectability of all accounts receivable. The albnce for doubtful accounts is reviewed on a quigrtesis to assess the adequacy of the
allowance. We take into consideration (1) any eimstances of which we are aware of a customer'slityalo meet its financial obligations ai
(2) our judgments as to prevailing economic condgiin the industry and their impact on our cust@eme

Income Taxes: We utilize the asset and liability method of aauting for income taxes, under which deferred tatesdetermined
based on the temporary differences between thadiabstatement and tax basis of assets and tiabilising tax rates expected to be in effect
during the years in which the basis differencegre and for operating losses and tax credit aammgrds. We estimate our provision for
income taxes and amounts ultimately payable orveredle in numerous tax jurisdictions around theldvdestimates involve interpretations
regulations and are inherently complex. Resolubibimcome tax treatments in individual jurisdict®omay not be known for many years after
completion of any fiscal year. We are requiredvaleate the realizability of our deferred tax asset an ongoing basis to determine whether
there is a need for a valuation allowance with eespo such deferred tax assets. A valuation atmeas recorded when it is more likely than
not that some or all of the deferred tax assetsnwetibe realized. Significant management judgnientquired in determining any valuation
allowance recorded against deferred tax asseevdiuating the ability to recover deferred tax tssge consider available positive and
negative evidence giving greater weight to our mecemulative losses and our ability to carrybamdsks against prior taxable income and,
commensurate with objective verifiability, the foast of future taxable income including the revieos$éemporary differences and the
implementation of feasible and prudent tax planstigtegies.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positidentar expected to be taken in a tax return & inore likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by thertg authorities, based on the technical merithefposition. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from suclitipas are then measured based on the largestibdrathas a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settle&Ve report a liability for unrecognized tax bBtseresulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. tjlesathese reserves in light of changing facts@raimstances, such as the closing of a tax
audit or the refinement of an estimate. To therdieat the final tax outcome of these mattersfferent than the amounts recorded, such
differences will impact the provision for incomexés in the period in which such determination islema he provision for income taxes
includes the impact of reserve provisions and ceang reserves that are considered appropriateslaas the related net interest. We
recognize interest and penalties related to unrgzed tax benefits within the income tax provisiecrued interest and penalties are include
within the related tax liability caption line inglconsolidated balance sheet.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjarisdictions around the world. A number of yeanray elapse before an uncertain
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésitoften difficult to predict the final outcome thre timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our reseffee income taxes reflect the most likely outcoive adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, in light of changing facts amduwinstances. Settlement of any particular positmunid require the use of cash.

Stock-Based CompensationStock-based compensation cost is estimated afr#im date based on the fair-value of the awaddisn
recognized as expense ratably over the requisitéceeperiod of the award. Determining the appratgrifair-value model and calculating the
fair value of stock-based awards at the grant dafeires considerable judgment, including estingasitock price volatility and expected option
life. Forfeitures are required to be estimatedattime of grant and revised, if necessary, in agbent periods if actual forfeitures differ
significantly from those estimated.

We develop our estimates based on historical datararket information which can change significastier time. A small change in
the estimates used can result in a relatively lahgange in the estimated valuation. We use thekBatoles option valuation model to value
employee stock option awards while the fair valueréstricted stock awards and restricted stoctsusimeasured based on the closing marke
price of our common stock on the dated of grant.diveently estimate when and if market and perfarceabased grants will be earned. If the
awards are not considered probable of achievemeramount of stock-based compensation is recognizee consider the award to be
probable, expense is recorded over the estimateitegeriod in the case of marketssed awards and on an accelerated attribution Irirothe
case of
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performance-based awards. To the extent that sungstions are incorrect, the amount of stock-basetbensation recorded will be increasec
or decreased.

The most significant assumptions impacted by mamagés judgment are the expected volatility andetkgected life of the options.
The expected dividend yield and expected risk-iinéerest rate are not as significant to the cataneof fair value. In addition, adjustments to
our estimates of the number of share-based payaweantds that we expect to vest did have a signifitapact on the recorded share-based
compensation expense.

Expected volatility: The value of a stock option is derived from itdgmtial for appreciation. The more volatile theckt the more
valuable the option becomes because of the grpassibility of significant changes in stock pri€ur computation of expected volatility is
based on a blend of historical volatility of ounmmon stock and implied volatility of traded optidiespurchase shares of our common stock.
Our decision to incorporate implied volatility wiagsed on our assessment that implied volatilifguiflicly traded options in our common
stock is expected to be more reflective of marketditions and, therefore, can reasonably be exgéotbe a better indicator of expected
volatility than historical volatility of our commaostock alone.

Expected life and forfeiture rateThe expected life also has a significant effecthe value of the option. The longer the term,rtiuee
time the option holder has to allow the stock ptixecrease without a cash investment and thesmibre valuable the option. Further, longer
option terms provide more opportunity to exploitrke highs. However, employees are not requireaaib until the end of the contractual te
of a nontransferable option to exercise. Accordingle are required to estimate the expected tertheobption. We determine the expected life
by considering several factors, including histdrmation exercise behavior, post vesting turnoaes, contractual terms and vesting periods
the options granted. Similarly, we base our estnadiforfeiture on historical option cancellatioeHavior including pre-vesting turnover rates.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our operating resal$ a percentage of revenues:

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Revenues 100.C% 100.C % 100.C( %
Cost of revenues 81.7 85.¢ 87.¢
Gross profit 18.c 14.2 12.4
Operating expenses:
Research and development 18.2 22.t 25.7
Selling, general and administrative 23.C 27.€ 27.€
Restructuring charges, net 2.C 1.6 0.2
Loss on sale of subsidiary 0.1 — —
Impairment of long-lived assets 0.3 0.2 0.2
Gain on settlement of litigation — (1.9 —
Total operating expenses 43.€ 50.1 53.¢
Operating loss (25.9 (35.9 (41.5)
Interest income, net 0.2 0.4 0.8
Other income, net 0.2 0.8 0.€
Loss before income taxes (24.¢) (34.7) (40.7)
Benefit from income taxes — (14.9) (1.2

Net loss (24.9% (19.9% (39.0%
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Fiscal Years Ended December 28, 2013 and DecemBelR12

Revenues

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of Change
2013 Revenues 2012 Revenues $ %

(In thousands)
Revenues by Market:

SoC $ 115,59° 49.9% $ 46,58¢ 26.1% $ 69,017  148.1%
DRAM 92,60: 40.C 102,49 57.4 (9,89€) (9.7)
Flash 23,33 10.1 29,45( 16. (6,119  (20.9)
Total revenues ~ $ 231,53;  100.% $ 178,53  100.% $ 52,99¢ 29.7%

Overall, our revenues increased by 29.7% , or $68ln , in fiscal 2013 as compared to fiscal 2010ut of the total revenues of
$231.5 million for fiscal 2013 , $93.2 million 0608% , was attributable to MicroProbe, compare#ili®.8 million or 11.1% for fiscal 2012.
MicroProbe's sales were not included in our codsddid revenues for the nine months ended Septe28b@012 as we only acquired
Microprobe in October 2012.

Our revenues increased 148.1% year-over-year iS¢z market but decreased 9.7% in DRAM and 20.8%ash memory. These
fluctuations in revenue were primarily driven by dlicroProbe Acquisition in the SoC product mar&at unit volume in the DRAM and
Flash memory product markets. Smart phone andttBit&M demand increased in fiscal 2013 comparefistal 2012 but was offset by a
significant decrease in personal computer, or R&tae¢ DRAM demand. The reduction in Flash memoweneie was primarily in the NAND
Flash area resulting from lower demand for our eigharallelism Flash memory product.

Revenues by Geographic Reg

The following table sets forth our revenues by gapgic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2013 Revenues 2012 Revenues

(In thousands)

Taiwan $ 64,62 27.9% $  36,96¢ 20.7%
North America 63,05! 27.2 27,50¢ 15.4
South Korea 45,82 19.¢ 58,51t 32.¢
Asia-Pacific (1) 21,17 9.2 22,57: 123
Europe 20,02 8.€ 11,66: 6.t
Japan 16,83¢ 7.3 21,31 11.¢
Total Revenues $ 231,53 100.(% $ 178,53 100.(%
Q) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region exc&aitvan, South Korea, and Japan, which are disdlesparatel

Geographic revenue information is based on thetilmt#o which we ship the customer product. Fomepke, if a certain South Korean
customer purchases through their North Americarsisiidry and requests the products to be shippad eddress in Asia-Pacific, this sale will
be reflected in the revenue for Asia-Pacific ratifan North America.

The increase in North America and Europe salefidoal 2013, when compared to the same period 2 2&as driven by SoC product
shipments primarily realized from the business wguaed through our MicroProbe Acquisition. MicroBe's sales were not included in our
consolidated revenues for the nine months endeté®éer 29, 2012, given the business combinationceagpleted on October 16, 2012. The
increase in Taiwan sales for fiscal 2013, when cmaegb to fiscal 2012, was driven by a combinatioSo€ product shipments from
MicroProbe and an increase in mobile phone aneétdizised DRAM and Flash memory demand. The deche&muth Korea revenues for
fiscal 2013, when compared to the same period ir2 2@as primarily due to reduced PC-related DRAM rmgndemand, based on a reduced
overall end-
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market and lower demand for our higher parallelidash memory product. The decrease in Japan sakesliven by lower demand for our
SmartMatrix product at a major mobile DRAM produckhis lower demand was primarily the consequeticedain supply chain and
manufacturing challenges we experienced in thergkbalf of fiscal 2013. Asia-Pacific revenue wastigely consistent year over year.

Gross Profit

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Gross profit $ 4228 $ 2533
Gross margin 18.2% 14.2%

Gross margin fluctuates with revenue levels, produg, selling prices, factory loading and matedasts. For fiscal 2013 , gross profit
increased $17.0 million primarily due to the effe€the MicroProbe Acquisition and our cost redotinitiatives to lower material costs, labor
expenses and overhead charges. This improvemgnb$s margin was partially offset by higher amattizn of intangible assets that resulted
from the MicroProbe Acquisition.

Gross profit also improved in fiscal 2013 due to cest reduction activities including the effecttoé cessation of our Japan memory
product assembly and test activities in the foarthrter of 2012 , and other personnel restructuaigpns and material cost reduction
initiatives. Gross profit improvement was offsetdiyincrease in net inventory provision write-dowhn$3.2 million during fiscal 2013. The
value of previously reserved materials that weetlis manufacturing and shipped for fiscal 2013 2042 was $2.6 million and $1.3 million,
respectively.

Gross margin included intangible asset amortizatiqrense and inventory and fixed asset fair valegp expense of $13.8 million a
$8.5 million in fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectiveBlated to the MicroProbe Acquisition. Stock-basethpensation expense included in gross
margin for fiscal 2013 and 2012 was $2.4 milliom &2.6 million , respectively. The decrease inlstbased compensation is due to less
unvested options being earned in fiscal 2013 coatptr the prior year.

Future gross margins may be adversely impactedvsgrl levels of product revenues, even though we taken significant steps to
reduce our operating cost structure. Our gross imgrgay also be adversely affected if we are reguio record additional inventory provision
charges and inventory write-downs if estimated agerselling prices of products held in finisheddpand work in process inventories are
below the manufacturing cost of those products.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 42,13¢ $ 40,13(
% of revenues 18.2% 22.5%

Research and development expenses for fiscal 2@t8ased $2.0 million , or 5% , compared to therprear. While research and
development expenses increased due to the fulliggsact of the MicroProbe Acquisition, this increagas partially offset by a decrease in
other expenses as a result of our integrationiiesyincluding cost reduction efforts. As a pericef revenues, research and development
expenses decreased 4.3% in fiscal 2013 as comfzafisdal 2012 .

In fiscal 2013, costs related to our researchdeetlopment activities increased from fiscal 20#iRe to a net increase in headcount
personnel related costs of $2.9 million , reflegtadditional headcount from the MicroProbe Acqigsitand headcount reduction from on-
going restructuring activities. This increase wHset by decreases in project and material cos§d millionand other miscellaneous costs
$0.5 million , as compared to fiscal 2012. Stockdthcompensation expenses included within reseadidevelopment expenses were $3.4
million and $4.3 million , respectively, for fiscaD13 and 2012 .

Our research and development expenses fluctuggegsts transition from development to manufactyrdepending on the stage of
completion and level of effort related to each pevjundertaken. We are continuing our strategiestments in research and development,
including investments in new vertical technologsedted to testing SoC devices, advanced MicroSpnitggconnect technology, new process
technologies and a new platform architecture folNYDAFlash memory
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wafer probe cards. We suspended development &sigipecific to our next generation Matrix platfoland are consolidating our developmen
and engineering efforts to extend the capabilitiethe current Matrix platform. We remain committedoroduct development in new and
emerging technologies.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrative $ 53217 $ 49,23
% of revenues 23.(% 27.€%

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise&4.0 million , or 8% , in fiscal 2013 compatedhe prior year. Selling, general
and administrative expenses increased primarilytdule impact of the MicroProbe Acquisition. Apercent of revenues, selling, general anc
administrative expenses decreased 4.6% in fiscE3 28 compared to fiscal 2012 due to cost reduetfifmmts.

In fiscal 2013 , salary and payroll related costssklling, general and administrative functions@ased by $3 million , respectively, as
compared to fiscal 2012 primarily due to the impafdhe MicroProbe Acquisition. Additionally, intgible asset amortization costs increased
by $2.3 million in fiscal 2013 as compared to fis2@12 . The above increases were partially ofised $1.8 milliondecrease in integration a
acquisition-related expenses as compared to f5¥H? . Stock-based compensation expense includeglling, general and administrative
expenses remained unchanged at $6.2 million eafiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 .

Restructuring Charges, ne

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Restructuring charges, net $ 4,65¢ $ 2,91
% of revenues 2.0% 1.€%

Restructuring charges increased $1.7 million iodi013 from fiscal 2012 . The restructuring plarsimplemented in fiscal 2013 and
2012 are discussed below.

2013 Restructuring Activities

I n the first quarter of fiscal 2013, we implementieel Q1 2013 Restructuring Plan which resulted éréduction of our global
workforce by 31 employees across the organizatioaddition we reduced our temporary workforce ppraximately 20 positions. We also
suspended development activities and engineerfog®for our next generation DRAM Matrix platforamd terminated development activities
for a certain SoC product platform. We recorded$illion of restructuring charges during the fifiscal quarter of 2013, which was
comprised of $1.3 million in severance and reldtedefits and $2.7 million in impairment chargesdertain equipment that was no longer
utilized.

I n the fourth fiscal quarter of 2013, we implemende@structuring plan (the "Q4 2013 Restructuritepm® which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 17 full-timenployees across the organization. In addition, @geiced our temporary workforce by 17
positions. We recorded $0.4 million of restructgrcharges during the fourth fiscal quarter of 28&r3everance and related benefits. As a
result of the Q4 2013 Restructuring Plan, we exfeotalize quarterly savings, excluding stock-dasempensation, of approximately $0.8
million in subsequent quarters.

The liabilities we accrued represent our best edtrof the obligations we expect to incur and cdnddubject to adjustment as marke
conditions change. The remaining cash paymentgiassd with our various reductions in workforce arpected to be paid by the end of the
first fiscal quarter of 2014 . As such, the restniag accrual is recorded as a current liabilifghim ‘Accrued liabilities’ in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of December 28, 2013 .
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2012 Restructuring Activities

During fiscal 2012, we initiated restructuring pdain our second, third and fourth fiscal quartehsch resulted in the reduction of our
global workforce by 49 full-time employees acrdss brganization and the cessation of our memorgiympassembly and test activities in
Japan. We reduced our temporary work force as W#lrecorded $2.3 million in charges for severaaue related benefits, $0.2 million in
contract termination costs and $0.4 million in innpeent charges for certain equipment and leaseihgidovements that would no longer be
utilized related to these plans.

The liabilities accrued for the above restructunitans represent our best estimate of the obligatiee expect to incur and could be
subject to adjustment as market conditions chahige.cash payments associated with our various f23¥ reductions in force were paid in
fiscal 2012 and 2013.

Loss on Sale of Subsidiai

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Loss on sale of subsidiary $ 30C % =
% of revenues 0.1% —%

On June 29, 2013, we sold The Micromanipulator Camgpor TMMC, a wholly owned subsidiary of MicroBebased in Carson City,
Nevada. TMMC manufactures manual, analytical prsth#ons and accessories. TMMC's assets weresdklmanagement team fo
purchase consideration of $1.0 million . FormFactzeived $0.2 million in cash upon the sale af6.8 million note to be repaid over 7 years
at a 5% interest rate. The fair value of the noés discounted to $0.5 million as of June 29, 2018.included goodwill of $0.2 million and a
trademark intangible asset, net of accumulated ration, of $0.1 million in the loss on disposélosubsidiary. We recorded a net loss on th
sale of TMMC of $0.3 million in the second quantéffiscal 2013.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Impairment of long-lived assets $ 761 $ 421
% of revenues 0.3% 0.2%

We test long-lived assets or asset groups for eednility when events or changes in circumstanceigate that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. Below is a descriptiorhefimpairment activities for fiscal 2013 and 2012 .

In fiscal 2013 , we recorded an impairment chafgg0d8 million related to certain manufacturingetsswhich were no longer utilized.

As we entered the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 fased increasing operational and financial chaken including manufacturing
overcapacity and weak operating performance wladid a deterioration in market conditions. Assulie during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2013, we reviewed the recoverability of our longetl asset groups and we concluded that our busiveesable to fully recover the carrying
amounts of our assets.

In fiscal 2012 , we recorded total impairments @#$million, including $0.2 million related to temmations of certain construction-in-
progress projects and $0.2 million related to ¢erasets which were previously held for sale thae determined to no longer be sellable an
used for internal purposes.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2012, waewed the recoverability of our long lived ass#t® to a significant change in our
business strategy in connection with our 2012 Resiring Plan, recurring operating losses, net casgfiows from operations and continued
decline in the Company's stock price. As a redulhe review, we concluded our business was ablellprecover the carrying amounts of our
assets.
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Management believes it is reasonably possibleatiditional impairment charges that would reducéhiirthe carrying amounts of our
property and equipment and intangible assets niag ar fiscal 2014 if we are unable to achieve dashis anticipated by our forecasted
financial plan.

Gain on Settlement of Litigation

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Gain on settlement of litigation $ —  $(3,250)
% of revenues —% (1.9%

In July 2010, we filed a lawsuit against Micro-Pedibcorporated, or Micro-Probe Inc., and one obffgers who was a former
FormFactor employee, asserting patent infringeraadtunfair competition claims against Micro-Probe.] and trade secret misappropriation
and breach of confidence claims. On October 162281dd in connection with the MicroProbe Acquisitive agreed to settle all outstanding
litigation with Astria, Micro-Probe, Inc. and thermer employee in favor of FormFactor for $3.3 roil

Interest Income and Other Income, N

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Interest income, net $ 38 % 691
% of revenues 0.2% 0.4%
Other income, net $ 62: % 1,461
% of revenues 0.2% 0.8%

Interest income is primarily earned on our caskhaquivalents and marketable securities. The dseri@ interest income for fiscal 2013
as compared to fiscal 2012 was primarily the resllbwer average balances and was partially offgdhterest income from our note
receivable from TMMC-refer to Note 8 - Fair Valuto-the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemiemtiirther details. Cash, cash
equivalents, restricted cash and marketable sexuritere $151.5 million at December 28, 2013 coegpén $166.1 million at December 29,
2012 . The weighted-average yield on our cash, egsivalents and marketable securities for fis@dl®and 2012 was 0.25% and 0.30%,
respectively.

Other income, net is comprised primarily of foremmrency impact and various other gains and lo§3®s decrease in other income, net
for fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 , was damarily to foreign currency exchange losses ad agpayments received during fiscal 2012
from an intellectual property settlement.

Benefit from Income Taxe:

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Benefit from income taxes $ 99 $ (26,420
Effective tax rate (0.2% (42.6%

We recorded an income tax benefit of $0.1 milliod $26.4 million for fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2018spectively. Our income tax
provisions reflect the tax provision on our nonSUoperations in foreign jurisdictions and the bhaxefit from the lapsing of the statute of
limitations in US and foreign jurisdictions andrrstiatement of the Federal R&D tax credit which wedsoactively applied to 2012.

Included in the $26.4 million income tax benefit fbe year ended December 29, 2012 is a $25.5milix benefit from the release of

valuation allowance of our deferred tax assets AB. In connection with our acquisition of Micra#tre Aquisition during the year ended
December 29, 2012, deferred tax liabilities ("DTL&a/ere established on the acquired
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identifiable intangible assets. These DTLs exce¢ledcquired DTAs by $25.5 million and createditatthl sources of income to realize a
tax benefit for our DTAs. Authoritative guidancejuires the impact on the acquiring company's defetaix assets and liabilities caused by ar
acquisition be recorded in the acquiring compafiyancial statements outside of acquisition accimgntAccordingly, the valuation allowance
on a portion of our DTAs was released and resiifteah income tax benefit of $25.5 million .

We recognize interest (benefit) charges and pesalélated to uncertain tax positions as partefrthome tax provision. We recognized
interest (benefit) charges and penalties of $(@iflion and $0.3 million in fiscal 2013 and 201&spectively. As of December 28, 2013 and
December 29, 2012 , we have accrued total intetesges and penalties of $0.2 million and $0.4iomil| respectively, related to uncertain tax
positions.

We anticipate that we will continue to record augion allowance against our U.S. deferred taxtasgée expect our future tax
provisions, during the time such valuation allowssare recorded, will consist primarily of the pamvision of our profitable non-U.S.
jurisdictions. AtDecember 28, 2013 , we had Federal research amiogenent tax credit, net operating loss, and foréégx credit
carryforwards of $18.7 million , $328.4 million ad.7 million , which will expire at various dat#em 2016 through 2033 . We had
alternative minimum tax credits of $2.4 million whido not expire. We had California research crait net operating loss carryforwards of
$23.5 million and $270.5 million , respectively.elBalifornia research credit can be carried forvadefinitely while California net operating
loss carryforwards will expire at various datestird030 through 2033 . We had Singapore net opgridss carryforwards of $11.5 million
which can be carried forward indefinitely.

Our effective tax rate may vary from period to pdrbased on changes in estimated taxable incoos®by jurisdiction, changes to the
valuation allowance, changes to U.S. Federal, statereign tax laws, future expansion into areéts warying country, state, and local income
tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and exgesrby jurisdiction.

Fiscal Years Ended December 29, 2012 and DecemhefB811 Revenues

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of Change

2012 Revenues 2011 Revenues $ %

(In thousands)
Revenues by Market:

DRAM $ 102,49 57.4% $ 115,67 68.5% $ (13,179  (11.9%
SoC 46,58¢ 26.1 29,05( 17.2 17,53¢ 60.2
Flash 29,45( 16. 24,59 14.F 4,85 19.7
Total revenues $ 178,53 100.% $ 169,32 100.% $  9,24C 5.4%

For the global semiconductor market, overall degitg@ments were down in 2012 compared to 2011. Rein the memory markets
saw the largest reduction compared to the SoC marke DRAM market weakened, particularly in the@®d half of the year, as forecasted
consumer demand for personal computers, or P@s)alimaterialize and device pricing fell to levedsulting in unprofitable business for i
suppliers. The NOR and NAND Flash markets alsoided| driven by slow growth in bit shipments leapto an inventory oversupply and
reduced production capacity by leading produces§€ &venue reductions were not as severe as tbhossefnory markets, with PC demand-
related reductions somewhat offset by growth in ilegiirocessor demand.

Overall, our revenues increased by 5%, or $9.Zanillin fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 201whfch $19.8 million was due to the
MicroProbe acquisition. Our revenues increased%Q:dar-over-year in the SoC market and 19.7% ist;lhut were down 11.4% in DRAM.
The change in Flash and DRAM revenues was primdrilyen by unit volume, while the increase in tlrCSevenues was attributed to our
MicroProbe Acquisition.

Our revenues for fiscal 2012 were primarily gerexiaty sales of wafer probe cards to manufactufdiRé\M devices. The year-on-
year reduction in our revenue from sales to DRAMicke manufacturers in fiscal 2012 aligned closeighwhe overall weakening of the DRA
semiconductor market revenue, particularly in theosd half of the year. Forecasted consumer defioarRC's did not materialize and device
pricing fell to levels resulting in unprofitable $iness for most suppliers.
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Revenues from sales to Flash memory device manuéastincreased in fiscal 2012 compared to the gear. The increase was mainly
driven by increased market share of our TouchMa@xproduct at a major NAND Flash producer in SdUthea. Our NOR Flash revenue
decreased at a similar rate to the overall NORHFasniconductor market for the year.

The significant increase in the SoC segment igated primarily to our MicroProbe Acquisition andcelerated market adoption of
advanced SoC probe card technologies in placeedf#ditional cantilever probe cards. Within Microbe's revenue, the Vx-MP MEMS and
Apollo vertical products that are primarily usedest leading edge mobile SoC chips and micropsmssaccounted for the majority of its
revenues.

Revenues by Geographic Reg

The following table sets forth our revenues by gapbic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2012 Revenues 2011 Revenues
(In thousands)
South Korea $ 58,51f 32.8% $ 39,21¢ 23.1%
Taiwan 36,96: 20.7 53,84« 31.¢
North America 27,50¢ 15.4 25,88( 15.2
Japan 21,31 11.¢€ 29,461 17.4
Asia-Pacific(1) 22,57 12.7 13,86( 8.2
Europe 11,66: 6.5 7,05t 4.2
Total revenues $ 178,53! 100.% $ 169,32¢ 100.(%
(1) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region excEaiwan, South Korea, and Japan, which are disdlesparatel

Geographic revenue information is based on thetilmt#éo which we ship the customer product. Fomepke, if a certain South Korean
customer purchases through their North Americasigidry and requests the products to be shippad tddress in Asia-Pacific, this sale will
be reflected in the revenue for Asia-Pacific ratifan North America.

The increases from fiscal 2011 to 2012 in Southeldand Asia-Pacific revenues were related to mahate gains and a growing
available market for our SmartMatrix100 produchahajor DRAM manufacturer. South Korea revenue mismeased due to improved market
share of our TouchMatrix300 product at a major NARIBsh producer. North America and Europe revenoeeases were primarily driven by
our MicroProbe Acquisition and the sales of VX-MEMS and Apollo vertical products. Revenue decreas&siwan and Japan were
primarily driven by decreased demand for our DRANMducts due to a weakening global DRAM market.

Gross Profit

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Gross profit $ 2533 $ 20,95¢
Gross margin 14.2% 12.0%

Gross margin fluctuates with revenue levels, produg, selling prices, factory loading and matedasts. For fiscal 2012, gross profit
increased $4.4 million compared to fiscal 2011. iFleeease was primarily due to the benefit of higl®ss margins generated from the
product lines obtained from our MicroProbe acqigisiin addition to lower material costs, and redunenufacturing overhead expenses from
the existing FormFactor production. Manufacturivghead costs were lower because of the cessdtassembly and test activities in Japan
and our worldwide reduction in workforce, which daimed generated a savings of $0.8 million for fi€2. Our gross margin benefited fr
lower excess inventory charges.

The gross margin improvements were offset by higlirexct labor costs relative to revenue levelsyiserand warranty costs. Gross
margin was also negatively impacted by $8.5 millidradditional amortization and depreciation cdstghe tangible and intangible assets
associated with our MicroProbe Acquisition.
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As mentioned above, gross margin for fiscal 20%® ahproved compared to the prior year due to @ 80llion decrease in inventory
provision charges. This improvement is the resiuitiuorent and ongoing initiatives to improve maaéplanning, procurement and production
processes that resulted in the continual redudti@ur excess inventory levels. Excess custom itorees are not uncommon for our company
because our advanced wafer probe cards are custsignd manufactured in low volumes and deliveredetatively short lead times. This
requires us to acquire production materials and sgatain production activities based on estimgextiuction yields and forecasted demand
prior to or in excess of actual demand for our wafebe cards. In fiscal 2012, the value of presipueserved materials that were used in
manufacturing and shipped was $1.3 million as coegbéo $2.5 million in fiscal 2011.

Gross margin included amortization expense on gibde assets for fiscal 2012 and 2011 of $6.0 omlland $1.2 million, respectively.
Stock-based compensation expense included in graggin for fiscal 2012 and 2011 was $2.6 millior &3.5 million, respectively. The
decrease was primarily due to fewer unvested optiartstanding being amortized to expense.

In the future, our gross margins may be adversepaicted by lower levels of product revenues, eliengh we have taken significant
steps to reduce our operating cost structure. @sasgmargins may also be adversely affected ifieeqjuired to record additional inventory
provision charges and inventory write-downs ifregtied average selling prices of products heldnistiied goods and work in process
inventories are below the manufacturing cost oféhproducts.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 40,13( $ 43,54
% of revenues 22.5% 25.1%

Research and development expenses for fiscal 28d2ased $3.4 million, or 8%, compared to the préar. Our research and
development expenses fluctuate as projects tranditom development to manufacturing. Dependinghaenstage of completion and level of
effort related to each project undertaken, we neflgct variations in our research and developmeending. As a percent of revenues, rese
and development expenses decreased in fiscal 2®2.5% as compared to 25.7% in fiscal 2011 primdrtie to lower spending.

In fiscal 2012, expenses related to our researdidaxmelopment activities decreased from fiscal 20rbarily due to lower materials
costs of $3.2 million, licensing and equipment saxt$0.5 million, decrease in depreciation expearfsk0.2 million, partially offset by
increased facility and related costs of $0.6 milli8tock-based compensation included within reseand development expenses remained fle
at $4.3 million for fiscal 2012 compared to 2011.

In fiscal 2012, we continued our strategic investtaen research and development, including investai@ new vertical technology
directed to testing SoC devices, advanced Micraggriterconnect technology and new process techiedoln our first quarter of fiscal 2013
we announced that we had taken actions to redecavlestments in commodity DRAM test, but were gurihg to develop product
capabilities focused on mobile DRAM. We suspendexttbpment activities specific to our next generatilatrix platform, and consolidated
our development and engineering efforts to ext@edapabilities of the current Matrix platform. Wenain committed to product developm
in new and emerging technologies.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrative $ 4923: $ 46,70t
% of revenues 27.€% 27.€%

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise@&2.5 million, or 5%, for fiscal 2012 comparedtte prior year. As a percent of
revenues, selling, general and administrative esgpenemained flat in fiscal 2012.
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For fiscal 2012, the increase in selling, genenal administrative expenses was due to $3.0 mibioacquisition and integration costs
relating to the MicroProbe Acquisition, $0.6 milliantangible amortization expense, a $1.2 milliocrease in certain selling and marketing
activities associated with new technology platforen$0.8 million increase in bad debt expense.ifiti@ased expenses were offset by a
decrease in taxes and license costs of $2.0 milimtuding $0.6 million accrual release of foreigustoms and value added tax, a decrease ir
our legal and outside service fees of $1.2 millmmd a decrease due to workforce reduction of 8llbn. Total amortization expense on
intangible assets for fiscal 2012 and 2011 weré $llion and $0.0 million, respectively. Stock-kdscompensation expenses included withir
selling, general and administrative expense wer2 $filion in fiscal 2012 compared to $6.1 millionfiscal 2011. The increase is primarily
due to increase in employee stock awards due tadteisition.

Restructuring Charges, ne

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Restructuring charges $ 2917 % 522
% of revenues 1.6% 0.2%

Restructuring charges increased $2.4 million iodi012 from fiscal 2011. The restructuring plamsimplemented in fiscal 2012 and
2011 are discussed below.

2012 Restructuring Activities

During fiscal 2012, we initiated restructuring pdan our second, third and fourth fiscal quartehscl resulted in the reduction of our
global workforce by 49 full-time employees acrdss trganization and the cessation of our memorgiymbassembly and test activities in
Japan. We reduced our temporary work force as Wl recorded $2.3 million in charges for severaamet related benefits, $0.2 million in
contract termination and $0.4 million in impairmehtrges for certain equipment and leasehold imgmnants that would no longer be utilized
related to these plans.

The liabilities we have accrued for the restructgnplans discussed above represent our best estohtte obligations we expect to
incur and could be subject to adjustment as maxdeditions change. The remaining cash paymentiassd with our various reductions in
force were paid in fiscal 2013.

2011 Restructuring Activities

During fiscal 2011, we initiated restructuring pdan each of our fiscal quarters which resultethanreduction of our global workforce
by 38 full-time employees across the organizatie.recorded $2.3 million in charges for severanmzkralated benefits related to this plan. In
fiscal 2011 we executed an amendment to the egittase arrangement for our facility in Singapotaci released us from our obligations
related to the area previously utilized for mantfeing in this facility. We were also granted atrezduction for the remaining occupied
facilities in this building. We had previously reded certain asset retirement obligations of $lilliam and accruals related to our cessation o
the use of these facilities in connection with aprestructuring action of $0.4 million. As a rétswe reflected a benefit of $1.5 million
recorded in 2011.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Impairment of long-lived assets $ 421  $ 54¢
% of revenues 0.2% 0.2%

We test long-lived assets or asset groups for exredpiity when events or changes in circumstaneeisate that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. Below is a descriptiorhefimpairment activities for fiscal 2012 and 2011.
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In fiscal 2012, we recorded total impairments o#$@illion, including $0.2 million related to termations of certain construction-in-
progress projects and $0.2 million related to ¢erasets which were previously held for sale thae determined to no longer be sellable an
used for internal purposes.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2012, waewed the recoverability of our long lived ass#t® to a significant change in our
business strategy in connection with our 2012 Resiring Plan, due to recurring operating lossescash outflows from operations and
continued decline in the Company's stock priceaeasult of the review, we concluded our business able to fully recover the carrying
amounts of our assets.

In fiscal 2011, we recorded total impairments o5$illion related to the termination of certain-gaing projects, including certain
software development for internal use that had beeorded in construction-in-progress.

Gain on Settlement of Litigation

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Gain on settlement of litigation $ (3250 % =
% of revenues (1.8% —

In July 2010, we filed a lawsuit against Micro-Pedibcorporated or Micr@robe Inc., and one of its officers who was a forF@rmFacto
employee asserting patent infringement and untaipetition claims against Micro-Probe Inc., andliéraecret misappropriation and breach o
confidence claims. On October 16, 2012, and in eotion with the MicroProbe Acquisition, we agreedséttle all outstanding litigation with
Astria, Micro-Probe Inc. and the former employedawor of FormFactor for $3.3 million.

Interest Income and Other Income, N

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Interest income $ 691 % 1,40¢
% of revenues 0.4% 0.8%
Other income, net $ 1,461 $ 1,07¢
% of revenues 0.8% 0.6%

Interest income is primarily earned on our casbhauivalents and marketable securities. The deeri interest income for fiscal
2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily #sailt of lower average balances. The reductioruircash, cash equivalents, restricted cask
and marketable securities to $166.1 million at Detwer 29, 2012 as compared to $297.0 million at Béer 31, 2011 was driven by our
MicroProbe Acquisition and operating losses. Théghted-average yield on our cash, cash equivalents ankiatedale securities for fiscal 20
was 0.30% compared to 0.45% for fiscal 2011.

Other income, net was comprised primarily of fore@girrency impact and various other gains and oSdge change in other income,
net for fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 wamprily due to lower foreign currency losses in 2012

Benefit from Income Taxe:

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Benefit from income taxes $ (26,420 $ (1,900
Effective tax rate 42.6% (2.9%

47




Included in the $26.4 million income tax benefit fiscal 2012 is a $25.5 million tax benefit frolretrelease of valuation allowances on
our deferred tax assets ("DTAs"). In connectiorhvaitir MicroProbe Acquisition during fiscal 2012 feleed tax liabilities ("DTLS") were
established on the acquired identifiable intangésdsets. These DTLs exceeded the acquired DTAZB¥p $nillion. The excess DTLs allow us
to realize a tax benefit by releasing the valuatibowances associated with our DTAs. Accordingty valuation allowances on a portion of
our DTAs were released and resulted in an incoméeaefit of $25.5 million.

We recognize interest charges and penalties refatedcertain tax positions as part of the incoaxeprovision. We recognized interest
charges and penalties of $0.3 million and $12,08&ectively during fiscal 2012 and 2011. As of &aber 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011
we had accrued total interest charges and penafti®8.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively]ated to the uncertain tax positions.

We anticipate that we will continue to record awgion allowance against our U.S. deferred taxtasgée expect our future tax
provisions, during the time such valuation allowssare recorded, will consist primarily of the pamvision of our profitable non-U.S.
jurisdictions. At December 29, 2012, we had Fedetate and foreign net operating loss carryforaafd$284.2 million, $266.7 million ar
$12.2 million, respectively. The Federal net opamatoss carryforwards expire at various dates fafih6 through 2032, the state net operating
loss carryforwards expire at various dates from02®Bough 2032, and the foreign net operating ¢tassyforwards can be carried forward
indefinitely.

Our effective tax rate may vary from period to pdrbased on changes in estimated taxable incoes®by jurisdiction, changes to the
valuation allowance, changes to U.S. Federal, stafereign tax laws, future expansion into areét warying country, state, and local income
tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and exgesrby jurisdiction.

On January 2, 2013, President Obama signed intéHawmerican Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, whichlirdes retroactive extension of
the research credit from January 1, 2012 througteber 31, 2013. This enacted tax law resulted imerease in the Company's gross
deferred tax asset by approximately $0.4 millidfset by a valuation allowance, during the firsager of 2013. The Company concluded this
enacted law change had immaterial effect on i@rfanals.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capital ResourcesOur working capital was $173.9 million at DecemB8r 2013 and $194.1 million at December 29, 20L2e
decrease in working capital in the year ended Déeer28, 2013 was primarily due to the use of caakh equivalents and marketable
securities to fund operations and fixed asset @ses.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of depositsatdldnks, money market funds, U.S. government gesuand commercial paper that
at the time of purchase had maturities of 90 dayess. Marketable securities consist of U.S. goweant and agency securities and comme
paper. We typically invest in highly-rated secastiwith low probabilities of default. Our investrmh@olicy requires investments to be rated
single-A or better, and limits the types of accbf@anvestments, issuer concentration and duratidhe investment.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable secudtieled $151.1 million at December 28, 2013 cargbso $165.8 million at
December 29, 2012 . Cash, cash equivalents andetaai& securities included $16.6 million held by faweign subsidiaries as of
December 28, 2013 . The decrease in our cash ecpstalents and marketable securities balancegvimasirily due to the net cash used in our
operating activities and cash used to acquire ptppglant and equipment. We believe that we wélldble to satisfy our working capital
requirements for at least the next twelve monthh tie liquidity provided by our existing cash, le&gjuivalents and marketable securities. If
we are unsuccessful in improving our operatingeedficy, reducing our cash outlays or increasingawailable cash through financing, our
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitieivther decline in fiscal 2014 .

We utilize a variety of tax planning and financistgategies in an effort to manage our worldwidéhcasd deploy funds to locations
where they are needed. As part of these stratages)definitely reinvest a significant portion atfir foreign earnings and our current plans do
not demonstrate a need to repatriate these earr8hgsild we require additional capital in the Udiftates, we may elect to repatriate
indefinitely reinvested foreign funds or raise ¢abin the United States through debt. If we wereegpatriate indefinitely reinvested foreign
funds, we would be required to accrue and pay mdit United States taxes less applicable foreggurctedits.

Day Sales OutstandingDays sales outstanding from receivables, or DS®@g W2 days at December 28, 2013 compared with %8 ala
December 29, 2012 . Our DSO calculation is detesthimsing the count back method and is based on
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gross accounts receivable (including accounts vabé for amounts in deferred revenue). The ineéa®SO is primarily due to a change in
customer mix resulting in a greater proportionalés with 60 day payment terms.

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (5,809 $ (26,22 $ (29,349
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (7,750 (40,702 60,71z
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,99¢ 2,13¢ (12,907

Cash flows from operating activitiedllet cash used in operating activities for fiscal2@Was primarily attributable to the net change in
operating assets and liabilities that used $5.8anibf cash. The company had a net loss of $57lllomwhich was offset by non-cash
expenses of $57.2 million , including $28.9 millifam depreciation and amortization, $12.1 millian $tock-based compensati1,0.5 million
of provision for excess and obsolete inventori@sy $nillion for non-cash restructuring activitiesde$0.8 million related to impairment of long-
lived assets.

The net change in operating assets and liabifidiefiscal 2013 was comprised of cash used of &8lon for inventory due to invento
build, $2.1 million increase in accounts receivahle to customer mix changes and higher sales,#li8n reduction in accounts payable
driven by the timing of our payments on vendor gdtions and $2.5 million reduction in accrued liéibs primarily related to lower accrued
payroll and bonus. These uses of cash were pgrtitifet by cash generated from $5.1 million ofame tax refunds, a reduction of $3.6
million of prepaid and other current assets dueteipt of the MicroProbe Acquisition working capiadjustment from Astria Semiconductor
Holdings Inc. shareholders and reduced prepaidresgeeand import taxes, and an increase of $1.bmih deferred revenues due to
shipments to customers for which our revenue reitiogreriteria have not yet been met.

Net cash used in operating activities for fiscal2@as primarily attributable to our net loss o6%3million, a non-cash $24.5 million
benefit resulting from changes in deferred taxtssaed a non-cash $3.3 million gain on litigatiettlement. This was offset by non-cash
expenses of $13.0 million for stock-based compémsa$16.9 million for depreciation and amortizatiand $7.2 million of provision for
excess and obsolete inventories.

The net change in operating assets and liabifidiefiscal 2012 was an increase in net assetsebuse of cash, of $2.5 million, net of
operating assets and liabilities assumed from tleed®robe acquisition. The increase in net assatsasmprised of a decrease in our accoun!
receivable of $5.2 million, excluding the effecttbé accounts receivables assumed in the MicroRaogeisition, due to our improved
collection of payments from customers as well asteimed payment terms for certain customers aridlarsillion increase in deferred
revenues due to shipments to customers for whichemenue recognition criteria had not yet been wigset in part by a decrease, or sourc
cash, of $5.9 million in accounts payable driverpayments for vendor obligations assumed in thedHmbe Acquisition which were past
due, and a decrease of $2.1 million in income t@agsble due to the release of a reserve for waingex positions related to the lapsing of the
statute of limitations in the U.S. jurisdiction.

Cash flows from investing activitied\et cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2@vas primarily related to the purchases of
marketable securities and property and equipmealirig $91.3 million and $8.5 million , respectiyelThese uses of cash were partially offset
by proceeds from maturities of marketable secribe$90.4 million and proceeds from the sales afk®etable securities of $2.0 million . We
carefully monitor our investments to minimize risksd have not experienced other than temporanstment losses. Except for experiencing
declining yields, our investment portfolio has beten negatively impacted by the economic turmadihacredit markets in the recent past.

Net cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2@vas primarily related to cash used in the Micot#@ Acquisition of $96.7 million net of ca
acquired, purchases of marketable securities aopkpty and equipment totaling $82.4 million andO$illion, respectively. These uses of
cash were partially offset by proceeds from magsiof marketable securities of $135.3 million @ndceeds from the sales of marketable
securities of $11.0 million.

Cash flows from financing activitiesNet cash provided by financing activities for fis2813 included $2.6 millioin proceeds receive

from purchases under our Employee Stock Purchase & ESPP, offset by stock withheld in lieu ofpant of employee taxes related to the
release of restricted stock units. This receiptazth was partially offset by payments of $0.6 wrillmade on capital leases.
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Net cash provided by financing activities for fise812 included $2.3 million in proceeds receiveahi purchases under our ESPP,
offset by stock withheld in lieu of payment of eimye taxes related to the release of restrictesk stoits.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudi¢ielined in fiscal 2013 . We continue to focusmproving our operating efficiency
to increase operating cash flows. Our actions lresleded implementing operational expense redudtidiatives, delaying or eliminating
certain capital spending and research and develappnejects, focusing on timely customer collecti@md re-negotiating longer payment
terms with our vendors. We believe that we willdie to satisfy our cash requirements for at ltrsshext twelve months with the liquidity
provided by our existing cash, cash equivalentsmarketable securities. To the extent necessarynaealso consider establishing
manufacturing and technology partnerships, or éi& slort and long-term debt obligations, or to mbrtew financing facilities which may not
be available on terms favorable to us or at alk fDture capital requirements may vary materiaibynfi those now planned. However, if we are
unsuccessful in increasing revenues, improvingoperating efficiency, executing our cost reductien, reducing our cash outlays or
increasing our available cash through financing,aash, cash equivalents and marketable secunitikedecline in future fiscal years.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our significant coitments to make future payments in cash under aontal obligations as of
December 28, 2013 :

Payments Due In Fiscal Years

2014 2015-2016 ~ 2017-2018  After 2018 Total
(In thousands)
Operating leases $ 422 $ 6,242 $ 5107 $ 7,432 $ 23,00
Purchase obligations 9,84¢ 83¢ — — 10,68¢
Capital leases 27C — — — 27C
Total $ 1434. $ 7,08. $ 5107 $ 7,43: $ 33,96!

Purchase obligations are primarily for purchasdswe#ntory and manufacturing related service catsreFor the purposes of this table,
purchase obligations are defined as agreementarth@nforceable and legally binding and that $pedi significant terms, including: fixed or
minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimomvariable price provisions; and the approximateng of the transaction. The expected
timing of payment of the obligations discussed a&bisvestimated based on information available tasusf December 28, 2013 . Timing of
payments and actual amounts paid may be differgmiding on the timing of receipt of goods or smsior changes to agreed-upon amounts
for some obligations.

The table above excludes our gross liability foreeegnized tax benefits, which totaled approxinya$dl7.0 million as of December 28,
2013 and are classified in deferred taxes and ¢dingrterm tax liabilities on our consolidated balanceethThe timing of any payments wh
could result from these unrecognized tax benefilsdepend upon a number of factors. Accordinghe timing of payment cannot be estime
and has been excluded from the table above. Azoéimber 28, 2013, the changes to our uncertaipdsixions in the next 12 months that are
reasonable and probable are not expected to hsigaiéicant impact on our financial position or ués of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Historically, we have not participated in transacs that have generated relationships with uncafeted entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred &irastured finance or special purpose entities¢clivould have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangai:er other contractually narrow or limited pureesAs of December 28, 2013 , we were nc
involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Indemnification Agreements

We may, from time to time in the ordinary courseof business enter into contractual arrangemeititstiaird parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contratareangements, we have agreed to defend, inderaniyor hold the third party harmless
from and against certain liabilities. These arrangets include indemnities in favor of customerthim event that our wafer probe cards infri
a third party's intellectual property and our lessa connection with facility leasehold liabilifehat we may cause. In addition, we have
entered into indemnification agreements with ovectors and
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certain of our officers, and our bylaws containdnmhification obligations in favor of our directordficers and agents. These indemnity
arrangements may limit the type of the claim, thtaltamount that we can be required to pay in cotime with the indemnification obligation
and the time within which an indemnification clag@n be made. The duration of the indemnificatioligakion may vary and, for most
arrangements, survives the agreement term andesifite. We believe that substantially all of aulemnity arrangements provide either for
limitations on the maximum potential future paynsewe could be obligated to make, or for limitati@msthe types of claims and damages we
could be obligated to indemnify, or for both. Howeyit is not possible to determine or reasonabtyreate the maximum potential amount of
future payments under these indemnification obibgest due to the varying terms of such obligatidhs,history of prior indemnification clain
the unique facts and circumstances involved in @acticular contractual arrangement and in eacarpiat future claim for indemnification,
and the contingency of any potential liabilitiesonghe occurrence of events that are not reasomgrminable. We have not had any reqt
for indemnification under these arrangements. OCamagement believes that any liability for theseemdity arrangements would not be
material to our accompanying consolidated finansiatements. We have not recorded any liabilitedHese indemnification arrangements on
our consolidated balance sheet as of December043, 2

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Please refer to the discussion of our recent adtmupronouncements in Note 2—Summary of Significaccounting Policies of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statementsrupdg 11, Item 8 in this Annual Report on Forn-K.

ltem 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

Foreign Currency Exchange RiskVe conduct certain operations in foreign currence enter into currency forward exchange
contracts to hedge a portion, but not all, of éxgsforeign currency denominated amounts. Gainsl@ssks on these contracts are generally
recognized in other income. Because the effectmfements in currency exchange rates on the curfenasard exchange contracts generally
offsets the related effect on the underlying itdmamg hedged, these financial instruments are xpe@ed to subject us to risks that would
otherwise result from changes in currency exchaatgs. We do not use derivative financial instrutador trading or speculative purposes.
recognized a net loss of $0.6 million and $0.5imill, respectively for fiscal 2013 and 2012 , frtma fluctuation in foreign exchange rates anc
the valuation of these hedge contracts in our Qateted Statements of Operations under “Other ingamet”.

Interest Rate SensitivityOur exposure to market risk for changes in intei@es relates primarily to our investment poitfoWe invest
in a number of securities including U.S. agencygalist notes, money market funds and commercialrp&pe attempt to ensure the safety anc
preservation of our invested principal funds byiting default risk, market risk and reinvestmeskriwe mitigate default risk by investing in
high grade investment securities. By policy, weitlithe amount of credit exposure to an issuer, pxteS. Treasuries and U.S. agencies. We
do not use interest rate derivative instrumentadnage interest rate exposures nor do we investafding or speculative purposes. The fair
market value of our fixed rate securities may beecastly impacted by increases in interest ratetevitiéome earned on floating rate securities
may decline as a result of decreases in interéest.rA hypothetical 100 basis-point (one percengamet) increase or decrease in interest rates
compared to rates at December 28, 2013 and Dece28b2012 would have affected the fair value ofiauestment portfolio by less than $0.7
million and $1.2 million , respectively.

Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and suppleanedata of FormFactor required by this item acduded in the section entitled
"Consolidated Financial Statements" of this Anrfeeport on Form 10-K. See Item 15(a)(1) for a lfsbur consolidated financial statements.

Item 9: Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A: Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on our management's evaluation (with thécfaation of our Principal Executive Officer andripal Financial Officer), as of
the end of the period covered by this report, aimdipal Executive Officer and Principal Financafficer have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 18a)Hnd 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchangeft934, as amended, (the "Exchange
Act")) were effective to ensure that informatioguéed to be disclosed by us in reports that wedil submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported vithitime periods specified in SEC rules and foams is accumulated and communicated
to our management, including our Principal Exeeut@fficer and Principal Financial Officer, as apgiate to allow timely decisions regardi
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control oveairicial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) 45d415(f) under the Exchange A
other than the inclusion of Astria Semiconductotditays, Inc., including its subsidiary Micro-Probreorporated (together "MicroProbe") as
noted below during the fiscal year ended DecemBgeQ13 , that has materially affected, or is reabty likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange laternal control over financial reporting is epess designed by, or under the
supervision of, our Principal Executive Officer dPidncipal Financial Officer, and effected by owabd of directors, management and other
personnel and consultants, to provide reasonableasce regarding the reliability of financial reorg and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles, andiohes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of resdftht in reasonable detail accurately and fa@fiect our transactions and dispositions of assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance tlaatstactions are recorded as necessary to permaratem of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #oad our receipts and expenditures are being malyarmaccordance with the authorization
of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarg@revention or timely detection of unauthorizedusition, use or disposition of our assets tha
could have a material effect on the financial stegmts.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Principal Execu@ficer and Principal Financial
Officer, we conducted an assessment of the effetiss of our internal control over financial repgytas of December 28, 2013 . In making
this assessment, our management used the criég¢ffiarth ininternal Control-Integrated Framework (199&sued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommisgiG®SQO"). Based on the results of this assessmeariagement has concluded that,
internal control over financial reporting was effee as of December 28, 2013 , based on the aitetnternal Control-Integrated Framework
(1992)issued by the COSO.

Management has included MicroProbe, which was @aeduin October 16, 2012, in its assessment ofriat&ontrols over financial
reporting as of December 28, 2013.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 28, 2013 has bediteallby KPMG LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in their report which appears in this Anrireport on Form 10-K.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well designed aretaipd, can provide only reasonable, not absaistjrance that the control syste
objectives are being met. Further, the design gfcamtrol systems must reflect the fact that tleeeeresource constraints, and the benefits
controls must be considered relative to their cadgsause of the inherent limitations in all cohtiystems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control isanésinstances of fraud, if any, within our compaaye been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgmentsietision making can be faulty and that breakdowamsoccur because of simple error or
mistake. Control systems can also be circumvenyatidindividual acts of some persons, by collugibtwo or more people, or by



management override of the
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controls. The design of any system of controlsaisddl, in part, on certain assumptions about tlkediiod of future events, and there can be n
assurance that any design will succeed in achigtsrgjated goals under all potential future cdodg. Over time, controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions origietion in the degree of compliance with polictesprocedures.

CEO and CFO Certifications

We have attached as exhibits to this Annual RepoEorm 10-K the certifications of our Chief ExaeatOfficer and Chief Financial
Officer, which are required in accordance with Exehange Act. We recommend that this Item 9A bd reaonjunction with the certificatiol
for a more complete understanding of the subjedtenpresented.

Item 9B: Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10: Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

Information concerning our board of directors, catges and directors, including our audit commitiee audit committee financial
expert, will be included in our Proxy Statementdor 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, undergbetion entitled "Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors". The information in such pons of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in #mnual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

For biographical information with respect to oureditors and executive officers, see Part |, Itewfi this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the section entitled "Directors and Execu@fficers".

Information concerning Section 16(a) beneficial evahip reporting compliance will appear in our Br&atement under the section
entitled "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership RepartCompliance”. The information in such portiontioé Proxy Statement is incorporated in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

We have adopted a Statement of Corporate Code sih8ss Conduct that applies to all directors, efcand employees of FormFactor
and a Statement of Financial Code of Ethics thpliepto our Chief Executive Officer, Chief FinaalcDfficer, and other employees in our
finance department. Information concerning thestesawill appear in our Proxy Statement under tletige entitled "Proposal No. 1Election
of Directors—Corporate Codes". The informationuiets portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporatetthis Annual Report on Form 1K-by
reference.

ltem 11: Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive officer compermatind related information will appear in our Pr@&tatement under the section
entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysiske&utive Compensation and Related Information" peof the Compensation
Committee" and "Proposal No. 1—Election of DiresteitCompensation Committee Interlocks and Insidetid®aation". Information
concerning director compensation and related infdion will appear in our Proxy Statement undergbetion entitled "Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors". The information in such pons of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in #mnual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

Item 12: Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information concerning the security ownership atai@ beneficial owners and management and rekttmkholder matters will appear
in our Proxy Statement under the section entiti&ectrity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement and Related Stockholder
Matters". The information in such portion of they Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReparEorm 10-K by reference.

Information concerning our equity compensation plaiill appear in our Proxy Statement under theiseantitled "Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management anated|Stockholder Mattersequity Compensation Plans”. The information in sportion
of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in this AadriReport on Form 10-K by reference.

Iltem 13: Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aDitector Independence

Information concerning certain relationships andteal transactions, including our related persangactions policy will appear in our
Proxy Statement under the section entitled "CefRalationships and Related Transactions”. The inédion in such portion of the Proxy
Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReporForm 10-K by reference.

Information concerning director independence wilb@ar in our Proxy Statement under the sectiotlemtiProposal No. 1—Election of
Directors". The information in such portion of tReoxy Statement is incorporated in this Annual Repo Form 10-K by reference.

Item 14: Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information concerning principal accounting feed aarvices and the audit committee's pre-approsadies and procedures will appear
in our Proxy Statement under the section entitfrdposal No. 2—Ratification of Selection of Indegent Registered Public Accounting
Firm". The information in such portion of the ProRjatement is incorporated in this Annual ReporForm 10-K by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15:  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as parto$ tAnnual Report on Form 1K-
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfimgs
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Exhibits:

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdibits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

(b) Financial Statement Schedu

All schedules have been omitted because they dneqoired, not applicable, or the required infotiorais included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Date of Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No First Filing Number Herewith
2.01***  Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Augus2@12 among 10-Q/A 00050307 1/23/201: 33.01
Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., FormFactoc,. iELM
Acquisition, Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC, as Egtiblder
Representative
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatithe S-1  333-10981% 10/20/200: 3.01
Registrant as filed with the Delaware Secretar$tate on
June 17, 2003
3.0z Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant 8-K 00050307 5/25/200! 3.0z
4.01 Specimen Common Stock Certificate S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/28/200: 4.01
10.014 Form of Indemnity Agreement S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/28/200: 10.01
10.021 Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement 10K 00050307 3/14/200! 10.4¢
10.0341 1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option grant S-1 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢
10.044 Incentive Option Plan, and form of option grant S-1 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢
10.051 Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of aptjcant S4 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢
10.0641 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and foifptan 10Q 00050307 5/4/201: 10.0¢
agreements
10.074 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended 10Q 00050307 8/7/200° 10.01
10.0841 Key Employee Bonus Plan, as amended 10Q 00050307 5/7/200° 10.01
10.094 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatedtef@eApril 18, 10K 00050307 3/13/201: 10.0¢
2012, and forms of plan agreements
10.10¢ Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended anceresgartl 18, 10K 00050307 3/13/201: 10.1C
2012
10.11 Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itken S-1/A 3338673¢ 6/10/200: 10.1¢
Holding Company LLC (successor to Greenville InvestL.P.)
("Greenville") and the Registrant dated May 3, 2001
10.1Z First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasariu S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.18.:
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003
10.1¢ Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @iteeand the  S-1/A 3338673¢ 6/10/200: 10.1¢
Registrant dated May 3, 2001
10.1¢ First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasartal S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.19.

between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8igr003
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10.1¢ Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @iteeand the  S-1/A 3338673¢ 6/10/200: 10.z
Registrant dated May 3, 2001

10.164 First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasariul S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.20.:
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8igr003
10.174 Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the 10Q 00050307 11/7/200t 10.01

Registrant dated September 7, 2004, as amendeisby F
Amendment to Building 6 Lease dated August 16, 2006

10.184 Employment Letter Agreement, dated September 2),288dtween 8-K 00050307 9/17/201( 99.01+4
Thomas St. Dennis and FormFactor, Inc.
10.194 Employment Offer Letter, dated August 29, 2012 tdvBlessor 10K 00050307 3/13/201: 10.194
16.01 Letter of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated Aprid(lL3 8-K 00050307 4/8/201: 16.01
21.01 List of Registrant's subsidiaries — — — — X
23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting - PwC — — — — X
23.0z Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing - — — — — X
KPMG
24.01 Power of Attorney (included on the signature paigghie — — — — X
Form 10-K)
31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. — — — — X
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30®darbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. — — — — X
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30®darbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
32.01" Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chieihancial — — — — X

Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as tetbpursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document — — — —
101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document — — — —
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuatne — — — —
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen — — — —
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document — — — —

X X X X X X

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim — — — —

This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed" for purps®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Ad98# or otherwise subject to the liabilities oftteaction, nor shall
be deemed incorporated by reference in any filinden the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securitieshange Act of 1934, whether made before or dfiedate hereof
and irrespective of any general incorporation lagguin any filings.

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thegeractive data files are deemed not filed or p&# registration statement or prospectus for psgp of Sections 11 or
12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18haf Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwisaat subject to liability.

Confidential treatment has been requestedpimrtions of this document. The schedules, exhibitg, annexes to this exhibit have been omittedliarrce on Iltem 601(b)
(2) of Regulation S-K and will be furnished suppétally to the SEC upon request.

Indicates a management contract or compensatomyoplarrangemer
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theéoeduly authorized, in the City of Livermore, StafeCalifornia, on the # day of March
2014.

FORMFACTOR, INC.
By: /s/ MICHAEL M. LUDWIG
Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW BY ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that eachihsf undersigned whose signature appears belovittoes and
appoints Michael M. Ludwig and Stuart L. Merkadeand each of them, the undersigned's true and laittiirneys-infact and agents with fu
power of substitution, for the undersigned anchmundersigned's name, place and stead, in angllacepacities, to sign any and all
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K anydather documents in connection therewith, anfilédhe same, with all exhibits
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commisgjanting unto said attorneys-in-fact and ageatd,each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every actisitgland necessary to be done with respect toAthisial Report on Form 10-K, including
amendments, as fully to all intents and purposebesindersigned might or could do in person, heratfying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or their stiistor substitutes, may lawfully do or cause ¢odone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hasuteel this Power of Attorney as of the date indidaielow.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on ber
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date

Principal Executive Officer:
/s/ THOMAS ST. DENNIS

- Chief Executive Officer and Director March 7, 2014
Thomas St. Dennis
Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer:
/sl MICHAEL M. LUDWIG ) . . ,
Chief Financial Officer March 7, 2014

Michael M. Ludwig
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Signature

Additional Directors:

/sl G. CARL EVERETT, JR.

G. Carl Everett, Jr.

/sl LOTHAR MAIER

Lothar Maier

/sl EDWARD ROGAS, JR

Edward Rogas, Jr

/sl MICHAEL W. ZELLNER

Michael W. Zellner

/sl RICHARD DELATEUR

Richard DeLateur

/sl MICHAEL D. SLESSOR

Michael D. Slessor
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
FormFactor, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeet of FormFactor, Inc. and subsidiaries (@bmpany”) as of December 28, 2013,
and the related consolidated statements of opastemmprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, asth flows for the year end&kcember 2€
2013 . We also have audited the Company’s interoatrol over financial reporting as of December 2®81.3 , based on criteria established in
Internal Control- Integrated Framework (1992sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (COSO).
The Company’s management is responsible for thessotidated financial statements, for maintainiffgative internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecttgsrof internal control over financial reportinggluded in the accompanying Management'’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporti@yir responsibility is to express an opinion oesthconsolidated financial statements and
an opinion on the Company’s internal control oveamcial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all evéal respects. Our audit of the
consolidated financial statements included exarginim a test basis, evidence supporting the amaunatslisclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesars significant estimates made by managementewaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal @dmtver financial reporting included obtaining amderstanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a naltereakness exists, and testing and evaluatiaglésign and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qdit also included performing such other proceda®s/e considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provideasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
FormFactor, Inc. and subsidiaries as of DecembgP@83 , and the results of their operations aed ttash flows for the year ended
December 28, 2013 , in conformity with U.S. gerlgratcepted accounting principles. Also in our dqin the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control diieancial reporting as of December 28, 2013 , basedriteria established internal Control -
Integrated Framework (199issued by COSO.

/s KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
March 7, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Foawotbr, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheeft &eoember 29, 2012 and the related consolidatedratents of operations, statements of
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and fasts for each of the two years in the period enBedember 29, 2012 present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Forgtbg Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 292201d the results of their operations and -
cash flows for each of the two years in the peended December 29, 2012, in conformity with acciognprinciples generally accepted in the
United States of America.

These financial statements are the responsibilithie Company's management. Our responsibilitg Esxipress an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted dits af these statements in accordance with thelatals of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdsadards require that we plan and perform the dadibtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of malterisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢@sé basis, evidence supporting the amc
and disclosures in the financial statements, aggptise accounting principles used and signifiestimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@maWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 13, 2013
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 28,

2013

December 29,

2012

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Deferred tax assets
Refundable income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangibles, net
Deferred tax assets
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Capital leases, current portion
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities
Long-term income taxes payable
Capital leases, less current portion
Deferred rent and other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value:

10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issuedwasizinding at December 28, 2013 ant
December 29, 2012

Common stock, $0.001 par value:

250,000,000 shares authorized; 54,649,600 and 6328 shares issued and outstanding
December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012, resplyctive

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$  59,19¢ 72,24
91,89 93,54t
30,18¢ 28,91¢
20,70; 23,61¢
2,77¢ 4,61:
782 5,667
6,10¢ 10,56¢
211,65: 239,17.
43F 31¢
35,19( 45 51
30,73 30,99t
57,47( 74,27¢
3,96( 4,207
1,271 1,20(

$ 340,70 395,68:
$ 16,31 21,01
13,98t 17,27
27C 572

172 —
7,03( 6,18¢
37,77( 45,04
2,497 3,02¢

— 34¢

6,35¢ 8,00¢
46,62: 56,42
55 54
695,63 681,15
(249) 1,71¢
(401,35 (343,669
294,08 339,25¢
$ 340,70 395,68:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring charges, net
Loss on sale of subsidiary
Impairment of long-lived assets
Gain on settlement of litigation

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Interest income, net

Other income, net

Loss before income taxes

Benefit from income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted

Weighted-average number of shares used in per shinaations:

Basic and diluted

Fiscal Year Ended

December 28,

December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(In thousands, except per share data)
$ 23153 $ 178,53! $ 169,32!
189,24 153,20« 148,36
42,28 25,33: 20,95¢
42,13¢ 40,13( 43,54+
53,217 49,23: 46,70t
4,65¢ 2,91i 522
30C — —
761 421 54¢
— (3,250) —
101,07 89,44¢ 91,32(
(58,79)) (64,11¢) (70,36:)
38¢€ 691 1,404
62: 1,461 1,07¢
(57,78:) (61,96¢) (67,88:)
(99) (26,420 (1,902
$ (5768) $ (35546 $  (65,98)
$ (1.0 $ 0.70 $ (1.31)
54,20¢ 50,55 50,52:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Fiscal Year Ended

December 28,

December 29,

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Net loss $ (57,68) $ (35546 $ (65,98)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,825 (83¢) 66(

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale

marketable securities (139 (147 13

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (1,969 (98E) 672

Comprehensive loss $ (5964) $ (3653) $ (65,309

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balances, December 25, 2010

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise tafrep
for cash

Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting arficesd
stock units, net of stock withheld

Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Purchase and retirement of common stock
Stock-based compensation

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities, net of tax
Currency translation adjustments

Net loss

Balances, December 31, 2011

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise tafrep
for cash

Issuance of common stock pursuant to acquisition of
business

Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting aficesd
stock units, net of stock withheld

Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Stock-based compensation

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities, net of tax

Currency translation adjustments
Net loss

Balances, December 29, 2012

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise tafrep
for cash

Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting drficesd
stock units, net of stock withheld

Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Stock-based compensation

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities, net of tax

Currency translation adjustments
Net loss
Balances, December 28, 2013

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total
(In thousands, except shares)

50,587,91 $ 52 $ 651,26: $ 2,027 $ (242,14) $ 411,20
141,28( —_ 914 — — 914
485,20: = (219) = = (219)
386,81 — 2,81 — — 2,81

(2,332,741 2 (16,409 = = (16,417

— —_ 13,66: — — 13,66:

— —_ — 13 — 13

= = = 66C = 66C

— — — — (65,987) (65,987)
49,268,47 5C 652,02 2,70 (308,129 346,65
3,020,94 3 13,80: = = 13,80¢
464,20: — (10€) — — (10€)
533,07 1 2,351 — — 2,35¢
e — 13,08( — — 13,08(

e — e (247 — (147)

— — — (83¢) — (83€)

— — — — (35,54¢) (35,54¢)
53,286,70 54 681,15 1,71t (343,66Y) 339,25¢
20,00( — 10€ — — 10€
759,72 — (4 — = 4
583,17: 1 2,501 — — 2,50z
— — 11,87: — — 11,87:

— — — (139) — (139)

e — e (1,825 — (1,825

= = = = (57,687 (57,687)
54,649,60 $ 55 $ 69563 $ (249 % (401,35) $ 294,08I

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended

December 28, 2013 December 29, 2012 December 31, 2011
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (57,68) $ (35,54 $ (65,987)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 28,90¢ 16,90: 10,83¢
Amortization of discount on investments 462 91 46¢
Stock-based compensation expense 12,12: 13,04¢ 13,84¢
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) 44t (24,46() (1,98¢)
(Recovery) provision for doubtful accounts receleab (29) 52 (27€)
Provision for excess and obsolete inventories 10,46: 7,23: 7,891
Loss on disposal and write-off of long-lived assets 36E 41 5
Gain on settlement of litigation — (3,250) —
Impairment of long-lived assets 761 421 54¢
Loss on sale of subsidiary 30C — —
Non-cash restructuring 2,74 462 (1,587)
Foreign currency transaction losses 62C 1,267 32¢

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (2,102) 5,15¢ 16,80:
Inventories (7,980 (92€) (1,157)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,557 821 5,621
Refundable income taxes 5,14: 27) (862)

Other assets 13€ 42€ 1,907
Accounts payable (2,329 (5,907) (5,06%)
Accrued liabilities (2,479 (1,129) (9,647)
Income taxes payable (346) (2,14%) (1,267)
Deferred rent and other liabilities 83 167 43
Deferred revenues 1,014 1,06¢ 16C

Net cash used in operating activities (5,802 (26,22¢) (29,34

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (8,530 (7,952 (7,700
Acquisition of MicroProbe, net of cash acquired — (96,65) —

Use of cash from sale of subsidiary (210 — —
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipmen 61 — 33
Purchases of marketable securities (91,339) (82,43 (246,66!)
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 90,38t 135,34( 308,68:
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 2,00( 11,00( 6,00(
Change in restricted cash (11¢) — 363

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (7,750 (40,707) 60,71:

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuances of common stock 2,60z 2,25] 3,50¢
Purchase and retirement of common stock — — (16,417
Payments made on capital leases (603) (112) —

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,99¢ 2,13¢ (12,907)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiatmts (1,499 (2,01¢) (625)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalent (13,04°) (66,80¢) 17,84:
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 72,24: 139,04¢ 121,20°
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 59,19¢ $ 72,247 $ 139,04¢

Nnn.rach invactina and financina activitiae



Fair value of stock issued in connection with thiefalProbe Acquisition $ — 3 13,80¢

Changes in accounts payable and accrued liabititlased to property, plant and

equipment purchases $ 152¢ $ 2,21t
— 3 2,782

Working capital adjustment
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income and property taxes (refunded) paid, net $ (6,159 $ 40 $ 1,41C
The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Formation and Business of the Company

FormFactor, Inc. ("FormFactor" or the "Company" atgb referred to as "we" or "our") was incorpodate Delaware on April 15, 1993
and designs, develops, manufactures, sells anaasggecision, high performance advanced semiatindwafer probe cards. We are based
in Livermore, California, home to our corporateicdt, one of our main research and developmengsrénd one of our manufacturing
locations. We have facilities in the United Stafgisgapore, Japan, Taiwan, South Korea, GermanytenBeople's Republic of China.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on the last Saturday in Deegnithe fiscal years ended on December 28, 201®Dacdmber 29, 2012 ,
respectively, consisted of 52 weeks and the figeat ended on December 31, 2011 consisted of Sksve

Business Acquisition

On October 16, 2012, we completed the acquisitfolistria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., including inajor subsidiary Micro-Probe
Incorporated (together "MicroProbe"), which we rdfeas the "MicroProbe Acquisition". As part oétMicroProbe Acquisition, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of FormFactor merged with and MicroProbe, with MicroProbe continuing as the suing corporation and as a wholly-
owned subsidiary of FormFactor. For additional infation regarding the MicroProbe Acquisition, seseé\3 - Acquisition - to the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Reclassifications of Prior Year Amounts

Certain prior year amounts relating to gross langd asset balances and their accumulated depoecagsociated with manufacturing
equipment, computer equipment and software, fumitnd fixtures and leasehold improvements wengséeljl, due to an immaterial error, a
December 29, 2012. Certain assets that had bdgrdépreciated and were no longer in use had net bemoved from the accounting records
There was no change to total property, plant amdpegent, net, and the associated depreciation eg@rthe consolidated financial statem:
and the notes thereto, as of and for the year ebdedmber 29, 2012, due to the above adjustment.

Similarly, certain prior year amounts relating tassification of inventory reserves between worpincess and finished goods as of
December 29, 2012 were reclassified, due to an temaherror. There was no change to inventories, in the consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto, as of and foretreended December 29, 2012, due to the abolasséication.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation and Foreign Currency Trangian

The consolidated financial statements include cupants and those of our wholly-owned subsidiafdisntercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.

The functional currencies of certain of our foregybsidiaries are the local currencies and, acaglyliall assets and liabilities of these
foreign operations are translated to U.S. Dollasuarent period end exchange rates, and revemgesxpenses are translated to U.S. Dollars
using average exchange rates in effect during ¢hegh. The gains and losses from the foreign cagréranslation of these subsidiaries'
financial statements are included as a separatpaoemt of stockholders' equity under “Accumulatéteo comprehensive income (loss).”

Certain other of our foreign subsidiaries in thee's Republic of China, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Sdtiiea and Singapore use the U.S.
Dollar as their functional currency. Accordinglypnetary assets and liabilities in nfamctional currencies of these subsidiaries aresssure:
using exchange rates in effect at the end of thiegheRevenues and costs in local currency are asoved using average exchange rates for tt
period, except for costs related to those balaheetstems that are remeasured using historicddamge rates. The resulting remeasurement
gains and losses are included in the Consolidataeéi@ents of Operations as incurred.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statemé@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyalccepted in the United States of
America ("GAAP") requires management to make edésiand assumptions that affect the reported armaid@ssets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiehatdate of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Estimates may change as nfwnation is obtained. We believe that the estamaassumptions and judgments involved
in revenue recognition, fair value of marketablewsties, allowance for doubtful accounts, reseffeeproduct warranty, valuation of obsolete
and slow moving inventory, valuation of assets &egland liabilities assumed in connection withibhass combinations, legal contingencies,
valuation of goodwill, the assessment of recovditglaf long-lived assets, valuation and recogmitiaf stock-based compensation, provision o
benefit for income taxes and related deferred ssets, valuation and tax liabilities and accruatsther liabilities have the greatest potential
impact on our consolidated financial statementgu&laesults could differ from those estimates.

Business Acquisitions

Our consolidated financial statements include therations of an acquired business after the coioplef the acquisition. We account
for acquired businesses using the acquisition ntetfi@ccounting. The acquisition method of accounfor acquired businesses requires,
among other things, that assets acquired anditiabihssumed be recognized at their estimatedddiles as of the acquisition date, and the
fair value of acquired intangibles including in-pess research and development (IPR&D) be recomdékenbalance sheet. Also, transaction
costs are expensed as incurred. Any excess oltlohgse price over the assigned fair values oh#i@ssets acquired is recorded as goodwill

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents consist of depositsimaicial instruments which are readily convertiln® cash and have original maturit
of 90 days or less at the time of acquisition. Maakle securities consist primarily of highly liqunvestments with maturities of greater than
90 days when purchased. We generally classify @arketable securities at the date of acquisitioavaslable-for-sale. These securities are
reported at fair value with the related unrealigadhs and losses included in "Accumulated otherprefmrensive income (loss)”, a componer
stockholder's equity, net of tax. Any unrealizeskks which are considered to be other-than-tempongrairments are recorded in "Other
income, net" in the Consolidated Statements of &tmars. Realized gains (losses) on the sale of etaloke securities are determined using the
specific-identification method and recorded in "@tincome, net" in the Consolidated Statementsp#r&tions. We measure our cash
equivalents and marketable securities at fair value

All of our available-for-sale investments are sgbje a periodic impairment review. We record argedo earnings when a decline in
fair value is significantly below cost basis andged to be other-than-temporary, or have othecatdrs of impairments. If the fair value of an
available-for-sale investment is less than its dined cost basis, an other-themporary impairment is triggered in circumstaneésre (1) w
intend to sell the instrument, (2) it is more liké&han not that we will be required to sell thetinment before recovery of its amortized cost
basis or (3) a credit loss exists where we do rpeet to recover the entire amortized cost basteefnstrument. If we intend to sell or it is
more likely than not that we will be required tdl siee available-forsale investment before recovery of its amortizest basis, we recognize
other-than- temporary impairment charge equal écetttire difference between the investment's areattcost basis and its fair value.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We have evaluated the estimated fair value of fir@instruments using available market informatn valuations as provided by
third-party sources. The use of different markstiagptions and/or estimation methodologies couleélasignificant effect on the estimated
fair value amounts. The fair value of the Compang'sh, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, atcpayable and other current liabilities
approximate their carrying amounts due to the iradht short maturity of these items. Estimatesaif ¥alue of our marketable securities are
based on quoted market prices from active marketsiral party, market-based pricing sources whihbelieve to be reliable. These estimate:
represent the third parties' good faith opiniotoaghat a buyer in the marketplace would pay feeeurity in a current sale.

Whenever possible, the fair values of our finanagdets and liabilities are determined using quotaxket prices of identical assets or
guoted market prices of similar assets from aatiagkets. The three levels of inputs that may be tseneasure fair value are as follows:

» Level 1 valuations are obtained from réale quotes for transactions in active exchangeetaiinvolving identical asse
* Level 2 inputs other than Level 1 that are obakle, either directly or indirectly, such as qubpegices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices near the reporting datmarkets that are less active, or other inputs
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

that are observable or can be corroborated by ehisker market data for substantially the full terfthe assets or liabilities.
» Level 3 valuations are based on unobservablgtsno the valuation methodology and include oun @ata about assumptions
market participants would use in pricing the assdiability based on the best information availabhder the circumstances.

Each level of input has different levels of suhjatt and difficulty involved in determining fairalue.
Foreign Exchange Management

We transact business in various foreign currendésenter into forward foreign exchange contrattan effort to mitigate the risks
associated with currency fluctuations on certaneiffn currency balance sheet exposures. Gainsoasdd resulting from the impact of
currency exchange rate movements on forward forexghange contracts designated to offset certa@igio currency balance sheet exposure:
are recognized as "Other income, net" in the Caaatad Statements of Operations in the period iithvthe exchange rates change. These
gains and losses are intended to partially offsefdreign currency exchange gains and losseseouarttierlying exposures being hedged. We
record the fair value of these contracts as okt of our reporting period in the ConsolidatedaBak Sheet. We do not use derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculativepmses.

Restricted Cash

Under the terms of one of our facility leases, wevjale security to the landlord in the form of é&# of credit. As of December 28, 2013
and December 29, 2012 , restricted cash includetifidlion and $0.3 million , respectively, of lets of credit secured by a certificate of
deposit.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (ppalty standard cost which approximates actual onst first-in, first-out basis) or market
value. The provision for potentially excess andoidte inventory is made based on management'sasaliyinventory levels and forecasted
future sales. On a quarterly basis, we review itmgnguantities on hand and on order under nonaabte purchase commitments in
comparison to our past usage and estimated foretpsbduct demand for the next six to twelve martthdetermine what inventory quantiti
if any, may not be sellable. Based on this analyseswrite down the affected inventory value fotireated excess and obsolescence charges.
Once the value is adjusted, the original cost ofioventory less the related inventory write-dowepnesents the new cost basis of such
products. Reversal of these write downs is recaghanly when the related inventory has been schppsold. Shipping and handling costs
are classified as a component of "Cost of revenimetie Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We design, manufacture and sell a fully custom pcoéhto a market that has been subject to cydtycahd significant demand
fluctuations. Probe cards are complex productdpouso a specific chip design and have to be dediv®n short lead-times. Probe cards are
manufactured in low volumes, but for certain maierithe material purchases are often subject nimmim purchase order quantities in excess
of the actual underlying probe card demand. lbisumcommon for us to acquire production mateaald commence production activities
based on estimated production yields and forecaiethnd prior to or in excess of actual demanddomwafer probe cards. These factors
result in normal recurring inventory valuation astjuents to cost of revenues. Aggregate inventoitewdowns were $10.5 million , $7.2
million and $7.9 million for fiscal 2013 , 2012 aB611 , respectively. We retain a portion of theess inventory until the customer's design is
discontinued. The inventory may be used to satis§tomer warranty demand.

When our products have been delivered, but thentexassociated with that product is deferred bectnesrelated revenue recognition
criteria have not been met, we defer the relatedritory costs. The deferred inventory costs daemoeed the deferred revenue amounts. The
deferred inventory costs are classified as a compioof "Prepaid expenses and other current assetis® Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less adetea depreciation and amortization. Depreciasgorovided on a straight-line
method over the following estimated useful liveshe assets: 1 to 5 years for machinery and equipriieo 5 years for computer equipment
and software and 1 to 5 years for furniture antlifixs. Leasehold improvements are amortized oeestibrter of the lease term or the
estimated useful life of the related asset. Constm-in-progress assets are not depreciated thitihssets are placed in service. Upon sale or
retirement of assets, the cost and related accueautkepreciation or amortization, are removed ftbenbalance sheet and the resulting gain o
loss is reflected in operations.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable assets acephiznd liabilities assumed. We have
determined that we operate in one reportable segooasisting of two operating segments relatinguo FormFactor and MicroProbe product
groups. We further have determined that for theppses of our goodwill impairment analysis, we hiave reporting units relating to our
FormFactor and MicroProbe product groups and wharehboth associated with the design, developmeatufacture, sale and support of
precision, high performance advanced semicondwueader probe cards.

In September 2011, the FASB amended its guidansenplify testing goodwill for impairment, allowingn entity to first assess
gualitative factors to determine whether it is reseey to perform a two-step quantitative goodwilpairment test. If an entity determines as a
result of the qualitative assessment that it iseritely than not that the fair value of a repagtumit is less than its carrying amount, then the
guantitative impairment test is required. Otherwisefurther testing is required.

The performance of the quantitative impairment iregblves a two-step process. The first step ofitingairment test involves comparing
the fair values of the applicable reporting unitéhwtheir aggregate carrying values, including geitldWe generally determine the fair values
of our reporting units using a combination of thedme approach (that includes the use of the digedwash flow method) and the market
approach (guideline company approach) valuatiorhotetlogies. If the carrying amount of a reportimit @xceeds the fair value of that
reporting unit, we perform the second step of thengitative impairment test to determine the amadimtnpairment loss. The second step of
the goodwill impairment test involves comparing implied fair value of the affected reporting unifoodwill with the carrying value of that
goodwill. We acquired MicroProbe and performediafalue assessment as of the acquisition dateb@ctl6, 2012, resulting in our current
goodwill balance. We performed our goodwill impaémi test for both reporting units in the fourth deaof fiscal 2013. No impairment
charges associated with our goodwill were recortleihg fiscal 2013. See note 9 to Notes to Conatdid Financial Statement&oodwill anc
Intangible Asset, for further details.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of acquisition relateédnigible assets and intellectual property. Thenigitzle assets are being amortized over
periods which reflect the pattern in which econobgaefits of the assets are expected to be realimed 1 to 10 years, utilizing a straight-line
basis of amortization. We perform a review of igfiéste assets when facts and circumstances indicatehe useful life is shorter than
originally estimated or that the carrying amounas$ets may not be recoverable. Such facts anghwstances include significant adverse
changes in the business climate or legal factansent period cash flow or operating losses combimith a history of losses or a forecast of
continuing losses associated with the use of ttam@ible assets; and current expectation thattfaagible assets will more likely than not be
sold or disposed of before the end of their estthatseful lives. We assess the recoverability eftified intangible assets by comparing the
projected undiscounted net cash flows associatddthe related asset or group of assets over itbiaining lives against their respective
carrying amounts. Impairments, if any, are basetherexcess of the carrying amount over the fdirevaf those assets.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We test long-lived assets or asset groups suchoaery, plant and equipment for recoverability whewents or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amoumdg not be recoverable. Circumstances which caigddr a review include, but are not
limited to: significant decreases in the market@iof the asset; significant adverse changes ibubmess climate or legal factors;
accumulation of costs significantly in excess @& #mount originally expected for the acquisitiortonstruction of the asset; current period
cash flow or operating losses combined with a hystd losses or a forecast of continuing losses@ated with the use of the asset; and cul
expectation that the asset will more likely tham @ sold or disposed of before the end of itsvestiéd useful life.

Recoverability is assessed based on the carryirmyats of the asset or asset group and the sune afrttiscounted cash flows expected
to result from the use and the eventual dispostii@fsset. An impairment loss is recognized whercarrying amount is not recoverable and
exceeds fair value.

As we entered the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 fased increasing operational and financial chaken including manufacturing
overcapacity and weak operating performance whadid a deterioration in market conditions. Assulie during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2013, we reviewed the recoverability of our longetl asset groups and we concluded that our busiveesable to fully recover the carrying
amounts of our assets. We performed an enterpiidgeimpairment test in the fourth fiscal quarte26fL.2 and no enterprise-wide impairment
charges were recorded. See Note 7 to Consolidatedi¢ial Statementsimpairment of Long-lived Assetfor additional information.
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Long-Lived Assets Held For Sale

We classify long-lived assets as held for sale wdestain criteria are met, including: managemergtamitment to a plan to sell the
assets; the availability of the assets for inmedsate in their present condition; whether an agirogram to locate buyers and other actions t
sell the assets has been initiated; whether tlzecddahe assets is probable and their transfergected to qualify for recognition as a completec
sale within one year; whether the assets are beareted at reasonable prices in relation to flagivalue; and whether it is unlikely that
significant changes will be made to the plan tbtbel assets.

We measure long-lived assets to be disposed odlieyas the lower of the carrying amount or fainnaless cost to sell. Fair value is
determined using quoted market prices or the gratied cash flows discounted at a rate commenswittehe risk involved. Changes to our
estimated fair values of such assets are recordégtiperiods in which such changes are identified.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and thkrtainties

Financial instruments that potentially subjectasdncentrations of credit risk consist primarifycash equivalents, marketable
securities and trade receivables. Our cash equitsaéind marketable securities are held in safekgdpj large, credit worthy financial
institutions. We invest our excess cash primarilyiS. banks, government and agency bonds, mongietrfands and corporate obligations.
We have established guidelines relative to credibgs, diversification and maturities that seeknmintain safety and liquidity. Deposits in
these banks may exceed the amounts of insurane&ledoon such deposits. To date, we have not expesd any losses on our deposits of
cash and cash equivalents.

We market and sell our products to a narrow bastistomers and generally do not require collaténdiscal 2013 , three customers
accounted for 18% , 17% and 12% of revenues. &alfid012 , three customers accounted for 29% , 4838412% of revenues. In fiscal 2011 ,
three customers accounted for 20% , 16% , and Fl¥#venues.

At December 28, 2013 , three customers accounte?flfh , 15% and 11% of gross accounts receivalil®etember 29, 2012 , one
customer accounted for 29% of gross accounts rabkivWe operate in the intensely competitive semdactor industry, including the
Dynamic Random Access Memory, or DRAM, Flash memand System-on-Chip or SoC markets, which have bbaracterized by price
erosion, rapid technological change, short protifetcyclical market patterns and heightened fgmeand domestic competition. Significant
technological changes in the industry could advgigkéect our operating results.

We are exposed to ngerformance risk by counterparties on the currdnoward exchange contracts used in hedging ad#iitiVe seek
minimize risk by diversifying our hedging programmrass multiple financial institutions. These coupéeaties are large international finan
institutions, and to date no such counterpartyfaided to meet its financial obligations to us.

Certain components for our wafer probe card pratizit meet our requirements are available onipfadimited number of suppliers. T
rapid rate of technological change and the negeskileveloping and manufacturing products withrslhife cycles may intensify our reliance
on such suppliers. The inability to obtain compdsaers required, or to develop alternative souiitesd as required in the future, could result
in delays or reductions in product shipments, whiicturn could have a material adverse effect anbmginess, financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidencaalta arrangement exists, title and risk of lossttensferred to the customer, the
selling price is fixed or determinable and collentof the related receivable is reasonably assimadstances where final acceptance of the
deliverable is specified by the customer, revesuwteferred until all acceptance criteria have beeh Revenues from the licensing of our
design and manufacturing technology, which havebeen material to date, are recognized over time ¢éithe license agreement or when the
significant contractual obligations have been figifi.

Warranty Obligations

We offer warranties on certain products and reediidbility for the estimated future costs assamawith warranty claims at the time
revenue is recognized. The warranty liability isdh upon historical experience and our estimatBeofevel of future costs. While we engage
in product quality programs and processes, ouraméyrobligation is affected by product failure sgteaterial usage and service delivery cost:
incurred in correcting a product failure. We continsly monitor product returns for warranty andmtein a reserve for the related expenses
based upon our historical experience and any spaltyfidentified field failures. As we sell newgaucts to our customers, we must exercise
considerable judgment in estimating the expectadréarates. This estimating process is based stotical experience of similar products, as



well as various other assumptions that we believeetreasonable under the circumstances.

71




FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

We provide for the estimated cost of product waiesrat the time revenue is recognized. Warransyscare reflected in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations as a cosvehues. A reconciliation of the changes in ouraray liability is as follows (in thousand:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29,

2013 2012
Warranty accrual beginning balance $ 734 $ 33C
Accrual for warranties issued during the year 1,91¢ 1,74¢
Settlements made during the year (1,959 (1,340
Warranty accrual ending balance $ 691 $ 734

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include expetestesl to product development, engineering anenatcosts. All research and
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The majority of our trade receivables are derivedifsales to large multinational semiconductor nfacturers throughout the world. In
order to monitor potential credit losses, we penf@ngoing credit evaluations of our customers'rfaial condition. An allowance for doubtful
accounts is maintained based upon our assessmi@ expected collectability of all accounts reabie. The allowance for doubtful accounts
is reviewed and assessed for adequacy on a qydrtais. We take into consideration (1) any cirdamses of which we are aware of a
customer's inability to meet its financial obligats and (2) our judgments as to prevailing econamilitions in the industry and their impact
on our customers. If circumstances change, anfirtaacial condition of our customers is adversdfgcted and they are unable to meet their
financial obligations to us, we may need to takditamhal allowances, which would result in an irese in our operating expense.

The allowance for doubtful accounts receivable =ted of the following activity for fiscal years 28, 2012 , and 2011 (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at

Beginning of Yeal Additions Reductions End of Year

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2011  $ 847 $ 29 $ (63¢) $ 23¢
Fiscal year ended December 29, 2012 23¢€ 202 (157) 28¢
Fiscal year ended December 28, 2013 $ 28¢ $ — $ 24 $ 26&

A description of activity recorded in our allowarice doubtful accounts is as follows:

» Fiscal 2011: we recorded a reduction in the provision of $iion primarily due to the receipt of paymentsaiing $0.3
million for accounts receivable previously reseread we wrote-off previously reserved accountsivatde in the amount of
$0.3 million .

» Fiscal 2012: we recorded a provision of $0.2 million and reke $0.2 million of allowance for doubtful accoutitat was
previously reserved.

» Fiscal 2013: we did not record a provision and released $24shnd of allowance for doubtful accounts that prasiously
reserved.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges include costs related to eyegl termination benefits, cost of long-lived assdtandoned or impaired, as well as
contract termination costs. The determination oémwtve accrue for employee termination benefits dep@®n whether the termination benefits
are provided under a one-time benefit arrangemeuander an on-going benefit arrangement. For regiring charges recorded as an on-goinc
benefit arrangement, a liability for post-employrmbenefits is recorded when payment is probabathount is reasonably estimable, and th
obligation relates to rights that have vested euauwilated. For restructuring charges recordedasedime benefit arrangement, we recognize
a liability for employee termination benefits wheeplan of termination, approved by management atabishing the terms of the benefit
arrangement, has been communicated to employeedinimg of the recognition of one-time employeentimation benefits is dependent upon
the period of time the employees are required idee service after communication. If employeesnarte
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required to render service in order to receivet¢imination benefits or if employees will not béaieed to render service beyond the minimun
legal notification period, a liability for the teimation benefits is recognized at the communicatiate. In instances where employees will be
retained to render service beyond the minimum lagéfication period, the liability for employeerteination benefits is measured initially at
the communication date based on the fair valudefiability as of the termination date and is igwiaed ratably over the future service period
We continually evaluate the adequacy of the remgitiabilities under our restructuring initiatives.

We record charges related to long-lived assete tahfandoned when the assets cease to be usedvi&lhease using a building or other
asset with remaining non-cancelable lease payneentinuing beyond our use period, we record alltgtfor remaining payments under lease
arrangements, as well as for contract terminatasis; that will continue to be incurred under ateot for its remaining term without
economic benefit to us at the cease-use date. @neesignificance of, and the timing of the exemutdf such activities, this process is comple
and involves periodic reassessments of estimates aisthe time the original decisions were madguding evaluating real estate market
conditions for expected vacancy periods and sukeleants. Although we believe that these estinstesrately reflect the costs of our
restructuring plans, actual results may differréhg requiring us to record additional provisiomgeverse a portion of such provisions.

The Company recorded restructuring charges of @dllion , $2.9 million and $0.5 million for fiscalears 2013 , 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively. See Note 5, Restructuring ChargelNpies to Consolidated Financial Statements fah&urdetails.

Income Taxes

We utilize the asset and liability method of acdimfor income taxes, under which deferred taxesdetermined based on the temporar
differences between the financial statement andbéais of assets and liabilities using tax ratgmeted to be in effect during the years in w|
the basis differences reverse and for operatirgpand tax credit carryforwards. We estimate oavigion for income taxes and amounts
ultimately payable or recoverable in numerous taisglictions around the world. Estimates involveeipretations of regulations and are
inherently complex. Resolution of income tax treats in individual jurisdictions may not be knovar fnany years after completion of any
fiscal year. We are required to evaluate the rahliity of our deferred tax assets on an ongoirgjs# determine whether there is a need for :
valuation allowance with respect to such defersedassets. A valuation allowance is recorded whisnnnore likely than not that some or all
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Sicant management judgment is required in detemgi@iny valuation allowance recorded
against deferred tax assets. In evaluating thé&yatilrecover deferred tax assets, we considenalilable positive and negative evidence gi
greater weight to our recent cumulative lossescmdbility to carryback losses against prior tdgabcome and, commensurate with objective
verifiability, the forecast of future taxable incerincluding the reversal of temporary differenced the implementation of feasible and pruc
tax planning strategies.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positidkantar expected to be taken in a tax return # iore likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by thertg authorities, based on the technical merithefposition. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from suclitipas are then measured based on the largestibdrathas a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settle&Ve report a liability for unrecognized tax bBtseresulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Wjlesathese reserves in light of changing facts@raimstances, such as the closing of a tax
audit or the refinement of an estimate. To themxeat the final tax outcome of these mattersffernt than the amounts recorded, such
differences will impact the provision for incomeés in the period in which such determination isleya he provision for income taxes
includes the impact of reserve provisions and chang reserves that are considered appropriateclaas the related net interest. We
recognize interest and penalties related to unmazed tax benefits within the income tax provisiéecrued interest and penalties are include
within the related tax liability caption line ingltonsolidated balance sheet.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjarisdictions around the world. A number of yearay elapse before an uncertain tax
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésitoften difficult to predict the final outcome thre timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our reseffee income taxes reflect the most likely outcoiMe adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, in light of changing facts amduwinstances. Settlement of any particular positimund require the use of cash.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense for all stockébawards based on the grant-date estimated faiesjanet of an estimated
forfeiture rate. The value of the portion of theaad/that is ultimately expected to vest is recogthias expense ratably over the requisiterice
periods in our Consolidated Statement of Operati®he fair value of stock options is measured usiregBlack-Scholes option pricing model
while the fair value for restricted stock awardd a@stricted stock units is measured based onldiseng market price of our common stock on
the date of grant.
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Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividirtdass by the weighted-average number of commoreshautstanding for the period.
Diluted net loss per share is computed giving éffeall potential dilutive common stock, includistpck options, restricted stock units and
common stock subject to repurchase. Diluted lossipare was based only on the weighted-average ewofishares outstanding during that

period as the inclusion of any common stock eqeivial would have been anti-dilutive.

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominatediin the calculation of basic and diluted nes losr share is as follows (in

thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 28, December 29, December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Numerator:
Net loss used in computing basic and diluted res lo

per share $ (57,68) $ (3554 $ (65,98)

Denominator:
Weighted-average shares used in computing basic net

loss per share 54,20: 50,55: 50,52:

Add potentially dilutive securities = =

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic and

diluted net loss per share 54,20« 50,55: 50,52:

The following table sets forth the weighted-averagmber of potentially dilutive securities excludeam the computation in the table

above because their effect would have been aniiirel (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Options to purchase common stock 3,80¢ 4,43( 4,89:
Restricted stock units 373 1,24¢ 1,15(
Employee stock purchase plan 22 39 13t
Total potentially dilutive securities 4,20( 5,71t 6,17¢

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) deduforeign currency translation adjustments amdalized gains (losses) on
available-forsale securities net of tax, the impact of which Iesn excluded from earnings and reflected as coergs of stockholders' equi

Components of accumulated other comprehensive iadtoas) was as follows (in thousands):

December 28, December 29,

2013 2012
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net>obfa5428
in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively $ (409 $ (270
Cumulative translation adjustments 16C 1,98t
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $ (249 $ 1,71¢

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued revised guidamc¢eComprehensive Income: Reporting of Amounts Refiled€dut of Accumulate
Other Comprehensive Incomelhe revised guidance does not change the currguirements for reporting net income or other corhpnsive
income in financial statements. However, the raliggidance requires an entity to provide informatdout the amounts reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income by compohreatidition, an entity is required to presentei on the face of the statement where
net income is presented or in the notes, signifieamounts reclassified out of accumulated otherprefrensive income by the respective line

items of net income but
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only if the amount reclassified is required und&A® to be reclassified to net income in its entinet the same reporting period. For other
amounts that are not required under GAAP to bessdied in their entirety to net income, an enstyequired to cross-reference to other
disclosures required under GAAP that provide addél detail about those amounts. The revised goelaras adopted by the Company for its
fiscal year 2013 commencing on December 30, 208Zahnot have a material effect on the Comparnyantial position, results of operatic
or liquidity.

In July 2013, the FASB issued an accounting stahdpdate that provides explicit guidance on tharfrial statement presentation of ar
unrecognized tax benefit when a net operatingdass/-forward or a tax credit carry-forward existéth the purpose of reducing diversity in
practice. Under the new standard update, with iceeteceptions, the Company’s unrecognized tax bemefa portion of an unrecognized tax
benefit, should be presented in the financial statgs as a reduction to a deferred tax assetriet aperating loss carry-forward or a tax credit
carry-forward. This accounting standard update bélleffective for the Company beginning in thetfiqgarter of fiscal 2014 and applied
prospectively with early adoption permitted. As @empany’s disclosures already conform to the meglupresentation, adoption of this
standard will not impact its financial positionresults of operations.

Note 3—Acquisition

On October 16, 2012, we acquired Astria Semicoratudolding, Inc., including its subsidiary Micro-étre Incorporated (together
“MicroProbe”), with Astria continuing as the suring corporation and as a wholly-owned subsidiarfFafmFactor (the "MicroProbe
Acquisition"). We originally estimated the acquiit price and recorded the fair values of the Mimabe assets acquired and liabilities
assumed on October 17, 2012 at the values notib@ i@riginal Values column in the table below. Dgrthe year ended December 28, 2013 ,
we made adjustments to the acquisition price réladevorking capital adjustments pursuant to thevent acquisition agreement, together \
adjustments to preliminary measurements of netilidangssets, resulting in the final values noteldwein thousands):

Original Values Final Values
Tangible net assets $ 31,84: $ 32,78¢
Intangible assets 77,60( 77,60(
Deferred income tax liabilities (26,667) (26,667)
Goodwill 30,99 30,73:
Total acquisition price $ 113770 $ 114,45

The total acquisition consideration of $114.5 roilliwas determined based on the terms of the releeapisition agreement which
consisted of a) $100.0 million in cash, subjec %2.6 million decrease based on MicroProbe's wgrkapital as of the consummation of the
MicroProbe Acquisition relative to an agreed-upargét, and b) 3,020,944 shares of FormFactor'srmomstock valued at the closing market
price of $4.57 per share on October 16, 2012, beddir value of a settlement related to litigat@iween the two parties of $3.3 million . We
recorded $77.6 million of identifiable intangiblesats and $6.1 million of net tangible assetsph$26.7 million of deferred income tax
liabilities, based on their estimated fair valuasgd $30.7 million of goodwill.

The results of operations of the MicroProbe busirsesl the estimated fair values of the assets r@zhjand liabilities assumed have
been included in our consolidated financial stateisince the date of the MicroProbe Acquisitioor. the years ended December 28, 2848
December 29, 2012 , the contribution of the acguiécroProbe business to our total revenues weBe2billion and $19.8 million
respectively. The portion of total expenses andnmme associated with the acquired MicroProbéness was not separately identifiable due
to the integration with our operations.

Note 4—Balance Sheet Components
Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at December 28, 2013 conkitéhe following (in thousands):
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Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
US Treasuries $ 48,99! $ 33 % (100 $ 49,01«
Commercial paper 11,62 — — 11,62
Agency securities (Federal) 31,26: 1 4) 31,25¢
$ 91,87F $ 34 % 14 $ 91,89t

Marketable securities at December 29, 2012 consitéhe following (in thousands):

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
US Treasuries $ 43,49 $ 97 $ — $ 43,58
Agency securities (Federal) 49,89¢ 63 Q) 49,95¢
$ 9338t $ 16C $ 2 $ 93,54¢

We typically invest in highly-rated securities withw probabilities of default. Our investment pgliequires investments to be rated
single-A or better, limits the types of acceptablestments, concentration as to security holddrduration of the investment. The gross
unrealized losses on the Company's investmentsdalf2013 and 2012 , respectively, were causedapily by changes in interest rates.

Our investment portfolio consists of both corporatel government securities that have a maximumpnityatf three years. The longer
the duration of these securities, the more suddepitiey are to changes in market interest ratddand yields. As yields increase, those
securities with a lower yield-at-cost show a mark¥tarket unrealized loss. We do not have a forddeaeeed to liquidate the portfolio and
anticipate recovering the full cost of the secesitéither as market conditions improve, or as éearities mature. Accordingly, we believe that
the unrealized losses are not other-than-tempovehen evaluating the investments for other-thangemary impairment, we review factors
such as the length of time and extent to whichvalue has been below the amortized cost basigrdumarket liquidity, interest rate risk, the
financial condition of the issuer, as well as crediing downgrades.

As of December 28, 2013, none of our investmeatstieen in a continuous loss position for 12 moathsore.

The contractual maturities of marketable securdesf December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012 asdi@lows (in thousands):

December 28, 2013 December 29, 2012
Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 59,88t $ 59,89: $ 33,407 $ 33,50(
Due after one year to five years 31,98 32,00: 59,97¢ 60,04:

$ 91,87 $ 91,89 $ 93,38¢ $ 93,54¢

Realized gains on sales or maturities of marketsddeirities were immaterial for each of the fisedrs 2013 , 2012 , and 2011,
respectively.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We account for the fair value of a liability for asset retirement obligation to be recognized énpidriod in which it is incurred if a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be madefdihealue of the liability is added to the carrgiamount of the associated asset and this
additional carrying amount is amortized over tffie ¢if the asset. Our asset retirement obligati@s#ociated with our commitment to return
property subject to operating leases in Taiwanils&orea, Singapore and Japan to their originatlt@m upon lease termination. We have
estimated that as of December 28, 2013 , grossctegbéuture cash flows of $1.0 million would be ueqd to fulfill these obligations.

The carrying amount of the leasehold improvemesgslting from asset retirement obligations is beinwrtized over the term of the
related lease. Leasehold improvements amortizatipense was immaterial for each of fiscal year82®012
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and 2011 . During fiscal 2012, we updated our esténfior our asset retirement obligation in conjiorctvith the renewal of leases in certain
locations. As a result, we recorded a benefit o2 $fillion due to the reduction in the estimatetlifa required cash flows related to our
obligations at these locations.

In connection with our third quarter fiscal 2010sRacturing Plan, we recorded impairment charge&lof million to write down the
carrying amount of leasehold improvements assatiatth asset retirement obligations in our Singapoanufacturing facility. This
impairment charge was included within "Restructgriharges, net" in the Consolidated Statementgpef&ions for fiscal 2010. Subsequen
in fiscal 2011 we executed an amendment to thdiegitease arrangement for our facility in Singagpatich released us from our obligations
related to the floor previously utilized for mancifiaring in this facility. As a result, our Consaligd Statements of Operations for fiscal 2011
includes a benefit of $1.1 million recorded to "Resturing charges, net".

The following is a reconciliation of the aggregesérement liability associated with our commitmémtreturn property to its original
condition upon lease termination included in norrent "Deferred rent and other liabilities” in tBensolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands

Fiscal Years Ended

December 28, December 29,

2013 2012
Asset retirement obligation beginning balance $ 1292 $ 1,581
Liabilities settled (169 —
Decrease based on revised estimates of assetretit®@bligations — (212
Currency translation (13%) (77
Asset retirement obligation ending balance $ 98t $ 1,29

Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following (in thoussnd

Fiscal Years Ended

December 28, December 29,

2013 2012
Raw materials $ 7,411 $ 8,70z
Work-in-progress 10,53 11,18
Finished goods 2,76~ 3,73

$ 20,700 $  23,61¢
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of th@¥dhg (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29,

2013 2012
Building $ 79C % 79C
Machinery and equipment 143,46: 132,41¢
Computer equipment and software 34,547 33,89(
Capital leases 86¢€ 2,367
Furniture and fixtures 5,49¢ 5,761
Leasehold improvements 67,38¢ 68,44(
Sub total 252,54! 243,66
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (221,349 (211,55)
Net long-lived assets 31,19¢ 32,11(
Construction-in-progress 3,991 13,40¢
Total $ 3519 $ 4551

In fiscal 2013 , we did not write off any fully degziated assets, while in fiscal 2012 we wrotefulff depreciated assets with an
acquired cost of $0.2 million .

As discussed in Note 7 to the Consolidated Findist@tements - Impairment of Long-lived Assetdjsigal 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , we
recorded aggregated impairment charges of $0.8mill$0.4 million and $0.5 million in our long-kd assets, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization of property, plard aquipment, excluding the impairments chargesudsed above, for the fiscal years
2013, 2012 and 2011 was $12.2 million , $10.3iariland $10.8 million , respectively.

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following tinousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29,

2013 2012
Accrued compensation and benefits $ 797t $ 7,91¢
Accrued indirect and other taxes 1,40( 4,382
Accrued commissions 44¢ 51t
Accrued warranty 691 734
Deferred rent 154 13¢
Accrued restructuring 13¢ 61€
Other accrued expenses 3,17¢ 2,96¢

$ 13,98t $ 17,27(

In fiscal 2010, we ceased the utilization of thacsin our facility in Singapore that was expedtele utilized for our manufacturing
operations and in connection with this decision averued a restructuring charge of $0.4 million posed of the remaining lease obligation
that will continue to be incurred under this opergiease contract. Subsequently, in fiscal 201d ewecuted an amendment to the existing
lease arrangement for our facility in Singaporeclihieleased us from our obligations related tosffece previously utilized for manufacturing
in this facility. As a result, our Consolidated t8taent of Operations for fiscal 2011 includes adfienf $0.4 millionrecorded to "Restructuril
charges, net", reflecting the reduction in the reing liability as of the date of the newly exealitrrangement.
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Note 5—Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges include costs related to eyepl termination benefits, cost of long-lived assdtandoned or impaired, as well as
contract termination costs. Restructuring chargeseflected separately as "Restructuring chamgss,in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. A summary of the actions we have takeimg fiscal 2013, 2012 , and 2011 , the purpdsehich were to improve operating
efficiency, streamline and simplify our operati@msl reduce our operating costs, are discussed below

2013 Restructuring Activities

I n the first fiscal quarter of 2013, we implemengestructuring plan (the "Q1 2013 RestructurirgnPl which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 31 employeesoas the organization. In addition we reducedtemnporary workforce by approximately
20 positions. We also suspended development aetivand engineering efforts for our next generab®AM Matrix platform and terminated
development activities for a certain SoC produatfpkm. We recorded $4.0 million of restructurirttaoges during the first fiscal quarter of
2013, which was comprised of $1.3 million in sewe®and related benefits and $2.7 million in impa&int charges for certain equipment that
would no longer be utilized.

I n the fourth fiscal quarter of 2013, we implemerdge®structuring plan (the "Q4 2013 Restructuriten® which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 17 full-timenployees across the organization. In addition, @deiced our temporary workforce by 17
positions. We recorded $0.4 million of restructgritharges during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2@ir3¥everance and related benefits.

The liabilities we accrued represent our best egrof the obligations we expect to incur and cdiddubject to adjustment as market
conditions change. The remaining cash paymentgiased with our various reductions in workforce arpected to be paid by the end of the
first fiscal quarter of 2014 . As such, the resniag accrual is recorded as a current liabilifhim ‘Accrued liabilities’ in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of December 28, 2013 .

2012 Restructuring Activities

In the second fiscal quarter of 2012, we record2d $illion in charges for severance and relatetkebts related to restructuring
activities. This resulted in the reduction of olotml workforce by one full-time employee across tiiganization. The activities comprising
this restructuring activity were completed in fis2@12.

In the third fiscal quarter of 2012, we implemengeckstructuring plan (the "Q3 2012 Restructuriten® which resulted in the reducti
of our global workforce by 44 employees acrossattganization. In conjunction with this action, weainitiated a plan to cease our memory
product assembly and test manufacturing operatiodapan. We recorded $1.8 million in severancerateded benefits, $0.2 million in
charges for contract termination, and other cadtted to restructuring activities during the gearelated to this plan, and $0.4 million in
impairment charges for certain equipment and le@ldamprovements that would no longer be utiliz€de activities comprising this reduction
in workforce were completed by the end of fiscal20

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2012, we implemehgerestructuring plan (the "Q4 2012 RestructuRtan") which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by four employeesoss the organization. We recorded $0.4 milliogeverance and related benefits relate
to restructuring activities. The activities comprgsthis reduction in workforce were completediscél 2013.

2011 Restructuring Activities

In the first quarter of fiscal 2011, we implementerestructuring plan (the “Q1 2011 RestructuritenP which resulted in the reductic
of our global workforce by 13 full-time employees@ss the organization. We recorded $1.1 millionharges for severance and related
benefits related to this plan. The activities coisipg this reduction in workforce were substangi@ibmpleted by the end of the second quarte
of fiscal 2011.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2011, we implemgateestructuring plan (the “Q2 2011 Restructuft@n”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 13 full-timenployees across the organization. We recorded$idlién in charges for severance and
related benefits related to this plan. The ac@sittomprising this reduction in workforce were sabsally completed by the end of the third
quarter of fiscal 2011.
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Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 204& executed an amendment to the existing leasegamaent for our facility in
Singapore which released us from our obligatiofeted to the space previously utilized for manufeiog in this facility. We were also grant
a rent reduction for the remaining occupied fae#itin this building. We had previously recordedaia asset retirement obligations of $1.1
million (see Note 4 to Consolidated Financial Staats - Balance Sheet Components) and accrualsdadtaour cessation of the use of these
facilities in connection with a prior restructuriagtion of $0.4 million . As a result, our Consalied Statement of Operations for fiscal 2011
includes a benefit of $1.5 million recorded to "Resturing charges, net".

In the third quarter of fiscal 2011, we implemengeestructuring plan (the “Q3 2011 RestructurifenP® which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by four full-timemployees primarily in our procurement and logstrganizations. We recorded $0.3
million in charges for severance and related bé&negiated to this plan. The activities comprisinig plan were completed during fiscal 2011.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we implemehgerestructuring plan (the “Q4 2011 Restructuian”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by eight full-ttnemployees primarily in our finance and procurenaeal logistics organizations. We
recorded $0.3 million in charges for severanceratated benefits related to this plan. The acégitomprising this reduction were completed
in fiscal 2012.

The following table summarizes the activities rethto the restructuring actions of fiscal 2011@42 (in thousands):

Employee Property and Contract
Severance and  Equipment Termination
Benefits Impairment  and Other Costs Total
Accrual at December 25, 2010 $ 1,382 $ — % 451 $ 1,83:¢
Restructuring charges 2,30( — — 2,30(
Adjustments to restructuring charges — — (374 (379
Cash payments (3,039 — (77 (3,116
Non-cash settlements (443) — — (443)
Accrual at December 31, 2011 20C — — 20C
Restructuring charges 2,261 462 194 2,917
Adjustments to restructuring charges — — 31 31
Cash payments (1,919 — (157 (2,070
Non-cash settlements — (462) — (462)
Accrual at December 31, 2012 54¢ — 68 61€
Restructuring charges 2,08: 2,74 15 4,841
Asset impairments — (2,749 — (2,749
Adjustments to restructuring charges (17¢) (5) — (183)
Cash payments (2,320 (32 a7 (2,369)
Non-cash settlements 5 37 (6€) (24)
Accrual at December 28, 2013 $ 138 S —  $ — $ 13¢

The liabilities we have accrued represent our bstinate of the obligations we expect to incur emald be subject to adjustment as
market conditions change. The remaining cash patgrassociated with our various reductions in waiddoare expected to be completed by
the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2014 .
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Note 6—Derivative Financial Instruments

We operate and sell our products in various glotaikets. As a result, we are exposed to chandesdign currency exchange rates.
We utilize foreign currency forward contracts talpe against future movements in foreign exchangs that affect certain existing foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities. Uttderprogram, our strategy is to have increaseteoreases in our foreign currency exposure:
offset by gains or losses on the foreign curremmewérd contracts to mitigate the risks and volgtéissociated with foreign currency transac
gains or losses. We do not use derivative finanegituments for speculative or trading purposas. @&rivative instruments are not designate
as hedging instruments. We record the fair valuta@$e contracts as of the end of our reportingp@eo our Consolidated Balance Sheet with
changes in fair value recorded within "Other incomst" in our Consolidated Statement of Operation®oth realized and unrealized gains
and losses.

As of December 28, 2013 , there were three outsigrfdreign exchange forward contracts, one cohtasell Japanese Yen and two
contracts to buy Korean Won and Taiwan Dollars. fitlewing tables provide information about ourdayn currency forward contracts
outstanding as of December 28, 2013 and Decembh&022 (in thousands):

December 28, Contract Amount Contract Amount
2013 Contract Position (Local Currency) (U.S. Dollar)
(In thousands)
Japanese Yen Sell 439,32t $ 4,17¢
Taiwan Dollar Buy (13,779 (462)
Korean Won Buy (1,034,319 (989)
Total USD notional amount of outstanding foreign
exchange contracts $ 2,72¢
December 29, Contract Amount Contract Amount
2012 Contract Position (Local Currency) (U.S. Dollar)
(In thousands)
Japanese Yen Buy (63,74) $ (74))
Taiwan Dollar Buy (30,46 (1,067
Korean Won Buy (721,420 (677)
Total USD notional amount of outstanding foreign
exchange contracts $ (2,479

The contracts outstanding at December 28, 2013 amrred into on December 27, 2013 and maturecwmmady 28, 2014 for the
Taiwan Dollar, Korean Won and Japanese Yen. Owidarcurrency contracts are classified within Le¥elf the fair value hierarchy as they
are valued using pricing models that utilize obable market inputs. There was zero change in theea these contracts as of December 28,
2013 . Additionally, zero gains or losses relatinghe outstanding derivative contracts as of Ddism28, 2013 and December 29, 2012 were
recorded during the respective fiscal periods.

The location and amount of losses related to naigdated derivative instruments that matured icafi2013 and 2012 in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations are as fsl{@wthousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

Location of Loss Recognized  December 28, December 29,
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments on Derivatives 2013 2012

Foreign exchange forward contracts Other Income, net $ 5 $ (290
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Note 7—Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The following table summarizes the components efittpairments that we recorded in fiscal 2013 28id 2011 (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Impairment of long-lived assets:
Assets held for sale $ — $ 16 $ —
Assets to be disposed of other than by sale 761 258 54¢
Total $ 761 $ 421 $ 54¢

Assets held for sale

In fiscal 2013 , we did not record any assets faldale. In fiscal 2012 , we recorded a $0.2 mrltharge related to certain assets w
were previously held for sale that were determitoelle no longer saleable and used for internalgae®. In fiscal 2011 , we did not record
impairment charges related to our assets helddfer s

These impairments were included within "Impairmefitong-lived assets" in the Consolidated Statenoé@perations for their
respective periods.

Assets to be disposed of other than by sale

In fiscal 2013 , we recorded $0.8 million relatediianufacturing assets and software we no longereutin fiscal 2012 , we recorded
$0.2 million related to the termination of on-goionstruction-in-progress projects. During fiscdl2 , we recorded impairment charges
totaling $0.5 million related to certain assetbeéodisposed of other than by sale, all of whichtesl to the termination of certain on-going
projects that had been recorded in constructiopragress, including aspects of certain softwaresliggment for internal use.

All of these charges are included in "Impairmenloofg-lived assets" in the Consolidated Statemeh@perations for their respective
periods.

Note 8—Fair Value

We use fair value measurements to record adjustntertertain financial and ndimancial assets and to determine fair value d&ales
The carrying amounts of certain of our financiatinments, including cash and cash equivalentsuats receivable, accounts payable,
accrued compensation and other accrued liabilidpproximate fair value because of their short nitéés. Our marketable securities are
financial assets recorded at fair value on a réoyityasis.

The accounting standards for fair value definesvalue, establishes a framework for measuringvaine and requires disclosures ak
fair value measurements. Fair value is definedhagptice that would be received from selling aretiss paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the ureasent date. When determining the fair value measents for assets and liabilities
required to be recorded at fair value, we condideprincipal or most advantageous market in winetwould transact and consider
assumptions that market participants would use vghieimg the asset or liability, such as inheresit,rtransfer restrictions, and risk of
nonperformance. The accounting standard estableFeis value hierarchy that requires an entityneximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when méagfair value. A financial instrument's categotiaa within the fair value hierarchy is
based upon the lowest level of input that is sigaiit to the fair value measurement. The standesdribes a fair value hierarchy based on:
levels of inputs, the first two of which are coresield observable and the last unobservable. We épplpllowing fair value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair vadsdollows:

* Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities

» Level 2—Inputs, other than the quoted priceadtive markets, such as quoted prices for simgaets or liabilities, quoted prices near
the reporting date in markets that are less aabivether inputs that are observable or can beoborated by observable market data
for substantially the full term of the assets ablities.

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportetitthe or no market activity and that are sigoént to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.
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We obtain the fair value of our Level 1 investméntsertain money market funds, at the expectedetarice. These investments are
expected to maintain a net asset value of $1 meesh

We determine the fair value of our Level 2 finah@igtruments from several third party asset marggristodian banks, and the
accounting service providers. Independently, tlseseice providers use professional pricing servioggather pricing data, which may include
guoted market prices for identical or comparabrirments or inputs other than quoted prices tteabbservable either directly or indirectly.

We utilize the market approach to measure thevtdire of our fixed income securities. The markgirapch is a valuation technique
that uses prices and other relevant informatioreggiad by market transactions involving identicat@mparable assets or liabilities. The fair
value of our fixed income securities is obtainethgseadily-available market prices from a variefyndustry standard data providers, large
financial institutions, and other third-party soesdor the identical underlying securities.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
We measure and report certain assets and liabilitiéair value on a recurring basis, including mpmarket funds, U.S. Treasury
securities, agency securities and foreign currelgrivatives (see Note 6 to Consolidated Finandiale®hents - Derivative Financial

Instruments for a discussion of fair value of fgrecurrency derivatives). The following tables es@nt the fair value hierarchy for our
financial assets (cash equivalents and marketallarities):

Fair value measured on a recurring basis as ofBleee28, 2013 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 27,94: $ — 27,94
Commercial paper — 11,62 11,62
Marketable securities
US Treasuries — 49,01 49,01«
Agency securities (Federal) — 31,25¢ 31,25¢
Total $ 27,94: $ 91,89 $ 119,83t

Fair value measured on a recurring basis as ofleee29, 2012 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 54,73. $ — $ 54,73
Marketable securities
US Treasuries — 43,58’ 43,58
Agency securities (Federal) — 49,95¢ 49,95¢
Total $ 54,73. $ 93,54t $ 148,27

The Level 1 assets consist of our money market flembsits. The Level 2 assets consist of our avaitor-sale investment portfolio,
which are valued utilizing a market approach. Gurestments are priced by pricing vendors who pexidbservable inputs for their pricing
without applying significant judgment. Broker prigiis used mainly when a quoted price is not albkdlahe investment is not priced by our
pricing vendors or when a broker price is moreeadfle of fair values in the market in which theestment trades. Our broker-priced
investments are labeled as Level 2 investmentsusedair values of these investments are basetlaisassets without applying significant
judgments. In addition, all of our investments hawaufficient level of trading volume to demonsrttat the fair values used are appropi
for these investments.

We did not have any transfers of assets measuffad &hlue on a recurring basis to or from Levelrnd Level 2 during fiscal 2013 and
2012.
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Assets Measured at Fair Value on a NonrecurringiBas

We measure and report goodwill and intangible asstefiair value on a non-recurring basis. See Ndtgangible Assets and Goodwill,
for further details.

As of December 28, 2013, our financial assetwes recorded at fair value on a n@wurring basis comprised of a note receivable
The MicroManipulator Company (TMMC), a wholly-ownedbsidiary of MicroProbe based in Carson City, &t TMMC manufactures
manual, analytical probe stations and accessakiesf June 29, 2013, TMMC's assets were sold tmésagement team for a purchase
consideration of $1.0 million , of which $0.2 malfi was received in cash and $0.8 million in thenfaf a note receivable to be repaid over 7
years at 5% interest rate. We intend to hold this note recdivaintil its maturity. We classified this note ra@ble at a Level 3 category in t
fair value hierarchy and determined its fair valtiizing the income approach by applying a weighé&erage cost of capital discount rate to
arrive at the net present value of the note rebéévaf approximately $0.5 million which approximsfiés amortized cost.

We did not have any other assets measured atdtie wn a nonrecurring basis during the year efidex@mber 28, 2013The following
table represents the fair value hierarchy for ongtlived assets measured at fair value on a namiag basis at their respective measurement
dates (in thousands) at December 29, 2012 :

Total Losses

Level 3 Fiscal 2012

Long-lived assets held for sale at December 311201 $ 38 $ —
Equipment impairment (168 (16%)
Equipment returned to held and used (15%) —
Equipment sold (66) —
Long-lived assets held for sale at December 292201  $ — $ (16¥)

During fiscal 2012, equipment with a carrying vabfe$0.2 million was determined to be unusable wad written-off, $0.2 million of
equipment was returned to held and used, andHass#0.1 million of equipment was sold.

Our fair value processes include controls thatasgned to ensure appropriate fair values areadedoSuch controls include model
validation, review of key model inputs, and anaysi period-over-period fluctuations and independeoalculation of prices.

Note 9—Goodwill and Intangible Assets

On October 16, 2012, we completed the acquisitfoistria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., including iajor subsidiary Micro-Probe
Incorporated (together "MicroProbe") which is ounghsubstantial acquisition to date (the "MicroRrétquisition"). The MicroProbe
Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisitisethod of accounting under which assets and fiisilof MicroProbe were recorded at
their respective fair values including an amoumtgoodwill representing the difference betweenabguisition consideration and the fair value
of the identifiable net assets. The changes irdinging amount of goodwill as a result of the adaequisition, which is not deductible for tax
purposes for fiscal 2013 were as follows (in thaowls:
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Goodwill Amount

Balance as of December 29, 2012 $ 30,99¢
Working capital adjustments affecti

the MicroProbe purchase price 684
Change in fair value of net intangib

and tangible assets (57¢)
Balance as of March 30, 2013 31,10(
Sale of subsidiary 77
Change in value of net tangible assets (965)
Balance as of June 29, 2013 29,95¢
Change in value of net tangible assets 773

Balance as of December 28, 2013 $ 30,73:

In the first fiscal quarter of 2013, we increaseddwill by approximately $0.7 million in connectiavith the working capital
adjustments pursuant to the acquisition agreeraedtdecreased goodwill by approximately $0.6 mmilliesulting from a number of revisions
to preliminary fair value measurements of net talegassets. In the second fiscal quarter of 2048dwill was decreased by approximately
$0.2 million in connection with the sale of TMMCsabsidiary of MicroProbe, and by approximately0®illion for further revisions to
preliminary fair value measurements, principallyuking from the adjustment of a liability assuniedhe acquisition resulting from a
settlement. In the third fiscal quarter of 2013pdwill was increased by approximately $0.8 millfon correction of an immaterial error
relating to the preliminary fair value measuremetsing from the valuation of leased equipmentfabe acquisition date.

The Company has not recorded any historical goddwgairments as of December 28, 2013 .

As we entered the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 fased increasing operational and financial chgkes) including manufacturing
overcapacity and weak operating performance whadhd a deterioration in market conditions. Assule during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2013, in conjunction with our annual goodwill impaent test, we performed the first step of the step goodwill impairment test relating to
our two reporting units to ascertain if the cargyiralues of the net assets exceeded fair valuesutiizzed an equal weighting of both the
discounted cash flow method of the income appraachthe guideline company method of the marketagmtr to estimate the fair value of «
two reporting units. The estimates used in the impant testing were consistent with the discretedasts that we use to manage our busines
and considered the significant discrete developsitrat we expect to occur such as independentdsteof market growth, the introduction of
new products, manufacturing synergies from our &itipn and cost reductions. Under the discounteshdlow method, cash flows beyond
discrete forecasts were estimated using a terrgioaith rate, which considered the lotegm earnings growth rate specific to our two répgi
units. The estimated future cash flows were distadito present value using a discount rate thatthasalue-weighted average of the
reporting unit's estimated cost of equity and distved using both known and estimated market ow®tand was adjusted to reflect risk fac
that considered both the timing and risks assatiaith the estimated cash flows. The tax rate usd¢ke discounted cash flow method
reflected the international structure currentlpliace, which is consistent with the market partiaipperspective. Under the guideline company
method, market multiples were applied to forecast@gnues and earnings before interest, taxesedefion and amortization. The market
multiples used were consistent with comparableiplybiraded companies.

The results of the first step of the impairment tedicated that the goodwill of the FormFactor &tidroProbe reporting units were not
impaired, as the estimated fair values in excessuf/ing values were approximately $32 million &4d million, respectively, or 16% and
39%, over the carrying value of the reporting yniéspectively. As a result, we did not record amgairment to our goodwill as of December
28, 2013.

The evaluation of goodwill and intangible assetsrftpairment requires the exercise of significartigment. In the event of future

changes in business conditions, we will be requioegassess and update our forecasts and estiosa@sn future impairment analyses. If the
results of these analyses are lower than curréma@®s, a material impairment charge may resuhatttime.
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The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 203tha net book value of intangible assets at Deeer?28®, 2013 and December 29,
2012 were as follows (in thousands):

Weight
Average
Intangible Assets, Gross Amount Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Net Useful Life

Other

Intangible December December 28 December Expense, December 28 December 29 December 28 December 28
Assets 29,2012 Additions/Disposals 2013 29, 2012 net 2013 2012 2013 2013
Existing

developed

technologies $ 37,04¢ $ 14,20 $ 51,24¢ $ 6,05t $12,90( $ 18,95¢ $ 30,99($ 32,29 24

Trade name 4,50( (112 4,38¢ 94 43¢ 53C 4,40¢ 3,85¢ 8.8

Customer
relationships  17,00( — 17,00( 44F 2,13¢ 2,581 16,55¢ 14,41¢ 6.8

Non-
compete
agreement 10C — 10C 21 79 10C 79 — 0

Backlog 3,50( — 3,50( 2,59¢ 90¢€ 3,50( 90¢ — 0

Favorable
lease asset 30C — 30C 63 237 30C 237 — 0

Total finite-

lived

intangible

assets 62,44¢ 14,08¢ 76,53¢ 9,27z 16,69« 25,96¢ 53,17¢ 50,57(
In-process

research an

developmen  21,10( (14,200 6,90( — — — 21,10( 6,90(

Total

intangible
assets $83,54t $ (112 $ 8343t $ 9,277 $16,69. $ 2596t $ 74,27¢$ 57,47(

Weight
Average
Intangible Assets, Gross Amount Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Net Useful Life

Other

Intangible December December 29 December December 29 December 31 December 29 December 29
Assets 31,2011 Additions 2012 31,2011 Expense 2012 2011 2012 2012
Existing

developed

technologies $ 5,94¢ $31,10( $ 37,04t $ 2,70¢ $ 3,34¢ $ 6,05t $ 3,24:% 30,99 2.2

Trade name — 4,50( 4,50( — 94 94 — 4,40¢ 10.0

Customer
relationships — 17,00( 17,00¢( — 44E 44E — 16,55¢ 8.0

Non-
compete
agreement — 10C 10C — 21 21 — 79 1.0

Backlog — 3,50(C 3,50(¢ — 2,59 2,59/ — 90¢€ 0.3

Favorable
lease asset — 30C 30C — 63 63 — 237 1.0

Total finite-

lived

intangible

assets 5,94¢  56,50( 62,44¢ 2,70¢ 6,56¢€ 9,27: 3,24z 53,17¢
In-process

research an

developmen —  21,10( 21,10( — — — — 21,10(

Total
intangible
assets $ 5,94¢ $77,60C $ 8354¢ $ 2,706 $ 6,56€ $ 9,27z $  3,24:$ 74,27¢




During the year ended December 28, 2013 , purchasgacess research and development (IPR&D) ptejeom the MicroProbe
Acquisition with a carrying value of $14.2 milliamere completed and reclassified as finite-livedmgible assets, and are currently being
amortized over their estimated useful lives.

The remaining IPR&D assets are classified as indeflived intangible assets that are not currestlyject to
amortization but are reviewed for impairment anlyuat whenever events or changes in circumstammisate that the carrying value of such
assets may not be recoverable. The IPR&D assdtbavilubject to amortization upon completion ofrthespective research projects and at th
start of commercialization. The fair values assijteelPR&D assets were determined using the incappeoach based on estimates and
judgments regarding risks inherent in the develagmeocess, including the likelihood of achievieghnological success and mar
acceptance. If an IPR&D project is abandoned, tiygiiaed technology attributable to the project Wil expensed in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

We recorded $16.7 million , $6.6 million and $1.2lion , in amortization expense related to ouaimyible assets in fiscal 2013 , 2012 ,
and 2011 , respectively. Of the total amortizagapense for fiscal 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , $13ll&>m, $6.0
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million , and $1.2 million were charged to costre¥enues, respectively, and $2.9 million , $0.6ianiland zero were charged to selling,
general and administrative expense, respectively.

Based on the carrying value of the finite-livedaimgible assets recorded as of December 28, 2848 assuming no subsequent addit
to or impairment of the underlying assets, the iiaing estimated annual amortization expense is @rpeo be as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Amount
2014 $ 18,78:
2015 12,73¢
2016 8,72(
2017 2,551
2018 2,501
and thereafter 5,27¢
Total $ 50,57(

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

We lease facilities under non-cancellable operdgages with various expiration dates through 20R&. facilities generally require us
to pay property taxes, insurance and maintenansts.déurther, several lease agreements contairseatation clauses or rent holidays. For
purposes of recognizing minimum rental expenses stnaight-line basis over the terms of the leasegjse the date of initial possession to
begin amortization. We have the option to extenceaew most of our leases which may increase theduminimum lease commitments.

Rent expense for the fiscal years 2013 , 2012 28id was $4.9 million , $4.7 million and $4.8 ioifl , respectively.

We lease certain equipment under capital leasescdst and accumulated depreciation for assets gagéal leases, which were
included in property, plant and equipment in theoagpanying Consolidated Balance Sheets are asv®llim thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29,

2013 2012
Cost $ 86€ $ 2,367
Accumulated depreciation 637 25E
Net book value $ 22¢ $ 2,11z

In fiscal 2013, we decreased the gross value otapital lease assets and increased goodwill byoappately $0.8 million for
correction of an immaterial error relating to thelpninary fair value measurements arising fromhkiation of leased equipment as of the
MicroProbe Acquisition date. See note 9 to NoteSaosolidated Financial Statementscodwill and Intangible Assetdor further details.

The depreciation expense of these leased asset$Qmasnillion in fiscal 2013 , $0.2 million for fisl 2012 and zero for fiscal 2011
respectively.
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Future minimum payments under capital leases amdcaacelable operating leases are as follows aBeaember 28, 2018n
thousands):

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
Fiscal years:
2014 $ 27C % 4,22:
2015-2016 — 6,24:
2017-2018 — 5,107
Thereafter — 7,432
Total 27C $ 23,00t
Less: amount representing interest and executtg co —
Present value of capital lease amounts 27C
Less: current portion (270
Non-current portion $ —

Other Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our commitments éttle other contractual obligations in cash as e€&nber 28, 2013 :

Payments Due In Fiscal Years

2014 2015-2016 2017-2018  After 2018 Total
(In thousands)

Purchase obligations $ 984¢ $ 83¢ $ — 3 — $ 10,68t

Purchase obligations are primarily for purchasdswe#ntory and manufacturing related service catsreFor the purposes of this table,
purchase obligations are defined as agreementarth@nforceable and legally binding and that $pedi significant terms, including: fixed or
minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimomvariable price provisions; and the approximateng of the transaction. The expected
timing of payment of the obligations discussed a&bisvestimated based on information available tasusf December 28, 2013 . Timing of
payments and actual amounts paid may be differem¢rding on the time of receipt of goods or sess@rechanges to agreegon amounts fc
some obligations.

The table above excludes our gross liability foreaoegnized tax benefits, which totaled $17.0 millas of December 28, 2013 and are
classified in deferred taxes and other long-terxritdilities on our consolidated balance sheee fiming of any payments which could result
from these unrecognized tax benefits will depenainug number of factors. Accordingly, the timingpafyment cannot be estimated and has
been excluded from the table above. As of Decer28egP013 , the changes to our uncertain tax positio the next 12 months, that are
reasonably possible, are not expected to havendisant impact on our financial position or resuttf operations.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local fareign governmental laws and regulations regatonthe protection of the
environment, including those governing the dischafjpollutants into the air and water, the manag@nand disposal of hazardous substance
and wastes, the clean-up of contaminated siteshamnchaintenance of a safe workplace. We believientbacomply in all material respects with
the environmental laws and regulations that applys, including those of the California Departmefitoxic Substances Control, the Bay A
Air Quality Management District, the City of Liveore Water Resources Division, County of Santa Aepartment of Environmental Hea
County of San Diego Hazardous Materials Divisiod &mcino Water District, and the California Divisiof Occupational Safety and Health.
We did not receive any notices of violations of ieowmental laws and regulations in fiscal 2013 28d2. No provision has been made for |
from environmental remediation liabilities assoethtvith our facilities because we believe thas imdt reasonable possible that a liability has
been incurred as of December 28, 2013 .

While we believe that we are in compliance in aditemial respects with the environmental laws agglagions that apply to us, in the
future, we may receive additional environmentalation notices, and if received, final resolutidrtie violations identified by these notices
could harm our operations, which may adversely hpar operating results and cash
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flows. New laws and regulations, amended enforcémettices around existing laws and regulatidmsdiscovery of previously unknown
contamination at our or others' sites or the impmsiof new cleanup requirements could also harmoperations, thereby adversely impacting
our operating results and cash flows.

Indemnification Arrangements

We have entered, and may from time to time in titénary course of our business enter, into conti@arrangements with third parties
that include indemnification obligations. Undergbecontractual arrangements, we have agreed todjefelemnify and/or hold the third party
harmless from and against certain liabilities. Ehegangements include indemnities in favor of@uwgtrs in the event that our wafer probe
cards infringe a third party's intellectual propeahd indemnities in favor of our lessors in corioecwith facility leasehold liabilities that we
may cause. In addition, we have entered into indiération agreements with our directors and certdiour officers, and our bylaws contain
indemnification obligations in favor of our direcso officers and agents. These indemnity arrang&maay limit the type of the claim, the tc
amount that we can be required to be paid in cdiorewith the indemnification obligation and theng within which an indemnification claim
can be made. The duration of the indemnificatioligakion may vary, and for most arrangements, sewithe agreement term and is indefir
We believe that substantially all of our indemratyangements provide either for limitations onreximum potential future payments we
could be obligated to make, or for limitations be types of claims and damages we could be obtigatexdemnify, or both. However, itis r
possible to determine or reasonably estimate thénman potential amount of future payments undes¢h@demnification obligations due to
the varying terms of such obligations, a lack atdny of prior indemnification claims, the unigufs and circumstances involved in each
particular contractual arrangement and in eachnpiadduture claim for indemnification, and the timgency of any potential liabilities upon
the occurrence of events that are not reasonalbdyrdamable. We have not had any material requestmdemnification under these
arrangements. Our management believes that ariltjidor these indemnity arrangements would notnba&terial to our accompanying
consolidated financial statements. We have notrdszbany liabilities for these indemnification argg@ments on our consolidated balance she
as of December 28, 2013 .

Legal Matters

From time to time, we may be subject to legal peoliregs and claims in the ordinary course of businésr the year ended
December 28, 2013 , we were not involved in anyeniatlegal proceedings. We identify below a pratieg filed in fiscal 2013, which, if not
resolved amicably, either (i) includes allegatitimst could potentially result in a material legedgeeding, or (ii) the cost to defend the
allegations through trial could be material. In thire we may become a party to additional legatpedings that may require us to spend
significant resources, including proceedings desigio protect our intellectual property rights.ididttion can be expensive and disruptive to
normal business operations. Moreover, the res@ilsgal proceedings are difficult to predict, ahe tosts incurred in litigation can be
substantial, regardless of outcome.

Other Litigation

In August 2013, a former employee (“Plaintiff")dd a class action lawsuit against the CompanyarSthperior Court of California,
alleging violations of California’s wage and hoawls and unfair business practices on behalf of élirasid all other similarly situated current
and former employees at the Company’s Livermorditias from August 21, 2009 to the present. In fealy 2014, the Court granted the
Company’s motion to strike Plaintiff's first amertleomplaint, clarifying the scope of the putatiVass. Procedurally, the case is in the early
stages of litigation and therefore the Companynishle to predict the likelihood or extent of potahiiability at this time. The Company denies
the allegations and could incur material attorndégss in defending the lawsuit.

Customs and Trade Matters

From time to time, we receive communications frartain jurisdictions regarding customs and inditegtmatters such as customs
duties and value added taxes. For fiscal 2013 lewi did not receive any communications from giggons regarding any material customs
duties or indirect tax matters, we self-reported foreign jurisdiction an underpayment of valueledttax based upon activities of MicroProbe
prior to the MicroProbe Acquisition. The self-refemt amount at issue is less than $0.1 million. séspnt, the Company does not have any
basis to determine whether any penalty will be isgaband, if imposed, at what rate. In fiscal 2Qld received inquiries from a foreign
jurisdiction tax authority regarding certain inditéax matters. We cooperated with these inquiridsch related to our prior shipping proct
for new product qualifications and for products ¢ertain of our repair center activities. Duringckl 2011, we accrued $1.0 million for
potential exposures related to these tax and csstoatters. During the third quarter of fiscal 2042, received what we believe are final
communications on these tax and customs matteicatit we owed $0.3 millioof unpaid indirect taxes and penalties. In thetfoquarter o
fiscal 2012, we adjusted our accrual to reflect fimal conclusion.

89




FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Intellectual Property Litigation

We amicably resolved the various patent litigatitmss Company was involved in in prior years. ADetcember 28, 2013, certain third
party initiated challenges to one or more of ouept remained pending in the U.S. Patent and TradeOffice and in the Taiwan Patent
Office.

No provision has been made for intellectual propestated litigation because we believe that ita$ probable that a liability had been
incurred as of December 28, 2013 . We could incatenial attorneys' fees in prosecuting and defandutions related to intellectual property.

Note 11—Stockholders' Equity
Preferred Stock

We have authorized 10,000,000 shares of undesijpagéerred stock, $0.001 par value, none of wiidhsued and outstanding. Our
Board of Directors shall determine the rights, erefces, privileges and restrictions of the preféstock, including dividends rights,
conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemiptiliquidation preferences, sinking fund terms #relnumber of shares constituting any
series or the designation of any series.

Common Stock

Each share of common stock has the right to one Vidte holders of common stock are also entitle@e¢eive dividends whenever fur
are legally available and when declared by the @o&Directors, subject to the prior rights of hedsl of all classes of stock outstanding having
priority rights as to dividends. No dividends hdoee=n declared or paid as of December 28, 2013 .

Common Stock Repurchase Program

On October 20, 2010, our board of directors auttearithe repurchase up to $50.0 millafroutstanding common stock which expirec
October 19, 2011. On October 12, 2011, our Boafdigctors authorized the extension of our repuseh@ogram through October 19, 2012.
Under the extension, we were authorized to repseci to a total of $40.5 million of outstandingrenon stock during the program period.
The terms and conditions of the extended repurchamgam remained the same as those in the orignogkam approved in fiscal 2010. All
our repurchases were made under the authorizedchegse program. During fiscal 2011, we repurchasedretired 2,332,740 shares of
common stock for $16.4 million . We did not repuash any shares of common stock under the programgdiscal 2012.

Repurchased shares are retired upon the settlehthd related trade transactions. Our policy ezldb repurchases of our common
stock is to charge the excess of cost over paevaladditional paid-in capital. All repurchasegevmade in compliance with Rule 10b-18
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as agtkrithe repurchase program ended effective Octthe2012 and was not extended.

Equity Incentive Plans

During the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2012 a four equity incentive plans for which we haveerged shares for issuance upon
the exercise of stock options: the 1996 Stock @pftan, the Incentive Option Plan and the Managé¢mneentive Option Plan (together, the
“Prior Plans”), and the 2002 Equity Incentive P{tre “2002 Plan”), which became effective in A@202.

At our Annual Meeting of Stockholders on April )12 (the "2012 Annual Meeting"), our stockholdgpproved an amended and
restated Equity Incentive Plan (the "2012 Plaré$gerving 7.4 million shares for future grants, k&sg shares granted between February 28,
2012 and April 18, 2012. In addition, shares undeg any outstanding stock award or stock optiangpreviously awarded under the Prior
Plans and the 2002 Plan canceled or forfeited poigesting or exercise become available for uskeuthe 2012 Plan. The 2002 Plan was
terminated on April 18, 2012, except for outstagdimvards. Upon the effectiveness of the 2012 Rlargeased granting any equity awards
under the 2002 Plan. Subsequent awards have bdemilabe granted under the 2012 Plan.

The 2012 Plan provides for the grant of incentieels options and nonqualified stock options, stapkreciation rights, restricted stock
and restricted stock units. The incentive stockootmay be granted to our employees and the ndifigdatock options, and all awards other
than incentive stock options may be granted to eygas, directors and consultants. The exercise pfilncentive stock options must be at
least equal to the fair market value of commonlstotthe date of grant.
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All options granted under the 2012 Plan will geligngest over four years and have a term of terrgiaanless otherwise determined by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directotscappreciation rights, restricted stock andrietsid stock units granted under the 2012

Plan will generally vest over four years in annwahches. Additionally, restricted shares redueestiares available for issuance at 1.55 share
for every one share issued.

At December 28, 2013, there were 4.9 million skaneilable for grant under the 2012 Plan.
Stock Options

Stock option activity under our equity plans isfeeth below:

Outstanding Options

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Life in Years Value

Outstanding at December 25, 2010 5,318,338 $ 14.5%

Options granted 459,75( 9.72

Options exercised (141,28() 6.47

Options canceled (1,017,83) 19.9¢

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 4,619,02 13.11

Options granted 70,00( 5.34

Options exercised — —

Options canceled (480,17%) 11.9¢

Outstanding at December 29, 2012 4,208,84 13.11

Options granted — —

Options exercised (20,000 5.2¢

Options canceled (734,42) 17.0¢

Outstanding at December 28, 2013 3,454,420 $ 12.32 2.89 $ 17,00(
Vested and expected to vest at December

28,2013 3,445,69. $ 12.3: 289 % 16,03:
Exercisable at December 28, 2013 3177,13 § 12.6( 279 g 8,50(

The intrinsic value of option exercises during &s2013 and 2011 was $10.0 thousand and $0.2 milliespectively. Cash received
from stock option exercises in fiscal 2013 and 2@&% $0.1 million and $0.9 million respectively. \fid not realize any gross tax benefits in
connection with these exercises.
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Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units are converted into sharemipEommon stock upon vesting on a one-for-onésbake vesting of restricted stock
units is subject to the employee's continuing sero us. Restricted stock unit activity under equity plans is set forth below:

Weighted

Number of Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Restricted stock units at December 25, 2010 1,37291. $ 16.2¢
Granted 687,64! 9.94
Vested (510,33() 16.7C
Canceled (242,929 15.82
Restricted stock units at December 31, 2011 1,307,30. 12.8¢
Granted 1,630,211 5.5C
Vested (484,54 13.9¢
Canceled (224,02) 8.7¢
Restricted stock units at December 29, 2012 2,228,94i 7.6€
Granted 1,708,00! 5.04
Vested (760,59() 8.44
Canceled (246,71) 8.1¢
Restricted stock units at December 28, 2013 2,929,63' g 5.8¢

On May 6, 2013, we issued 355,000 shares of restrigstock units to seven senior executives anchoneexecutive of our company that
will vest based on certain market performance gaitd he performance criteria are based on the Guorylp Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
the period from April 1, 2013 to March 31, 2015atale to the TSR of the companies identified asdpiart of the S&P Semiconductor Select
Industry Index (FormFactor peer companies), asmflA, 2013. The compensation cost will be recagdiratably over the requisite service
period. As of December 28, 2013, we recorded $0llfon of stock-based compensation expense relaté¢dese awards.

On May 4, 2012, we granted 405,000 restricted stmits to certain of our senior executives schatitdevest upon achievement of
specified performance criteria based on the Conlp&013 operating cash flow levels. The restristedk units would be earned only if
performance targets established by the Compensa@tommittee are met. Compensation cost associatidhdse awards is recognized on an
accelerated attribution model and ultimately baseevhether or not satisfaction of the performaniteria is probable. On February 27, 2014,
upon the review of the Company's 2013 operating flasv levels, the Compensation Committee certifiebtal earn out of 237,8Bhares, ne
of cancellations, 50% of which will be immediatelysted and the remaining 50% of which will vest gaar from this date.

On November 6, 2012, we granted 120,000 restristigek units to certain of our senior executiveMafroProbe scheduled to vest upon
achievement of specified performance criteria basethe Company's 2013 and 2014 revenue and grofislpvels. The restricted stock units
will be earned only if the performance targetslgghed by the Compensation Committee are met. @osgtion cost associated with these
awards is recognized on an accelerated attributiodel and ultimately based on whether or not sati&in of the performance criteria is
probable. On January 28, 2014, upon the revieweflompany's 2013 revenue and gross profit letldsCompensation Committee conclu
that there would be no earn out achieved with ezfes to the 2013 targets as specified above.

During fiscal 2013 and 2012 , we recorded $0.9iomlnd $0.4 million , respectively, of stock-basedhpensation expense related to
these 2012 equity awards based on the assesseabjitglof attainment of the performance criteria.

The total fair value of restricted stock units eestluring fiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $3.9anill $2.9 million and $4.6 million ,
respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the ESPP, the offering periods are 12 marthsmencing on February 1 of each calendar yeaeadihg on January 31 of the
subsequent calendar year, and a six month fixedio§f period commencing on August 1 of each calepdar and ending on January 31 of the
subsequent calendar year. The ESPP 12 month affpeniod consists of two six month purchase peraubthe six month offering period
consists of one six month purchase period. Theefche common stock
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purchased is 85% of the lesser of the fair mark&tesof the common stock on the first businessaldlge applicable offering period or the last
business day of each purchase period.

During fiscal 2013, 2012 , and 2011 , employeeshmased 583,173 shares, 533,077 shares and 386)8f6s under this program at a
weighted average exercise price of $4.29 , $4.425327 , respectively.

Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation

We account for all stock-based compensation to eyegls and directors, including grants of stockarsj as stock-based compensation
costs in the Consolidated Financial Statementschas¢he fair value measured as of the date oftgfdmese costs are recognized as an exf
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations dweraquisite service period and increase additipail-in capital.

The table below shows the stock-based compensatipense included in the Consolidated Statemenpefaions (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Stock-based compensation expense included in:
Cost of revenues (1) $ 2,43€ $ 2,58t $ 3,47:
Research and development 3,44( 4,26: 4,29:
Selling, general and administrative 6,24¢ 6,19¢ 6,08:¢
Total stock-based compensation 12,12« 13,04¢ 13,84¢
Tax effect on stock-based compensation — — —
Total stock-based compensation, net of tax $ 1212« $  13,04¢ $§  13,84¢
(1) Fiscal 2011 includes $0.3 million , respediiyef net stock-based compensation expense ragudtom the modification and

acceleration of certain stock options and resulisteck units to a former executive in conjunctigth a separation agreem
and mutual release.

Stock Options

The exercise price of each stock option equalsrithkket price of our stock on the date of grant. Mxuions are scheduled to vest over
three to four years and expire five to ten yeasmfthe grant date. The fair value of each opti@ngis estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. In addition, estimate forfeitures when recognizing compensatipense, and adjust our estimates of
forfeitures over the requisite service period basethe extent to which actual forfeitures differ,are expected to differ, from such estimates.
Changes in estimated forfeitures are recognizeddmnge in estimate in the period of change aliclso impact the amount of compensat
expense to be recognized in future periods.

The following weighted-average assumptions werel us¢he estimated grant-date fair value calcufetifor stock options granted in
fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011 ;

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Stock Options:
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility —% 48.44% 50.3(%
Risk-free interest rate —% 0.67% 1.67%
Expected life (in years) 0.0C 4.7t 4.2¢

No options were granted in fiscal 2013 and henegetre no assumptions in the table above forl f&XE3.

Our computation of expected volatility was based@ombination of historical and market-based iegblolatility from traded options
on our common stock. We believe that including reatkased implied volatility in the calculation of
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expected volatility results in a more accurate measf the volatility expected in future periodssiRfree interest rates are yields for zero-
coupon U.S. Treasury notes maturing approximatetigeaend of the expected option life. We deterntiveeexpected term by considering
several factors, including historical option exeecbehavior, post vesting turnover rates, contehttums and vesting periods of the options
granted.

During fiscal 2013 , we did not grant any stockiaps. During fiscal 2012 , we granted 70,000 stopions under our approved plans
with a weighted average grant-date fair value ol%$2er share. During fiscal 2011, we granted £89sfock options under our approved pl
with a weighted average grant-date fair value 0064er share.

As of December 28, 2013 , the unamortized stocleth@empensation balance related to stock optiossd@&’ million after estimated
forfeitures, which will be recognized over an estied period of 1.0 years based on the weightedageeattays to vest.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During fiscal 2013 , we issued 583,173 shares uadeapproved employee stock purchase plans. Asoémber 28, 2013 , we had
$0.1 million of total unrecognized stock-based cengation expense, which will be recognized ovemtbighted average period of
approximately one month. Compensation expensddslesed using the fair value of the employeesthase rights under the Black-Scholes
model. The following assumptions were used in esiimg the fair value of employees' purchase rightder the approved employee stock
purchase plans:

Fiscal Years Ended

December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Employee Stock Purchase Plan:

Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 39.8% 46.4%% 53.41%
Risk-free interest rate 0.13% 0.11% 0.22%
Expected life (in years) 0.7 0.8 0.8

Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of restricted stock units is deteved using the market closing price of our commoglsbn the grant date, and
compensation cost is recognized over the vestinggen a straight line basis. The restricted stacks generally vest over four years.

During fiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , we grante®8,000 shares, 1,630,210 shares and 68&6dfes of restricted stock units under
2002 and 2012 Plans with the weighted average -glatetfair values of $5.04 , $5.50 and $9.94 pareshrespectively. As of December 28,
2013, the unamortized stock-based compensati@ambalrelated to restricted stock units was $7.2amikfter estimated forfeitures, which v
be recognized over an estimated period of 1.4 syleased on the weighted average days to vest.

Note 13—Income Taxes

The components of loss before income taxes wefalasg/s (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
United States $ (60,44) $ (64,25) $ (71,17
Foreign 2,66t 2,28¢ 3,29(

$ (57,78) $ (61,960 $ (67,889
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The components of the provision for income taxesaarfollows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Current provision (benefit):
Federal $ (770) $ (1,929 $ (157)
State 76 60 1
Foreign 287 (81) (54¢€)
(407) (1,950 (702)
Deferred provision (benefit):
Federal — (25,520) (37)
State — — —
Foreign 30¢ 1,05( (1,162)
30¢ (24,470 (1,199
Total benefit from income taxes $ (99) $ (26420 $ (1,90

The following is a reconciliation of the differenbetween income taxes computed by applying ther&édeatutory rate of 35% and the
benefit from income taxes for fiscal 2013 , 2018 2011 (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 28, December 29, December 31,
2013 2012 2011
U.S. statutory federal tax rate $ (20,229 $ (21,68) $ (23,759
State taxes and credits, net of Federal benefit (34%) (1,999 (1,890
Amortization of stock-based compensation, net
tax benefit 92: 37¢€ 287
Research and development credits (560 (674) (2,499
Foreign taxes at rates different than the U.S. 162 59¢ (294)
Other permanent differences (37¢) (1,169 12¢
Change in valuation allowance 20,50¢ (1,819 25,62:
Other (182) (60) 50€
Total $ 99 $ (26,420 $ (1,900
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaethe future tax consequences of differences detwthe carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their respective tax basesagisimacted tax rates in effect for the year in whitehdifferences are expected to be reversed.
Significant deferred tax assets and liabilitiessisinof the following (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29,

2013 2012

Tax credits $ 26,18 $ 25,22
Inventory reserve 15,28( 18,87:
Other reserves and accruals 6,62( 6,40
Non-statutory stock options 18,76" 20,41¢
Depreciation and amortization 5,291 7,57(
Net operating loss carryforwards 132,85 117,04¢
Gross deferred tax assets 205,00( 195,53:
Valuation allowance (180,91)) (163,269
Total deferred tax assets 24,081 32,26¢
Acquired intangibles & fixed assets (20,379 (27,879
Unrealized investment gains (7) (42
Total deferred tax liabilities (20,380) (27,92)
Net deferred tax assets $ 3701 $ 4,34¢

We are required to evaluate the realizability of deferred tax assets in both our U.S. and non4urBdictions on an ongoing basis in
accordance with ASC 74(hcome Taxesto determine whether there is a need for a viamailowance with respect to such deferred tax
assets. During fiscal 2013 and 2012 , we maintamealuation allowance against our U.S. deferredtsets. We intend to maintain a
valuation allowance until sufficient positive evithe exists to support the realization of such defetax assets.

Included in the $26.4 million income tax benefit foe year ended December 29, 2012 is a $25.50mifix benefit from the release of
valuation allowance of our deferred tax assets &B'). In connection with our acquisition of Micrastre during the year ended December 29
2012, deferred tax liabilities ("DTLs") were estiahked on the acquired identifiable intangible assEhese DTLs exceeded the acquired DTAS
by $25.5 million . As such, authoritative guidamequires the impact on the acquiring company'srdedeiax assets and liabilities caused by a
acquisition be recorded in the acquiring compafiyancial statements outside of acquisition accimgntAccordingly, the valuation allowance
on a portion of our DTAs was released and resiifteah income tax benefit of $25.5 million .

During fiscal 2011, we determined that it is makelly than not that the deferred tax assets ofraldes. jurisdiction will be realized
after considering all positive and negative evigerrositive evidence included finalization of ourrent restructuring activity for the related
foreign jurisdiction. It also included conclusidrat such location would continue to be in operatmrthe foreseeable future and future taxable
income sufficient to realize such deferred tax @sggor to the expiration of existing net opergtlass carryforwards due to a change in the
entity's structure to a cost-plus arrangement.d@uaclusion that it is more likely than not that suteferred tax assets will be realized is
strongly influenced by the expectation that suaatimn will continue to be in operation for thedeeeable future. We believe such conclusion
is reasonable in light of our current operatiotalcture and forecasted operations, both for theida jurisdiction and our consolidated
operations; however, such conclusion is inheramtigertain. Therefore, if we have material unforedesses or are required to restructure our
non-U.S. operations to further align our operagrgense structure with our expected revenues,ithaility to generate sufficient income
necessary to realize a portion of the deferrecatmets may be reduced and an additional charger&aise the valuation allowance may be
recorded.
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The valuation allowance against deferred tax assgtsisted of the following activity for the fisogars 2013 , 2012 and 2011 (in
thousands):

Balance at Balance at
Beginning End of
Description of Year Additions Reduction Year
Allowance against deferred tax assets
Year ended December 31, 2013 $ 163,26! $ 17,64¢ $ — $ 180,91:
Year ended December 31, 2012 168,87" 19,91( (25,520) 163,26!
Year ended December 29, 2011 $ 127,73 $ 4452( $ (3,370 $ 168,87

At December 28, 2013 , we had Federal researcllevelopment tax credit, net operating loss, anéidortax credit carryforwards of
$18.7 million , $328.4 million and $1.7 millionespectively, which will expire at various datesnfird016 through 2033 . We had alternative
minimum tax credits of $2.4 million which do notpmre. We had California research credit and netatpey loss carryforwards of $23.5
million and $270.5 million , respectively. The Gatnia research credit can be carried forward imitely while California net operating loss
carryforwards will expire at various dates from @@Brough 2033 . We had Singapore net operatirggdasyforwards of $11.5 million which
can be carried forward indefinitely.

U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding taxe®eissed with the repatriation of earnings of foregubsidiaries were not provided for
$7.6 million of undistributed earnings of its fagaisubsidiaries. We intend to reinvest these egsnimdefinitely in our foreign subsidiaries. If
these earnings were distributed to the U.S. ifdha of dividends or otherwise, or if the sharestaf relevant foreign subsidiaries were sold o
otherwise transferred, we would be subject to &mlthl U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustmentoreign tax credits) and foreign
withholding taxes, of approximately $42 thousalktermination of the amount of unrecognized detemeome tax liability related to these
earnings is not practicable.

During fiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , there wer¢axdoenefits associated with the exercise of engaatock options and other
employee stock programs.

The following table reflects changes in the unreingd tax benefits (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Unrecognized tax benefit beginning balance $ 17,18. $ 17,75. $ 17,50(
Additions based on tax positions related to theemnir
year 307 2,23 751
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (60) 9 (270
Reductions to unrecognized tax benefits due tcelaps
the applicable statute of limitations (45€) (2,817 (14¥)
Settlements — — (81)
Unrecognized tax benefit ending balance $ 1697 $ 17,18 $ 17,75

At December 28, 2013, we had gross tax-effectedamgnized tax benefits of $17.0 million of which% million, if recognized, wouli
impact the effective tax rate.

We recognize interest (benefit) charges and pesailélated to uncertain tax positions as part@frtbome tax provision. We recognized
interest (benefit) charges and penalties of $(@ifljon , $0.3 million and $12 thousand in fisc&l1B , 2012 , and 2011 , respectively. As of
December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012 , we lwavee total interest charges and penalties of ®llibn and $0.4 million, respectively
related to uncertain tax positions.

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject t@imggaudits by Federal, state and foreign tax attts which might result in
proposed assessments. Our estimate for the pdtentéame for any uncertain tax issue is judgmeintalature. However, we believe we have
adequately provided for any reasonably foreseealtisome related to those matters. Our future resudty include favorable or unfavorable
adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities in pleeiod the assessments are made or resolved or stditeites of limitation on potential
assessments expire. As of December 28, 2013 chémgess uncertain tax positions in the next 12 therhat are reasonably possible are not
expected to have a significant impact on our fimgnmosition or results of operations.
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We and our subsidiaries file income tax returnthaU.S. Federal jurisdiction, various states amml d.S jurisdictions. The material
jurisdictions in which we are subject to potenéghmination by tax authorities for the tax yeatera2004 include, among others, the U
(Federal and California), Singapore and Japan.ddrapany is currently under tax examination in W&efral jurisdiction for the tax year
ended December 31, 2010 and October 16, 2012péssible that this tax examination may be conaudéhe next 12 months.

Note 14—Employee Benefit Plans

We have an employee savings plan that qualifiesdeferred salary arrangement under Section 4@f tke Internal Revenue Code. !
match up to 50% of an eligible employee's contiidng to a maximum of the first 1.5% of the eligiklmployee's contributions through a fiscal
year. We also provide a t-qualified profit sharing retirement plan for thentefit of eligible employees in the U.S. The plsudésigned to
provide employees with an accumulation of fundsrétirement on a tax-deferred basis and providafmoual discretionary employer
contributions. The total charge to operations unider401(k) and the profit sharing retirement plandiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2011 aggregatec
$1.0 million , $0.8 million and $0.6 million , resgtively.

Note 15—Operating Segments and Geographic Informain

We operate in one reportable segment consistilg@bperating segments relating to our FormFaatdricroProbe product groups.
Both our operating segments are focused on thguledévelopment, manufacture, sale and supponteaigion, high performance advanced
semiconductor wafer probe cards. The two operagnents have been aggregated into one repor&higesit as they share similar econo
characteristics in terms of the nature of theidpicis and services, production processes, cust@ndrmethods of distributing their products
and services. Our chief operating decision mak#rasChief Executive Officer, who reviews operatiagults to make decisions about
allocating resources and assessing performandbda@ntire company. Since we operate in one refplersegment and in one group of similar
products and services, all financial segment andywt line information required can be found in teasolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes revenue by counsrp percentage of total revenues based upon shogéton:

Fiscal Years Ended

December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Taiwan 27.%% 20.7% 31.8%
North America 27.2 15.4 15.2
South Korea 19.¢ 32.¢ 23.1
Asia-Pacific (1) 9.2 12.7 8.2
Europe 8.€ 6.5 4.2
Japan 7.3 11.€ 17.4

Total Revenues 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

(1) Asia-Pacific includes all countries in the i@yiexcept Taiwan, Japan and South Korea, whickiacéosed separately.
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The following table summarizes revenue by produetig (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 28, December 29, December 31,

2013 2012 2011
SoC $ 11559 $ 4658 $  29,05(
DRAM 92,60: 102,49 115,67
Flash 23,33 29,45( 24,59
Total revenues $ 23153 $ 17853 $ 169,32

Long-lived assets, comprising net property, plartt aquipment, are reported based on the locatitimeodisset. Long-lived assets by
geographic location are as follows (in thousands):

December 28, December 29,

2013 2012

North America $ 31,50 $ 41,59:
South Korea 1,67¢ 1,691
Asia-Pacific (1) 1,20¢ 1,24¢
Japan 517 691
Singapore 262 25¢
Europe 24 37

Total $ 35,19 $ 45,51t

(1) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region excgputh Korea, Singapore, and Japan, which areodisdIseparate

The following customers represented greater th& @Dour revenues in fiscal 2013 , fiscal 2012 &schl 2011 :

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011

Intel 17.7% * 00 * 00

SK hynix 16.t 29.4 16.c

Micron (1) 11.7 13.2 19.7

Samsung * 12.4 11.2
Total 45.€% 55.1% 47.2%

* | ess than 10% of revenues

(1) Includes Elpida Memory Inc. and its consolideseibsidiary Rexchip Electronics Corporation. Ity 2013, Micron Technology
Inc. completed its acquisition of Elpida Memory I@pmparative disclosures for fiscal 2012 and 20#&fe adjusted to confor

to the revised fiscal 2013 presentation.

The percentages above reflect customer consteltatie of December 28, 2013 . Prior period consimtia have been updated to reflect
the current customer compositions.

Note 16—Departure of Executive Officers

In October 2011, we entered into a Separation Agese and General Release with a former Senior Riesident. As a result, we
recorded charges of $0.8 million within “Cost ofeaues” in the Consolidated Statements of Operafionfiscal 2011, such charge being
composed of $0.5 million of payroll and related exges and $0.3 million of stock-based compensatipense related to the modification of
certain stock-based compensation awards.

Note 17—Related Party Transactions

We engaged the law firm of Orrick, Herrington & 8liffe LLP ("Orrick") in fiscal 2007, and continuinthrough part of our fiscal 2013 ,



to provide us with certain legal services, inclgdinatters related to compensation and benefitarfer at
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Orrick, who is not involved in the above mattessthie brother-in-law of Stuart L. Merkadeau, ouniSeVice President, General Counsel and
Secretary. Mr. Merkadeau does not have a finaociather interest in Orrick's engagement and Mrrkddeau's brother-in-law does not
provide any legal services to us. Prior to enga@ingck, our management discussed the potenticdg@ament with our Governance Committee
of the Board of Directors under the Statement dicloegarding Related Person Transactions. TheeB@mnce Committee reviewed and
approved the Orrick engagement, and continued tuitorathe engagement, which in fiscal 2013 alsduided certain compensation and
benefits matters, as well as certain labor and eynpént matters, as necessary. We paid Orrick $0ldmin fiscal 2012 for legal services
rendered. During fiscal 2013, Orrick ceased to ja@legal services for the Company.

Note 18—Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudit)

The following selected quarterly financial datalidbe read in conjunction with our consolidatedhficial statements and the related
notes and "ltem 7: Management's Discussion andy&isabf Financial Condition and Results of Openradid This information has been deri\
from our unaudited consolidated financial statemémat, in our opinion, reflect all recurring adjuents necessary to fairly present this
information when read in conjunction with our colidated financial statements and the related nappgaring in the section entitled

"Consolidated Financial Statements." The resulspefrations for any quarter are not necessarilicatide of the results to be expected for any
future period.

Fiscal Quarters Ended

Dec. 28, Sep. 28, June. 29,  March 30, Dec. 29, Sep. 29, June. 30, March 31,
2013 2013 2013 (1) 2013 2012 (2) 2012 2012 (3) 2012
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues $ 48,54¢ $ 67,63 $ 62,73t $ 52,62( $ 47,65¢ $ 41,26. $ 54,81 $ 34,80¢
Cost of revenues 44,28¢ 55,08¢ 46,32¢ 43,54t 50,79¢ 33,11( 38,64t 30,65(
Gross profit (loss) 4,25¢ 12,54¢ 16,40t 9,07¢ (3,149 8,152 16,167 4,15¢
Operating Expenses:

Research and

development 9,994 10,30: 10,91¢ 10,92¢ 9,77t 8,57¢ 10,93t 10,847

Selling, general and

administrative 12,16( 12,95: 13,48 14,61¢ 14,95¢ 11,59« 11,53: 11,14¢

Loss on sale of

subsidiary — — 30C — — — — —

Restructuring charges,

net 44z 14z 92 3,98( 33¢ 2,481 13€ (33

Impairment of long-

lived assets 567 15 121 58 49 142 61 16€

Gain on settlement of

litigation — — — — (3,250 — — —
Total operating expenses 23,16¢ 23,41 24,91¢ 29,58¢ 21,86¢ 22,79: 22,66 22,13(
Operating loss (18,90¢) (10,86%) (8,510 (20,510 (25,009 (14,639 (6,496 (17,979
Interest income, net 88 95 9€ 107 134 162 182 21z
Other income (expense), net 82 97) 20¢ 42: 334 171 54¢€ 41C
Loss before income taxes (18,73¢) (10,867) (8,20%) (19,98() (24,547) (14,30%) (5,76%) (17,357)
Provision for (benefit from)
income taxes 53 (147) 20z (207) (25,149 17z (1,559 10z
Net (loss) income $ (18,789 $ (10,719 $ (8,407 $ (19.77) $ 60 $ (14,479) $ (4,217 $ (17,45)
Net (loss) income per share:
Basic $ 039 $ 0200 $ (0.1¢) $ 0.37) $ 0.01 $ 0.29 $ 0.0 $ (0.35)
Diluted $ 039 $ 0200 $ (0.1¢) $ 037 $ 0.01 $ 0.29) $ 0.0 $ (0.35)
Weighted average number
shares used in per share
calculations:
Basic 54,60¢ 54,43" 54,10t 53,66¢ 52,74t 50,15¢ 49,81" 49,48°
Diluted 54,60¢ 54,437 54,10¢ 53,66¢ 52,92: 50,15¢ 49,81" 49,48°

(1) Inthe second quarter of fiscal 2013, we rdedra $0.3 million loss on the sale of our subsliBMMC. See Note 8 to the Notes to Consolidatedfcial Statements
for further details relating to the terms of théesa

(2) Inthe fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, we refdt an income tax benefit in the amount of $2518anifrom the release of deferred tax asset viduadllowances due to



deferred tax liabilities established on the acqlidentifiable intangible assets from our acquisitof MicroProbe and $3.3 million benefit from thettlement of patent
litigation in conjunction with the acquisition ofisfoProbe on October 16, 2012. The fourth quartéiscal 2012 includes the following Microprobe @ptng activity:
$19.8 million in revenue, $5.4 million amortizatiohintangibles, $2.6 million release of pre-exigtbacklog, $3.5 million release of inventory feaiue step-up and
$0.2 million charge for step-up depreciation orefixassets resulting in a net loss of $6.4 million .
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(3) Inthe second quarter of fiscal 2012, we rdedra tax benefit in the amount of $1.6 milliomfrthe release of a deferred tax valuation allowaacerded in a non-U.S.
jurisdiction. This benefit resulted in an overaltome tax benefit, rather than an income tax piavim the second quarter of fiscal 20

Note 19—Subsequent Events

On January 27, 2014, we announced a global org#mzd restructuring and cost reduction plan. Ag pathe plan, the Company
eliminated 51 full-time employees. In addition, veeluced our temporary workforce by 9 positions. épect to realize about $1 million in
savings in the first quarter of fiscal 2014 (natluding restructuring charges), and about $2 mmliiosavings per quarter beginning in the
second quarter of fiscal 2014. We expect to inppreximately $1.2 million in charges related to éoype termination, the majority of which
will be recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 20lvhen the activities comprising the plan are eiguetto be substantially completed.
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Set forth below is a list of exhibits that are lggfited or incorporated by reference into this AahReport on Form10-K:
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Form

File No

Date of
First Filing

Exhibit
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Filed
Herewith

2.01%**

3.01

3.0z

4.01
10.014
10.02+4
10.034
10.044
10.054
10.064

10.074
10.084
10.094

10.104

10.11

10.1%

10.1:

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.164

10.174

10.184

10.1094
16.01
21.01
23.01
23.02

24.01

31.01

31.0z

32.01*
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Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Augus2@12 among 10-Q/A

Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., FormFactoc, JiELM
Acquisition, Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC, as Egtiblder
Representative

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe
Registrant as filed with the Delaware Secretar$tate on
June 17, 2003

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant
Specimen Common Stock Certificate

Form of Indemnity Agreement

Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement

1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option grant
Incentive Option Plan, and form of option grant
Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of optcant
2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and fofrptao

agreements

2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended

Key Employee Bonus Plan, as amended

Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatedteféeApril 18,
2012, and forms of plan agreements

Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended anceresiatil 18,
2012

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itken
Holding Company LLC (successor to Greenville IneestL.P.)
("Greenville") and the Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasertd
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasarid
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasertd
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated September 7, 2004, as amendeisby F
Amendment to Building 6 Lease dated August 16, 2006

Employment Letter Agreement, dated September 2), 2dtween
Thomas St. Dennis and FormFactor, Inc.

Employment Offer Letter, dated August 29, 2012 tkd/Slessor
Letter of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated Aprd@.,3

List of Registrant's subsidiaries

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking - PwC
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing -
KPMG

Power of Attorney (included on the signature paigthie
Form 10-K)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 U.S.C.
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30&dbarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C.
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30&dbarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as tetbpursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Document

S

8K
S-1/A
S-1/A
10K
sS4
S1
S1
10Q

10Q
10Q
10K

10K

S-1/A

S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A

10Q

8-K

10K
8K

00050307

333-10981¢

00050307
3338673¢
3338673¢
00050307
3338673¢
3338673¢
3338673¢
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00050307
00050307
00050307

00050301

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

00050307

00050307

00050307
00050307

1/23/201:

10/20/200:

5/25/200!
5/28/200:
5/28/200:
3/14/200!
4/22/200:
4/22/200:
4/22/200:

5/4/201:

8/7/200°
5/7/200°
3/13/201:

3/13/201:

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

11/7/2001

9/17/201

3/13/201:
4/8/201:

33.01

3.01

3.0Z

4.01
10.01
10.4¢
10.0¢
10.0¢
10.0¢
10.0¢

10.01
10.01
10.0¢

10.1(¢

10.1¢

10.18.:

10.1¢

10.19.:

10.2

10.20.:

10.01

99.014
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16.01



102




101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document — — — —
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuaine — — — —
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen — — — —
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document — — — —

X X X X X

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim — — — —

This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed" for purps®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adi93#4 or otherwise subject to the liabilities oftteaction, nor shall
be deemed incorporated by reference in any filimdeu the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securitieshange Act of 1934, whether made before or dfieidate hereof
and irrespective of any general incorporation lagguin any filings.

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thegeractive data files are deemed not filed or p&# registration statement or prospectus for psgp of Sections 11 or
12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18h&f Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwisaat subject to liability.

Confidential treatment has been requestedpimrtions of this document. The schedules, exhibitsl, annexes to this exhibit have been omittedliarce Item 601(b)(2)
of Regulation S-K and will be furnished suppleménti® the SEC upon request.

Indicates a management contract or compensatonyoplarrangemer
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LIST OF REGISTRANT'S SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARY NAME

FormFactor Electronics Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

FormFactor Germany GmbH
FormFactor International, Inc.
FormFactor, KK

FormFactor Korea, Inc.

FormFactor Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc
Micro-Probe Incorporated
Microprobe HongKong Limited
Microprobe Pte. Limited (Singapore)
Microprobe Technology (Suzhou) Limited
Seneca Merger Subs, Inc.

Olenyok Corporation

JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION

People's Republic of China
Germany

Delaware, United States
Japan

South Korea

Singapore

Delaware, United States
California, United States
Hong Kong

Singapore

People's Republic of China
Delaware, United States
Delaware, United States

EXHIBIT 21.01



EXHIBIT 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-838043, 333-115137, 333-125918,
333-139074, 333-148198, 333-149411, 333-157610,185858, 333-172318, 333-179589 and 333-18145BpahFactor, Inc. of our report
dated March 13, 2013 relating to the financialestegnts, which appears in this Form-KO

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 7, 2014



EXHIBIT 23.02

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
FormFactor, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdgstration statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-1686(383-115137, 333-125918, 333
139074, 333-148198, 333-149411, 333-157610, 33®3%$5333-172318, 333-179589, 333-181450, and 1EBB63) of FormFactor, Inc.
our report dated March 7, 2014 , with respect todbnsolidated balance sheet of FormFactor, Inof &ecember 28, 2013and the relate
consolidated statements of operations, comprehems$s, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows ferykear ended December 28, 2QEhd th
effectiveness of internal control over financighaoeting as of December 28, 2013 , which report appé the annual report on Form K0sf
FormFactor, Inc. for the year ended December 28320

/s! KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
March 7, 2014



EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas St. Dennis, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed the Annual Report on FormKl6f FormFactor, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaifirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatitclosure controls and procedures and preséentai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 7, 2014 /sl THOMAS ST. DENNIS

Thomas St. Dennis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Director)




EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Michael M. Ludwig , certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed the Annual Report on FormKl6f FormFactor, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaifirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatitclosure controls and procedures and preséentai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 7, 2014 /sl MICHAEL M. LUDWIG

Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumty Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Annual Répa Form 10K of FormFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporation, tfog period ende
December 28, 2013, as filed with the Securities Bxchange Commission, each of the undersignedenffiof FormFactor, Inc. certifies
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipnt$o Section 906 of the Sarbar®@sley Act of 2002, that, to his respective knowledg

(1) the annual report fully complies with the regments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secwgizchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the annual refaily presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of
operations of FormFactor, Inc. for the periods enésd therein.

Date: March 7, 2014 /sl THOMAS ST. DENNIS

Thomas St. Dennis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Director)

Date: March 7, 2014 /sl MICHAEL M. LUDWIG

Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumig Officer)




